**Dissertationes Forestales 130** 

# Factors affecting perceptions of corporate social responsibility implementation: an emphasis on values

Lei Wang

Department of Forest Sciences Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry University of Helsinki

## Academic Dissertation

To be presented, with the permission of the Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry of the University of Helsinki, for public examination in lecture room 6 (A105), B-building at Viikki, (Latokartanonkaari 7, Helsinki), on 21 October 2011 at 12 noon.

*Title of dissertation*: Factors affecting perceptions of corporate social responsibility implementation: an emphasis on values

Author: Lei Wang

Dissertationes Forestales 130

Thesis Supervisors: Professor Heikki Juslin Department of Forest Sciences, University of Helsinki, Finland Professor Pia Polsa Department of Marketing, Hanken School of Economics, Finland

Pre-examiners: Professor Johanna Kujala School of Management, University of Tampere, Finland Doctor Mirja Mikkilä Stora Enso Guangxi, China

*Opponent:* Professor Robert Kozak Department of Wood Sciences, University of British Columbia

Cover photo: Lei Wang

ISSN 1795-7389 ISBN 978-951-651-349-5(PDF)

(2011)

Publishers: Finnish Society of Forest Science Finnish Forest Research Institute Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry of the University of Helsinki School of Forest Sciences of the University of Eastern Finland

*Editorial Office:* Finnish Society of Forest Science P.O. Box 18, FI-01301 Vantaa, Finland http://www.metla.fi/dissertationes Wang, L. 2011. Factors Affecting Perceptions of Corporate Social Responsibility Implementation: An Emphasis on Values. Dissertationes Forestales 130. 107p. Available at http://www.metla.fi/dissertationes/df130.htm

## ABSTRACT

This dissertation is a broad study of factors affecting perceptions of CSR issues in multiple stakeholder realms, the main purpose being to determine the effects of the values of individuals on their perceptions regarding CSR. It examines perceptions of CSR both at the emic (observing individuals and stakeholders) and etic levels (conducting cross-cultural comparison) through a descriptive-empirical research strategy. The dissertation is based on quantitative interview data among Chinese, Finnish and US stakeholder groups of industry companies (with an emphasis on the forest industries) and consists of four published articles and two submitted manuscripts.

Theoretically, this dissertation provides a valuable and unique philosophical and intellectual perspective on the contemporary study of CSR—`The Harmony Approach to CSR'. Empirically, this dissertation does values assessment and CSR evaluation of a wide variety of business activities covering CSR reporting, business ethics, and three dimensions of CSR performance. From the multi-stakeholder perspective, this dissertation use survey methods to examine the perceptions and stakeholder salience in the context of CSR by describing, comparing the differences between demographic factors as well as hypothetical drivers behind perceptions.

The results of study suggest that the CSR objective of a corporation's top management should be to manage the divergent and conflicting interests of multiple stakeholders, taking others than key stakeholders into account as well.

The importance of values as a driver of ethical behaviour and decision-making has been generally recognized. This dissertation provides more empirical proof of this theory by highlighting the effects of values on CSR perceptions. It suggests that since the way to encourage responsible behaviour and develop CSR is to develop individual values and cultivate their virtues, it is time to invoke the critical role of moral (ethics) education.

The specific studies of China and comparison between Finland and the US contribute to a common understanding of the emerging CSR issues, problems and opportunities for the future of sustainability. The similarities among these countries can enhance international cooperation, while the differences will open up opportunities and diversified solutions for CSR in local conditions.

Keywords: Corporate Social Responsibility, stakeholders, values, perception, forest industry, harmony

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

It was a long and tough journey to finish a PHD. Looking back, I was surprised and proud that I have achieved it. Without the supports I got all the way, this dissertation cannot complete. I would like to express my faithful thanks to you all, my teachers, colleagues, friends, family, and who were there with me, helping, supporting, supervising, and encouraging me and made this dissertation possible.

First of all, my warmest appreciation goes to my supervisors, Professor Heikki Juslin, for his continuing guidance, support and caring. He taught me how to do researches and leaded me to discover the beauty of the academic life. I would also like to thank Professor Pia Polsa, whose expertise of cross-culture study and research methods, and detailed comments and experienced advice were valuable for this dissertation. Special thanks also go to Professor Anne Toppinen and Professor Mikko Tervo for their valuable comments and advices, and practical supports related to my studies and work.

I would like to thank the Finnish Cultural Foundation, Academy of Finland, and University of Helsinki for the financial support provided to my PhD study.

I am thankful to my pre-examiners, Professor Johanna Kujala and Doctor Mirja Mikkila, whose thorough evaluations and constructive comments improved the quality of the dissertation. I would like to thank Doctor Roderick Mcconchie for his competent language editing of this dissertation.

Special thanks also go to my colleagues and friends who provided strong support and encouragement for my PhD studies. Thanks got to the co-authors of two articles, MSc Tomi Amberla, Professor Eric Hansen, Professor Rajat Panwar, and Doctor Roy Anderson. I also thank the colleagues and friends, MSc WenLe Ye and MSc Qiong Zhou, and other friends, such as JianFeng Shi, XiaoHui Xia, Robin Shi, Sherry Yu, and Echo Xiao for their help in the data collecting. I would like to thank Doctor Jari Kärnä and Professor Heimo Karppinen for their help in the data analysing.

Finally, my deep gratitude goes to my family, whose uttermost love and supports were always cheering me up and keeping me go ahead. Thanks to my parents who raised me with love and supported me in all my endeavours. Thanks to my wife, my dearest love, Wei Wang, who stood by me through the good and bad times with her love, support and constant patient. She was always the first reader of my papers, polishing my language and offering comments. Without her, this journey would have been much harder.

I would like to extend my gratitude to all of those who supported me in any respect during the completion of my PHD. Thanks to you all, but never enough!

Lei Wang

Helsinki, September 2011

# LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES

This dissertation consists of a summary and the following six articles, referred to according to their Roman numerals. The articles **I**, **IV**, **V** and **VI** are reprinted with the kind permission of the publishers while the studies **II** and **III** are the author version of the submitted manuscripts.

I	Wang, L., and Juslin, H. 2011. The effects of value on the perception of Corporate Social Responsibility implementation: A study on Chinese youth. Journal of CSR and Environmental Management. 18(4): 246-262. DOI: 10.1002/csr.250.
II	Wang, L., and Juslin, H. 2011. Values and CSR perceptions of Chinese university students. Manuscript.
Ш	Wang, L., and Juslin, H. 2011. Corporate Social Responsibility in the Chinese forest industry: Understanding multiple stakeholder perceptions. Manuscript.
IV	Amberla, T., Wang, L., Juslin, H., Panwar, R., Hansen, E., and Anderson, R. 2010. Students' perceptions of forest industries business ethics: A comparative analysis of Finland and the USA. The Electronic Journal of Business Ethics and Organisational Studies. 15(1): 44-54. http://ejbo.jyu.fi/pdf/ejbo_vol15_no1_pages_44-54.pdf
V	Amberla, T., Wang, L., Juslin, H., Panwar, R., Hansen, E., and Anderson, R. 2011. Corporate Social Responsibility performance in the forest industries: A comparative analysis of student perceptions in Finland and the USA. Social Responsibility Journal 7(3): 472-489. DOI: 10.1108/17471111111154572.
VI	Wang, L., and Juslin, H. 2009. The Impact of Chinese Culture on Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR): The Harmony Approach. The Journal of Business Ethics. 88(3):433-451. DOI 10.1007/s10551-009-0306-7.

	I	II	III	IV	V	VI
Idea of the article	W	W, J	W	A, J, H	A, J, H	W
Conception & design	W, J	W, J	W, J	A, J	A, J	W
Planning&	W	W,J	W	A, H, P,	A, H, P,	W
implementation				J, W, R	J, W, R	
Data Collection	W	W	W	A, P, H,	A, P, H,	W
				R	R	
Statistical analysis &	W	W	W	A, W	A, W	
interpretation						
Writing the article	W	W	W	A, W	A ,W	W
Critical revision	W	W,	W	W	W	W
Final approval	W, J	W, J	W, J	W, J, P,	W, J, P,	W, J
				Н	Н	
<b>Overall Responsibility</b>	W	W	W	A, W	A, W	W
Supervision	J, PP	J, PP	J, PP	J	J	J

# DIVISION OF LABOUR IN CO-AUTHORED ARTICLES

W=Lei Wang, J=Heikki Juslin, A=Tomi Amberla, P=Rajat Panwar, H=Eric Hansen, R=Roy Anderson, PP= Pia Polsa

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ABSTRACT	3
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	·····4
LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES	5
DIVISION OF LABOUR IN CO-AUTHORED ARTICLES	6
TABLE OF CONTENTS	7
1. INTRODUCTION	8
1.1. Background of CSR	8
1.2. Previous studies of CSR ······	9
1.3. Motivations of the dissertation	···· 12
2. PURPOSE AND STRUCTURE OF THE DISSERTATION	15
2.1.Purpose of the dissertation ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	15
2.2.Structure of the dissertation	···· 16
3. RESEARCH DESIGN OF THE DISSERTATION	···· 17
4. THEORETICAL BACKGROUND OF THE DISSERTATION	18
4.1.Values	
4.1.1. Evolution of the modern concept of values	18
4.1.2.The pyramid of values	
4.1.3. Virtue	
4.2. CSR	
4.2.1. Evolution of the concepts of CSR	31
4.2.2. The effects of cultures on CSR views	38
4.3.1. The evolution of the concepts of the stakeholder	40
4.3.2. Stakeholder theory and CSR	48
4.4. The theoretical framework and summarized hypotheses	49
4.5.Hypotheses of the sub-studies	53
5. DATA AND ANALYSIS	
5.1. Research instruments	···· 59
5.2. Questionnaire design ······	62
5.3. Data	63
5.4. Data analysis ••••••	65
6. SUMMARY OF THE SUB-STUDIES	
7. SYNTHESIS, DISCUSSION AND LIMITATION OF THE RESULTS	73
7.1.Synthesis and discussion	···· 73
7.2.Limitations and directions for further studies	
8. CONCLUSIONS	
LIST OF REFERENCES	85

## **1. INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1. Background of CSR

Since the concept of Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) was initiated in 1924 by Sheldon, it has been a worldwide subject of intense controversy and interest for business, society, government, and academia alike. The proverb "business is business" has been criticized and definitions of a more humane and ethical, more responsible and transparent, and more sustainable way of conducting business have emerged (Lindfelt and Törnroos, 2006; Marrewijk, 2003). This field has grown significantly, incorporating a great proliferation of theories, approaches and terminologies, such as social issues management, sustainable development, sustainable entrepreneurship, business ethics, eco-justice, stakeholder management, and CSR, etc. (Garriga and Melé, 2004). In management literature, the definitions of such issues are too diverse to form a universally accepted definition of CSR. However, there is an agreed consensus on the principles that CSR is about doing business sustainably and ethically, as well as treating or addressing stakeholder concerns responsibly (Hopkins, 2004; Panapanaan et al., 2003).

Although CSR is a concept defined in the West in the 1920s, its principles have long been parts of enlightened business practice world-wide. In China, the responsible business concept can be traced back more than 2500 years ago to the "Confucian entrepreneurs" who pursued profits with integrity and commitment to the community's prosperity (Huang, 2008; Lee, 1996). In the West, there have been debates about the ethical and social responsibilities of business since the Industrial Revolution (1800s). The particular concerns were industrial betterment and the welfare movement, especially about how to make employees more productive (Carroll, 2008; Cacioppe et al., 2008).

According to Cacioppe et al. (2008), the history of CSR up to the 1950s was the "philanthropic" era, during which donation was the major approach. The "philosophical" era was developed after the 1950s (Cacioppe et al., 2008), when there was more recognition and adherence of the behavioural and philosophical fundamentals relating primarily to the principles of CSR (Geva, 2008).

Philanthropy appeared in the late 1800s, often interpreted as a result of wealthy individuals retiring from the corporate arena and setting up foundations and trusts to help social causes (Windsor, 2001) such as the YMCA (Young Men's Christian Association) and the "community chest movement" (Carroll, 2008). The beginning of the 1900s is described as the phase of "profit maximizing management" when people believed that the individual's drive for maximum profits and the regulation of the competitive marketplace would create the greatest public wealth and good (Panwar et al., 2006). The "trusteeship management" phase started in the 1920s and 1930s, reflecting a shift from a mere profit motive, incorporating the maintenance of an equitable balance among other competing claims such as those from customers, employees, and the community (Panwar et al., 2006). The phase of "quality of life management", started in the 1950s, reflecting the emerging issue of the quality of life in society (Hay and Gray, 1974).

The philosophical approach to CSR has been developed in the second half of the  $20^{\text{th}}$ century based on notion of philanthropy. According to Murphy (1978), the period 1953-67 was defined as the "awareness" stage, in which companies paid more attention to their overall responsibility and involvement in community affairs (Murphy, 1978). This was followed by the "issue" era (1968-73) in which companies began focusing on specific issues such as pollution control, recruitment/development of minorities, and support for education (Murphy, 1978; Elibirt and Parket, 1973). The "responsiveness" period started in 1974 when companies began taking serious management and organizational actions to address CSR issues, e.g., stakeholder management, business ethics examination, corporate social performance (CSP) assessment and disclosure (Murphy, 1978; Caroll, 2008). Since the 1990s, the CSR movement has become a global phenomenon and experienced remarkable growth, expanding from Europe and North America to the rest of the world with the process of globalization. For example, the CSR movement in China started in the mid-1990s (Myllyvainio and Virkkala, 2006; Zhou, 2006), brought into the Chinese market by multinationals during the 'anti-sweatshop campaign' which opposed the unacceptable conditions in the supply chain in developing countries (Pun, 2003). In recent decades, CSR has attracted increasing attention due to notorious corporate scandals involving Enron, Worldcom, Arthur Andersen, Tyco International, and Adelphia (Berrone et al., 2007). With the current globalisation and the complexity of today's business environment, the issue of CSR is more complicated and important than ever.

#### 1.2. Previous studies of CSR

CSR has been a subject of intense controversy and interest in the academic world over recent decades, and scholars have devoted great attention to this issue. The first standpoint on CSR was offered by Bowen (1953) in his Social Responsibilities of the Businessman. Bowen defined CSR as an obligation to pursue appropriate policies, to make appropriate decisions, and to follow those lines of action which are desirable in terms of the objectives and values of our society (Elias, 2004).

In the 1960s, CSR was increasingly discussed in the managerial context. For example, Davis (1960) asserted that socially responsible business decisions could be justified by a long, complicated process of reasoning as offering an opportunity to bring the company long-run economic gain, thus repaying it for its responsible outlook (Carroll, 1999). However, this viewpoint also aroused criticism. Among other scholars, Friedman argued that the only social responsibility of a corporation was to increase its profits. Furthermore, he asserted that the resources allocated to CSR are better spent on increasing company efficiency – from a social perspective as well (Friedman, 1970).

Although Friedman's viewpoint on CSR prevailed in the 1970s, scholars increasingly started to shed light on the multiplicity of responsible business practices. First, Johnson identified specific interest groups with a variety of different needs, stating that "social responsibility in business is the pursuit of socioeconomic goals through the elaboration of social norms in prescribed business roles" (Johnson, 1971). Furthermore, Steiner (1971) acknowledged the interrelationship between business and society at large, referring to social responsibility as a "social contract". Basically, a social contract can be seen as a set

of rights and obligations related to corporate impacts on the welfare of society. According to Wartick and Cochran, a social contract is a binding element between business behaviour and society's objectives. When the surrounding societal conditions change, the specifics of the social contract may also change (Wartick and Cochran, 1985; Elias, 2004).

During the 1970s, the development of CSR concepts was mainly driven by the negative outcomes of business behaviour. The social pressure and the existing social contract were acknowledged, but scholars started to put more emphasis on response processes as well. For example, Frederick (1978) introduced social responsiveness as the capacity of a corporation to respond to social pressures (Wartick and Cochran, 1985). The concept of social responsiveness shifted the debate away from the social obligations towards managerial processes. Social responsiveness was seen as a valid concept, leading managers to a clearer emphasis on implementation and policy development. Some scholars were even ready to replace the concept of CSR with social responsiveness in management thinking (Wartick and Cochran, 1985).

Carroll argued, however, that social responsiveness was inadequate to replace the concept of CSR as a whole (Carroll, 1979), noting that corporate social responsiveness is more concerned with the manner of response than with the kinds of issues that ought to be addressed. According to Carroll, corporations can be very responsive to social issues, but fundamentally they may act irresponsibly or unethically in the process (Carroll, 1979). Consequently, the theory of corporate social performance was introduced, referring mainly to the outcomes of business behaviour. Carroll described the multidimensional construct of corporate social performance (CSP) in terms of four separate categories: 1) economic, 2) legal, 3) ethical, and 4) discretionary responsibility (Carroll, 1979).

In the 1980s and 1990s, CSR studies focused on the alternative or complementary concepts and themes such as CSP, corporate social responsiveness, public policy, etc. For example, Wartick & Cochran (1985) extended Carroll's model of CSP with an "evolution of the corporate social performance model". Epstein (1987) defined corporate social responsiveness and business ethics and integrated them into a concept called "corporate social policy process". Freeman (1984) brought "stakeholder theory" into CSR, which emphasizes that organizations should not only be accountable to their shareholders but also balance the interests of their other stakeholders, who can influence or be influenced by organizational activities. Wood suggested processes such as environmental assessment and issues management for the proactive implementation of CSR (Wood, 1991). Boatright (1993) claimed that CR should clearly go beyond purely legal responsibility.

Since the 2000s, the emphasis on theoretical contributions to the CSR concept shifted to empirical research and practical implementation. Scholars started instead to shed light on balancing the impacts of corporate behaviour. Clearly, the core question shifted from "what" to "how". Notions such as NGO activism and strategic leadership have been extensively discussed. For example, Jamali and Mirshak (2007), Bird and Smucker (2007), and Raufflet (2005) explored CSR practices in developing countries. Reynolds and Yuthas (2008), Aras and Crowther (2009), Crowther (2000), and Morimoto et al., (2006) researched CSR practices of reporting, accounting, and auditing. Miles and Friedman (2002), Carroll and Buchholtz (2000), Ligeti and Oravecz (2009), and Morsing and Schultz (2006) conducted empirical studies of CSR communication and stakeholder management.

Numerous studies indeed highlighted the Western-centric nature of the topic (Jamali and Mirshak, 2007). A lot of CSR studies examined the nature and business implications of CSR exclusively in the context of developed areas such as Europe and the US. For example, Finland is one of the leading countries in academic research on CSR. Since Takala's dissertation (1991), which dealt with managerial beliefs concerning CSR, it has been a hot topic in Finnish dissertations. Halme (1997) studied environmental management issues related to recycling and forest management in two Finnish forest companies. Lankoski (2000) examined the relationship between the environmental and economic performance of firms. Paloviita (2004) studied how input-output analysis can be used at industry-level and site-level sustainability indicator design. Törnroos (2005) suggested an incremental and standardised framework for environmental reporting based on assessments of environmental reporting in Finnish companies. Rintanen (2005) constructed an empirically grounded interpretation of the establishment and development directions of corporate environmental management in the Finnish and Italian meat processing sectors. Panapanaan (2006) focused on the importance of CSR and its management inside and outside Finnish companies. The development and acceptability of CSR issues in the Finnish pulp and paper industry was assessed by Mikkilä (2006) through a multiple-stakeholder perspective, while Kovács (2006) investigated collaboration and corporate environmental responsibility in demand networks. Further research concerned the relationship between sustainable development and economic growth in the market economy (Haukioja, 2007), and the concept of social responsibility in relation to research and development of new biotechnology (Snell, 2009). Onkila (2009) focused on environmental rhetoric in Finnish business, discussing environmental values and stakeholder relations in the acceptability of environmental management. The relationship between corporations and NGOs in a CSR perspective was also examined (Kourula, 2009). Vihervaara (2010) examined the impact of the globalizing forest industry on the provisioning of ecosystem services, exploring possible means for the sustainable management of coupled human-environment systems. Siltaoja (2010) highlighted the importance of intangible social resources to business responsibility in the Finnish context, while Apostol (2011) investigated how CSR is discussed in a major Romanian business magazine. (See also other studies, such as Kujala, 2001; Lämsä, 2001; Kallio, 2004; Joutsenvirta, 2006; Lindtfelt, 2006; Uimonen, 2006).

In general, previous studies of CSR can be categorized into three different levels and two different approaches (Roozen et al., 2001). The three levels are individual, organisational and societal. Individual factors have been widely examined in relation to ethical decision-making, ethical attitudes and behaviours. For example, Fukukawa et al. (2007) studied the relationship between values and attitudes toward social and environmental stewardship among experienced MBA students, and Ibrahim et al. (2008) examined the effect of an individual's degree of religiosity on CSR orientation. There are also many studies on the other socio-demographic characteristics such as age, education, occupation, and locus of control (see, for example, Lan et al., 2009; O'Fallon and Butterfield, 2005). At the organisation level, studies concerned issues of corporate governance, organizational behaviour and decision-making, leadership and strategy, CSP, and stakeholder management, etc. (Roozen et al., 2001). The predominant organizational factors examined in the business ethics and CSR literature include codes of ethics, ethical climate/culture, business type, organizational size and rewards and sanctions (e.g., Trevino

et al., 1998; O'Fallon and Butterfield, 2005; Gao, 2009). At the social level, there are studies responding to issues related to community growth and development, public interest and welfare, human rights, culture and humanity, policy and regulation, and sustainability development, etc. (see Singhapakdi et al., 1999; Scholtens and Lammertjan, 2007; Lu et al., 1999).

There are two approaches to business ethics and CSR studies, normative or prescriptive approaches and the more analytically oriented descriptive methods (Roozen et al., 2001). The first delineates philosophically based moral obligations and normative rules, and is concerned with the good which has moral values (Wijnberg, 2000). Various philosophical theories have been involved in normative studies, such as deontology, teleology (egoism and utilitarianism), relativism, justice, and objectivism (Hansen, 1992; Roozen et al., 2001). On the other hand, descriptive (or empirical) approaches are concerned with explaining and predicting behaviours (O'Fallon and Butterfield, 2005), studying how various factors influence ethical decision-making and the decision-making process (Roozen et al., 2001).

#### 1.3. Motivations of the dissertation

The tendency in recent CSR studies is to reveal individual and corporation behaviour, in other words, the mainstream literature attempt to understand current CSR concepts, phenomena, and implementation. Popular topics include individual behaviours involved in CSR, the relationship between CSP and corporate financial performance (CFP), CSR operations in the global environment, CSR reporting and communication, and managing CSR in a multiple-stakeholder context.

Various scholars have investigated the impact of managerial decisions on CSR (see Orpen, 1987; Rashid and Ibrahim, 2002; Hemingway and Maclagan, 2004), and individual actors involved in CSR, matters which include ethical decision-making, ethical attitudes and behaviour, and value orientations (Lan et al., 2009; O'Fallon and Butterfield, 2005).

A large proportion of business case reviews evaluate the relationship between CSP and CFP in order to determine the market motivation for corporations to engage in CSR (see Orlitzky et al., 2003; Margolis and Walsh, 2003). Kurucz et al., (2008) suggested four general types of business case for CSR: cost and risk reduction, profit maximization and competitive advantage, reputation and legitimacy, and synergistic value creation.

Following the globalization process, CSR research is also concerned more with global supply chain management (Roberts, 2003; Frenkel and Kim, 2004; Rao, 2004 etc), such as highlighting CSR issues and Ethical Supply Chain Management (ESCM) through partnership and communication (e.g., Maignan et al., 2002; Sobszak, 2006); implementing and monitoring CSR related systems (e.g. EMAC, ISO14001, SA8000) and the corporate code of conduct (Doh, 2005; Rao and Holt, 2005; Brammer and Millington, 2006); analysing corporate behaviour on the global playing field (Panapanaan et al., 2003; Welford, 2004; Walsh et al., 2003), including comparative institution analysis, actor-centered and behaviour-centered cross-national comparisons (Doh and Guay, 2006; Waldman et al., 2005).

Moreover, there is considerable growth in studies related to CSR reporting (see KPMG, 2005; Larrinaga-Gonzalez, 2001; Erusalimsky et al., 2006), which deal with matters such as

the accountability of CSR reporting (O'Dwyer, 2005; Adams, 2004), and managerial control and manipulation of the stakeholder dialogue (Swift, 2001; Thomson and Bebbington, 2005; Unerman and Bennett, 2004). In addition, managing CSR in a multiple-stakeholder context becomes more important, using stakeholder theory to determine allocation strategy (e.g., Hosseini and Brenner, 1992; Frooman, 1999; Reynolds et al., 2006), and using stakeholder theory as a theoretical and practical framework to study and evaluate CSR (Pirsch et al., 2007; Putten, 2005; Lämsä et al., 2008).

In conclusion, previous studies set out to answer the following questions: 1) whose interests should be considered in CSR? 2) what should be included and implemented in CSR? 3) why be responsible? and 4) where do we stand? However, recent notorious corporate scandals, such as Enron, Worldcom, Arthur Andersen, Tyco International, and Adelphia, and corporate/man-made environmental disasters such as the Exxon-Valdz oil spill, the British Petroleum oil spill, and the Union Carbide cyanide gas leak revealed the striking omission of CSR, and that there is an absence of hermeneutic knowledge and tools focused on overcoming current challenges and directing CSR further. Based on the theory of "the effects of values on CSR behaviours" and "the harmony approach to CSR", this dissertation tries to fill the research gap by contributing to CSR education and responsible management in directing individual and corporate responsible behaviour through reshaping personal values, and cultivation of virtues. It answers the question of how to shape and direct CSR further.

There are also research limits at the three levels of CSR studies: 1) focusing on organisational members at the individual level; 2) considering stakeholder members as in monolithic groups with homogenous needs and interests at the organisational level; 3) at the social level, the mainstream CSR concepts and practices have been Western dominated, neglecting the understanding of the effects of other cultures on CSR issues.

As discussed in the last chapter, several factors are potentially concerned with and influence the ethical decision process and responsible behaviour at the personal level. Most studies focus on the role of values in enacting CSR, as values provide a broad framing structure in understanding individual choices and motivations for action in the emergent CSR issues (Mills et al., 2009; Carroll, 1996). A theme emerging from the literature is that personal values affect human attitudes and behaviour because they contain a judgement element in which they formulate social norms and emotions about what is right, good or desirable (e.g., Hemingway, 2005; Parashar et al., 2004; Rokeach, 1973; Mayton et al., 1994; Fukukawa et al., 2007). The consensus is that the relationships between values and having a significant impact on ethical decision-making and moral judgement (e.g., Mayton et al., 1994; Fukukawa et al., 2007; Joyner et al., 2002). Values influence the extent of a corporation's perceived CSR and are influenced by societal activities and norms or standards (Joyner et al., 2002). Conversely, corporate ethical or unethical behaviour can influence the values held by members of society (Joyner et al., 2002).

However, much research on the relationship between personal values and CSR has focused on the effect of the values of organisational members (such as executives, managers, and employees) on their belief, commitment, decisions, judgements and evaluation of CSR (e.g., Orpen, 1987; Rashid and Ibrahim, 2002; Barnett et al., 1998; Jones, 1991; Hemingway and Maclagan, 2004; Shafer et al., 2007; Hunt and Vitell, 1991;

Joyner et al., 2002). Since few studies have been conducted on the effect of values on the perception of CSR, especially among "external" stakeholders outside the organisation, this dissertation set out to increase our understanding of the perception of CSR by examining the effects of the values (among other antecedent factors) of individuals in multiple stakeholder realms. With an emphasis on university students, the future leaders, this dissertation takes a broader stakeholder perspective than most other examinations.

At the organisational level, stakeholder theory offers a theoretically and practically useful framework for studying and evaluating CSR (Lämsä et al., 2008). There is a substantial body of empirical literature studying stakeholder issues under the concept of CSR. However, previous studies tend to characterize stakeholders as belonging to monolithic groups with relatively homogenous need and interests (e.g., Bhattacharya, 2009; Berrone et al., 2007; Siu and Lam, 2009; Ruf et al., 2001; Beekun and Badawi, 2005; Sirgy, 2002; Woodbine, 2008). Thus there is a clear need to include the individual level investigations for better understanding of stakeholder behaviour (perception in this dissertation). This dissertation tries to examine heterogeneous individual level constructs and motivations (values) and, in doing so, enhance our understanding of stakeholder perceptions on CSR.

At the social level, CSR studies are in favour of conducting cross-cultural comparisons. A number of cross-cultural/national studies indicate that the differences in the cultural and social backgrounds, political and institutional environments result in views on CSR taking different forms in different parts of the world (see, for example, Shafer et al., 2007; Whitcomb et al., 1998; Burton et al., 2000; Welford, 2005; Scholtens and Lammertjan, 2007; Alas, 2006; Smith and Hume, 2005; Maignan and Ferrell, 2000). The North American concept of CSR represents the "original" context of the phenomenon by emphasising its philanthropic aspects (Matten & Moon, 2004). Companies typically address issues of responsibility explicitly in corporate policies, programmes and strategies. In Europe, especially the Scandinavian countries, however, the CSR concept is more focused on actual company operations (Halme & Lovio, 2004). In Europe, CSR issues are more implicit in the formal or informal institutional business environment and join the list of state duties and the legal context (Brønn and Vrioni, 2001; Matten & Moon, 2004). In the emerging countries such as China, CSR is still in its infancy, which is still about corporate operations at the basic legal level, and Chinese society is still struggling with issues such as corruption, labour rights, distributive justice, corporate crime, product safety and pollution (Tian, 2006; Lu, 2009). With China's transition to a market economy, the deterioration of the traditional business ethics and morality has attracted a lot of attention. However, the mainstream CSR concepts and practices are still dominated and influenced by Westerncentric attributes, which largely neglected the effects of other cultures on CSR. Thus the third motivation of this dissertation is to consider the role of culture in shaping CSR behaviour. This dissertation includes a cross-cultural study between the US and Finland, and a normative study on the concept of CSR with specific considerations of Chinese cultural contexts.

## 2. PURPOSE AND STRUCTURE OF THE DISSERTATION

#### 2.1. Purpose of the dissertation

The main purpose of this dissertation is to determine the effects of the values of individuals on their perceptions of the CSR issues in multiple stakeholder realms. The central research question is "What are the major factors affecting individual's perceptions of CSR issues?"

More specifically, the theoretical objective of the dissertation is to enrich the concept of CSR in a normative way by identifying and developing the full range components of CSR, especially those related to the perceptions of this issue. This dissertation also tries to contribute a new definition of CSR which envisages the role of culture in shaping CSR.

The empirical objective of the dissertation is to outline individual and stakeholder perceptions of CSR using a descriptive-empirical approach, and tries to clarify the relationship between antecedent individual (and stakeholder) factors and perceptions of CSR.

This dissertation includes six separate articles, whose partial aims can be summarized as answering the following specific questions concerning: 1) descriptive empirical phenomena, 2) comparative descriptive phenomena, 3) explanation of phenomena based on hypothetical assumptions derived from theoretical constructs, 4) developing normative instruments.

- 1) Descriptive research questions
  - What are the preferred values of observed individuals? (articles I, II, III and IV)
  - What are the preferred values of observed stakeholders? (article III)
  - $\bullet$  What are the perceptions of individuals of CSR performance? (articles I, II, III, IV and V)
  - What are the perceptions of stakeholders of CSR performance? (article III)
  - Who are the key stakeholders prioritized by the Chinese forest industry? (article III)
  - What are the history and drivers for the development of CSR in China? (article VI)
- 2) Comparative descriptive research questions
  - What are the differences in values between individuals with different sociodemographic factors? (articles I, II, III and IV)
  - What are the differences in perceptions between individuals with different sociodemographic factors? (articles II, IV and V)
  - What are the differences in ethical values and stakeholder salience between different stakeholders? (article III)
  - Do perceptions differ between stakeholders? (article III)
  - What are the differences in values and perceptions between university students in Finland and the US? (articles IV and V)

- 3) Explanatory research questions
  - Do personal values affect individual perceptions of CSR performance? (articles I, II, III and IV)
  - Do the perceptions of environmental reporting affect student perceptions of CR performance? (article V)
  - Does stakeholder salience affect stakeholder perceptions of CSR performance? (article III)
- 4) Normative research questions
  - What are the core principles/wisdom of Confucianism and Taoism? (article VI)
  - How can traditional wisdom be adapted to the concept of CSR? (article VI)

#### 2.2 Structure of the dissertation

This dissertation summary report consists eight chapters, structured as follows:

The first chapter provides a brief introduction to the topic, introducing the history of CSR movements, practices, and conceptual formation. Previous studies of CSR are highlighted and summarized. It also identifies several research gaps, and outlines the motivation and needs of this study.

The second chapter specifies the research questions, purposes and structure of this dissertation, including the detailed research questions involved in the articles.

The third chapter introduces the research design and implementation of the dissertation, elaborating the methodological and practical assumptions and containing the work plan and process of the entire study.

Chapter four presents the theoretical background of this study, elaborating the theories and concepts of values, CSR, and stakeholders. It tries to clarify the theoretical basis of the CSR phenomena, and the interrelationship between them. Based on the "culture-valuesbehaviour" interrelationship, the theoretical framework of this dissertation is that perceptions of CSR are affected by values. In addition, the summarized hypotheses and hypotheses of six articles are introduced in this chapter.

Chapter five elaborates the research methods used in this dissertation, including the research instruments, questionnaire design method, four different sets of data, and data collection and analysis methods. Quantitative research methods direct the empirical research of this study.

Main findings of this dissertation are outlined in Chapter six. This results part is a summary of six sub-studies by discussing the empirical explorations in relation to the hypotheses.

Chapter seven, the summary part of the entire dissertation, contains the synthesis and discussion, limitations and proposed directions for future studies. Main findings of this dissertation are highlighted and discussed in this chapter, which identifies its significance and limitations.

The last chapter draws the final conclusions of the dissertation, presents its implications and makes further suggestions.

## 3. RESEARCH DESIGN OF THE DISSERTATION

As described in the previous sections, this dissertation examines perceptions of CSR both at the emic (observing individuals and stakeholders) and etic (conducting cross-cultural comparison) levels through a descriptive-empirical research strategy. The quantitative data was collected in China, Finland, and the US by using a structured self-completion questionnaire. In addition, this dissertation includes a normative research strategy which takes an in-depth look at the traditional Chinese cultural contexts. The implementation of the dissertation is presented in figure 1.



Figure 1. Implementation of the dissertation

The steps in the implementation of the dissertation have been:

- 1. Preliminary phase of research. Defining study purpose and literature studies of culture and cross-culture comparison methods (EMIC & ETIC). Reviewing previous studies of similar topics and theories concerning values, CSR, and stakeholders.
- 2. Construction of the theoretical framework based on the theoretical findings of culture, values, and CSR (the interrelationship between culture, values and the perception of CSR).
- 3. Hypotheses are made of the connections between culture, values, and perception of CSR which accords with the theoretical framework.
- 4. Conducting EMIC empirical research. EMIC part is the comparison of the respondents between different social-demographic backgrounds in the same country. Thus, the specific value priorities, and perceptions on CSR have been studied and compared separately within their own country characteristics.
- 5. Conducting ETIC empirical research. ETIC part is the comparison between Finland and the US. Cultural-specific EMICs have been fully taken into consideration for Finnish and American data before the ETIC comparison. The obtained EMIC knowledge support the further ETIC studies.
- 6. The empirical results are compared to the hypotheses, and conclusions are made according to the comparison.
- 7. The practical and theoretical implications are discussed. A new concept of CSR has been formed based on the normative studies of the specific Chinese cultural contexts.

## 4. THEORETICAL BACKGROUND OF THE DISSERTATION

There is no universal definition of the concept of values, stakeholder, and CSR. Thus it leads to considerable debates regarding the meaning of these terms. This dissertation traces and reviews the emergence and evolution within the business literature of these concepts, and tries to draw a comprehensive and clear roadmap of these selected concepts. This section is designed, therefore, to increase our understanding of theoretical ingredients behind the phenomena of CSR, also the interrelationship between those ingredients.

### 4.1. Values

#### 4.1.1. Evolution of the modern concept of values

Since the terms 'value' and 'values' are often conflated and confused with each other, it is important to distinguish them. According to Thomson et al. (2003), "values" is not the plural of "value". Value is often interpreted in the sense of monetary value, the value that

an individual places on an object or outcome (e.g., the value one places on pay) (Meglino and Ravlin, 1998). "Value relates to assessments about products and can be subjective, if they remain internalised within an individual or an organisation, or objective if they are expressed" (Thomson et al., 2003).

"Values", on the other hand, is used to describe a person as opposite to an object (Meglino and Ravlin, 1998). "Values are inherently subjective because they frame the judgements made by individuals or organisations" (Thomson et al., 2003). Values are intended to answer questions such as "what is the most important thing", "what is appreciated here", and "what is the right way to behave" (Rokeach, 1973). In the context of this dissertation, I am interested in human values: the principles and meanings (e.g., core beliefs, morals and ideas of individuals) which guide and reflect human behaviour and attitudes (Onkila, 2009).

There is no universal definition of the concept of values (Lan et al., 2009). This concept has its roots in moral philosophy and social psychology, which have provided numerous definitions and measurements for values (Hemingway, 2005; Siltaoja, 2006). In sociology, values are regarded as social phenomena and factors explaining human action. Values may be categories at various levels such as individual, institutional, national, and regional, etc, and can be justified and determined by cultural, philosophical, religious and customary factors, among others (Visser et al., 2007). For example, individual values are "internalized social representations or moral beliefs that people appeal to as the ultimate rationale for their actions" (Oyserman, 2001). Individual values act as means of self-regulation through internalization of socio-cultural goals. Group values are scripts or cultural ideals held in common by members of a group (Oyserman, 2001), the means of the group's social mind. Different groups have different value priorities which can influence their perception of reality and motivation for action (Allport, 1961; Siltaoja, 2006).

Schwartz (1987, 1992, 1994) concluded that the common five features of values were: 1) values are beliefs which are tied inextricably to emotion; 2) values are a motivational construct; 3) values transcend specific actions and situations as abstracted goals; 4) values serve as standards or criteria used to guide the selection or evaluation of actions, policies, people, and events; and 5) values are ordered by relative importance and form a system that characterizes cultures and individuals. Clearly, values have a higher position in people's internal evaluative hierarchy than attitudes, behaviours and actions. Values are relatively enduring beliefs that transcend specific objects or situation as abstracted goals, whereas attitudes, behaviours and actions are focused on a specified object or situation (Rokeach, 1973).

Values are acquired and shaped through the process of socialization from one's childhood, mainly from agents such as the family, neighbourhood, and school (Rezsohazy, 2001). The following table (Table 1) introduces the major modern concepts of values and demonstrates their evolution.

SOURCE	CONCEPT	FOCUS
	Beginning the modern concept of values	
Thomas and Znaniecki, 1918	The study of change in the life of social groups, understood as a process of "social disorganization" (the loss of traditional norms) and "reorganization" (adaptation to modern values) experienced by recent immigrants from rural villages to the industrial city.	Social disorganization
Benedict, 1934	Using values to conduct field studies of cultural phenomena in small communities. Benedict divided Indian communities in the south-west of the US into Apollonians and Dionysians.	Cultural values
Postman et al., 1948	Personal values are demonstrable determinants of what the individual selects perceptually from his environment.	Self-direction
F	orming the modern concept of values in the 1950	)s-1960s
Kluckhohn, 1951	"A value is a conception, explicit or implicit, distinctive of an individual or characteristic of a group, of the desirable which influences the selection from available modes, means, and ends of action."	Person-centred
Pepper, 1958	The value facts themselves are the ultimate evaluative criteria.	Explicit definitions of values
Kluckhohn and Strodtbeck, 1961	Cultural value systems are variations of a set of basic value orientations that flow from answers to basic questions about being: (a) What is human nature (evil, neutral, mixed, or good)? (b) How do we relate to nature or the supernatural (subjugation, harmony, or mastery)? (c) What is the nature of time (past, present, future)? (d) What is the nature of human activity (being, being-in-becoming, doing)? (e) What is the nature of our relationship to others (are we joined vertically, horizontally or are we simply separate individuals)?	Value orientations and cultural value systems
Hagen, 1964	Emphasising the decisive contribution of values to the transition towards economic growth.	The theory of development
Lipset, 1963, 1967	Comparing American values with those of other Anglo-Saxon societies and those of Latin America.	Cultural comparisons
England , 1967	Values as being composed of a relatively	Motivational

Table 1. Evolution of the modern concept of values

	permanent perceptual framework which shapes and influences the general nature of an	continuum
	individual's behaviour.	
Williams, 1968, 1979	A person's values serve as the criteria or standards of preference. Values have cognitive, affective, and directional aspects which, when fully conceptualized, become criteria for judgement, preference, and choice. "Actual selections of behavior result from concrete motivations in specific situations which are partly determined by prior beliefs and values of the actor."	Criteria for action
	Developing the concept of values in the 197	0s
Wright, 1971	Values function in this process of defining and re- defining our sense of self and enhancing our self- esteem.	Self-direction
Bell, 1973 Inglehart, 1977	Old traditional values were refused and new ones adopted and diffused by osmosis. New values were individualistic, narcissistic, hedonistic, secularized, postindustrialist, postmaterialist, etc.	Changing values
Rokeach, 1973	"A value is an enduring belief that a specific mode of conduct or end-state of existence is personally or socially preferable to an opposite or converse mode of conduct or end-state of existence".	Instrumental and terminal values
Bengtson and Lovejoy, 1973	Values are conceptions of the desirable—self- sufficient ends which can be ordered and which serve as orientations for action.	Intrinsic values
Kohn, 1977	Using the ranking approach to measuring values is demanded by their nature in that a central manifestation of value is to be found in choice.	Class and values
Simon, et al., 1978	A value is something that is; (1) chosen freely from among alternatives, after consideration of consequences, (2) prized, cherished, and publicly affirmed, and (3) acted upon with a pattern, consistency and repetition.	Values clarification
Williams, 1979	"A value system is an organized set of preferential standards that are used in making selections of objects and actions, resolving conflicts, invoking social sanctions, and coping with needs or claims for social and psychological defences of choices made or proposed." Flourishing the concept of values in the 1980s	Value system
Kahle et at., 1980,	Values as a type of social cognition that	Social

Kahle, 1983, Piner and Kahle, 1984	facilitates an individual's adaptation to the environment.	adaptation theory
Hofstede, 1980	Shared values lead to societal norms which "lead to particular political, organizational, and intellectual structures and processes, and these in turn lead to self-fulfilling prophecies in people's perceptions of reality, which reinforce the societal norms."	Values divergence
Morrill, 1980	The individual or group "seeks to understand the meaning of the human situation through discovering in it the values that orient human choice and decision."	Values analysis
Sproull, 1981	Values as normative beliefs about proper standards of conduct and preferred or desired results.	Normative approach
Posner and Schmidt, 1987	Values have also been defined as general standards shaping our attitudes and beliefs and influencing our behaviour.	Normative approach
Schwartz and Bilsky, 1987	The role of values as cognitive representations of social interactional requirements for interpersonal coordination, and social institutional demands for group welfare and survival.	Value orientations
Schwartz and Bilsky, 1987, 1990	Values (1) are concepts or beliefs, (2) pertain to desirable end states or behaviours, (3) transcend specific situations, (4) guide selection or evaluation of behaviour and events, and (5) are ordered by relative importance.	Theoretical basis for the structure of value system
Homer and Kahle, 1988	The values are the basis of attitude, and attitude results in behaviour.	Value-attitude- behaviour framework
Feather, 1988	Values are at the centre of an individual's cognitive or mental structure or personality and may affect the individual's behaviour or characteristics such as attitude, evaluation, judgements, decisions, commitment, and satisfaction.	Criteria for action
	Emphasising empirical studies in the 1990s	
Schwartz, 1992	Values as an expression of and motivation for the fulfilment of basic human needs to sustain an individual's biological and social well-being and functioning.	Motivation
Schwartz, 1992	Values represent concepts or beliefs about	Terminal

	desirable end-states or behaviours that transcend	values
	specific situations, guide selection, or evaluation	
	of behaviour and events, and are ordered by	
D	relative importance.	
Ravlin, 1995	Values as "a person's internalized belief about	Normative
	how he or she should or ought to behave".	approach
Posner and	Values as lying "at the core of personality,	Values-
Schmidt, 1996	influencing the choices individuals make and	behaviour
	the way individuals and organizations alike invest	
	their energy."	
Beckman and	Values as common acceptance being the point of	Link between
Askegaard, 1997	intersection between individual and society	individual and
	because personal values help to know and	social
	understand the interpersonal world, and guide	
	the individual's adaptation to surrounding	
laba at al. 1007	condition.	Malua
Jehn et al., 1997	Value convergence reflects the degree to which	Value
	all members of a group agree on values about	convergence
	behaviour, group processes and intra-group relationships.	
Ralston et al.,	Crossvergence "occurs when an individual	Value
1997	incorporates both national culture influences and	crossvergence
1557	ideology influences synergistically to form a	ciossvergence
	unique value system that is different from the	
	value set supported by either national culture or	
	economic ideology."	
Maio and Olson	Values, though widely shared, lack cognitive	Truism
1998	support and hence function like truisms.	
	Cross-cultural perspective 2000s	
Lawton, 2000	Values form the basis for principles and virtues	Normative
	and are necessary to bring the ethical principles	approach
	into moral practice.	
Hofstede, 2001	Value interrelationships is between individual and	Individualistic
	collective interests, where the attainment of	vs. collectivistic
	values that serve individual interests are by their	
	nature opposed to those that serve collective	
	interests.	
Schwartz and	Values as desirable, trans-situational goals,	Universal
Bardi, 2001	varying in importance, that serve as guiding	typology
	principles in people's lives. Schwartz indentified	
	56 value items that can be grouped into ten	
	value types, which can be further clustered into	
	four value orientations.	
Rohweder, 2004	Economic values are instrumental and related to	Economic and

	economic rationalities (e.g. profit pursuing); ethical values concerning individual perceptions on "good" or "worth pursuing" which based on the feeling of justness and duty towards others	ethical values
Gandal et al., 2005	Values "influence individuals in their perceptions, interpretations of situations, and hence direct people in their decisions, choices, and behaviours."	Interrelationshi p between value- behaviour
Lages & Fernandes, 2005	Values, understood to be intrinsic, lasting and relatively steady beliefs in an individual's life and defined as mental representations of needs, are an individual's general basis for resolving conflict and making decisions, and determining, regulating and modifying relationships between individuals, organizations and societies.	Link between individual, organization, and society
Dhar et al., 2008	"At the micro level of individual behaviour, values are motivating as internalized standards that reconcile a person's needs with the demands of social life. At the macro level of cultural practices, values represent shared understandings that give meaning, order and integration to social living."	Micro and macro levels

The history of the notion of values can be traced back to the ancient Greeks over 2500 years ago, when ethics was established as a form of philosophical inquiry (Mullins, 1999). The best-known philosophers, such as Plato and Aristotle, are the main founders of this concept. Plato recognized the primacy of the objectivity of values such as truth, good, and beauty (objective values), and divided values into instrumental (means values), intermediate (mixed values), and intrinsic values (end values) (Sheng, 1998). Aristotelian ethics, known as "virtue ethics", is concerned with qualities of character (virtue of character) that make a community member fit to function at high level within the social fabric (Mattila, 2007). The concepts of happiness and the best good are centred in Aristotelian ethics, which provides a basis for the development of ethical values.

The modern concept of values was perhaps first shaped in The Polish Peasant in Europe and America (Thomas and Znaniecki, 1918). Since then, the concept of values has been found increasingly in anthropology, psychology, social psychology, philosophy, and sociology. The study of values covers a broad multidisciplinary terrain.

Kluckhohn and Strodtbeck (1961) introduced a classic view of values, in which the main purposes of values are answering basic existential questions and providing meaning in people's lives. Schwartz (1992) defined a concept of values consistent with this view "Values as an expression of and motivation for the fulfilment of basic human needs to sustain an individual's biological and social well-being and functioning."

The most influential researcher on values in the last three decades is Rokeach (Krap, 2000). Rokeach (1973) defined values as an enduring belief that a specific mode of conduct (instrumental values) or end-state of existence (terminal values) is personally or socially

preferable to its opposite. Rokeach (1973) and Williams (1979) defined the concept of the value system, which means clusters of values (personal and cultural values) based on a value hierarchy and priority structure, for the purpose of ethical and ideological integrity. The focus of Rokeach's work is the Rokeach Value Survey, which is a popular instrument for measuring values. It includes thirty-six universal and trans-situational values items, divided into two categories: instrumental values (such as politeness, honesty, and obedience) and terminal values (e.g., freedom, equality, and peace). Rokeach's instrument measures a person's value priorities.

Schwartz's value theory, which is the evolution of the Rokeach's Value Survey in cross-cultural values research, has been widely accepted in the last decade (Krap, 2000; Siltaoja, 2006). Schwartz indentified 56 universal value items that can be grouped into ten value types, which can be further clustered into four value orientations: 1) self-transcendence (the altruistic value types of universalism and benevolence), 2) self-enhancement (egoistic values focused on personal power and achievement), 3) openness (including the value types of self-direction, hedonism and stimulation), and 4) conservation (including the tradition, conformity and security value types) (Schwartz, 1992, 1994). Schwartz's value theory has been the most favoured theory in explaining human values, and has provided a powerful instrument for studying the values-behaviour relationship.

Some values studies focused on the link between individual and collective interests, social values studies being an important branch. Values are believed to mitigate the conflicts between these two, integrating individual interests into collectively desirable goals. The basic issue in social values research is how individuals prioritize allocations between themselves and others, and how much individuals are willing to sacrifice. As Grube et al. (1994) argued, "values play a particularly important role because they are cognitive representations of individual needs and desires, on the one hand, and of societal demands on the other." Kahle et at. (1980), Kahle (1983), and Piner & Kahle (1984) addressed the social adaption theory. Beckman and Askegaard (1997) defined values as the intersection between individual and society. The value convergence theory defined by Jehn et al. (1997) has also contributed to this view. Social dilemma games such as the prisoner's dilemma (Yamagishi et al., 1994) and social values orientations defined by McClintock and Van Avermaet (1982) are important in the social values studies.

Some value concepts have been conducted when values become vital in social life. For example, Pepper (1958) identified values as the ultimate evaluative criteria. Lawton (2000) mentioned that values form the basis for principles and virtues, while Salopek (2001) suggested "Values are our fundamental beliefs or principles. They define what we think is right, good, fair and just."

Values, which are at the heart of an individual's cognitive or mental structure or personality, inform the process of defining and re-defining an individual's identity and enhancing self-esteem (Wells and McDowell, 2001). There are many values studies concerned with this personal identity notion, such as Postman (1948), Wright (1971), and Valkenburg and Cantor (2001).

Cross-cultural research on values has been one of the major areas of interest. For example, Lipset (1963, 1967) arranged a cultural comparison between American values and Anglo-Saxon and Latin American values. Triandis developed a fifty-item scale to measure the various elements of individualism and collectivism (Triandis, 1989). The best-known

researcher in this field is Hofstede, who indentified five cultural values dimensions: small vs. large power distance, individualism vs. collectivism, masculinity vs. femininity, weak vs. strong uncertainty avoidance, and long vs. short-term orientation (Hofstede, 1980, 1991, 2001).

One important issue in values studies is to define the interrelationship between values and behaviour. For example, England (1967) argued that values shape and influence an individual's behaviour. Some scholars, such as Williams (1968), Posner and Schmidt (1987), and Feather (1988) identified values as criteria and standards for behaviour. Some studies focused on the hierarchical link between values, attitude, and behaviour e.g., Homer and Kahle (1988), and Gandel et al. (2005). Following this notion, there are many empirical studies assessing the effects of values on behaviour.

Although definitions of values vary, it is generally agreed that values influence behaviour or characteristics such as attitude, evaluation, judgements, decisions, commitment, and satisfaction. There is lots of evidence that personal values can be used as a good instrument for studying individual perceptions of CSR. The influence of personal values on ethical decision-making has been recognized (e.g., Hunt and Vitell, 1986, 1991; Ferrell and Gresham, 1985). Hemingway and Maclagan (2004) studied the effects of a manager's personal values on their attitudes and behaviour regarding CSR. Hemingway (2005) argued that personal values may motivate corporate social entrepreneurship. Recent empirical findings suggest that altruistic values (especially universalism and benevolence values), associated with higher levels of moral awareness, make a significant positive contribution to ethical decision-making and CSR, while egoistic values, associated with lower levels of moral awareness, make a significant negative contribution to ethical decision-making and CSR (VanSandt, 2003; Shafer et al., 2007). Puohiniemi pointed out that the values relevant to "pro-green" attitudes mainly concentrated on collectivistic value domains, whereas those relevant to "non-green" attitudes concentrated on individualistic value domains (Puohiniemi, 1995). Maignan (2001) claimed that individuals with more collectivistic values were mostly concerned about business's compliance with social norms, not its economic performance. There are also some findings showing that collectivistic values correspond with stakeholder views, highlighting, for example, the welfare of people and the employee morality of companies (Axinn et al., 2004; Shafer et al., 2007).

In the context of this dissertation, the concept of values is based on Schwartz's value theory, which categorises 56 universal value items into four value orientations. This dissertation applied Schwartz's value theory as an instrument to assess the link between values and behaviour, more specifically, the effects of values on the perceptions of CSR.

#### 4.1.2. The pyramid of values

The relationship between individual values, organizational values and CSR can be illustrated as in figure 2. The pyramid shows the interrelationships between individual ethical values, organizational ethical values, and CSR based on the theory of corporate morality. Corporate morality is "an account of the moral obligations of corporations" (Freeman and Gilbert, 1988). Under the theory of corporate morality, CSR can be interpreted as a type of moral values.



Source: adapted from Halter and Arruda, 2009. **Figure 2.** Pyramid of values

Individual ethical values form the base of the pyramid, sustaining individual and corporate behaviour. Individual ethical values refer to individual perceptions of what is right, and are based on the feeling of justness and duty towards others and the environment (Rohweder, 2004). Here, individual ethical values refer to not only to corporate members, but also other stakeholders from the surrounding environment. Organizational literatures often define the relationship between individual and corporate values as dialogues: management styles, which reflect personal level values, affect and are affected by the predominant corporate culture (Ott, 1989).

Logically, individuals must first perceive ethics and CSR to be important before they embrace more ethical and responsible behaviour. Their perceptions are affected by their ethical values. Similarly, corporations must first commit to CSR then undertake greater CSR behaviour. The level of corporate commitment to CSR also depends on its corporate ethical values.

Thus, at the second level, individual ethical values are accumulated and turned into corporate ethical values (Argandona, 2003). Corporate values can be seen as the collective programming of minds that differentiates one corporation from another (Hofstede, 1993), and can be seen as the set of shared values that govern corporate interactions with various stakeholders (Charles and Jones, 2001). Corporate values are also a major component of organization culture, and principles responsible for the successful management and

performance (O'Reilly & Chatman,1996; Mitchell & Oneal, 1994). Khandelwal and Mohendra (2010) defined corporate values as beliefs held in high esteem by corporate members regarding the means and ends that a corporation ought to identify in its operations, and a common identity and shared sense of purpose for the company and its members. Charles and Jones (2001) also divided corporate values into terminal values (the end states) and instrumental values (modes of behaviour). Terminal values are reflected in an organization's mission and goals, and instrumental values are embodied with norms, rules and codes of conduct. The functions of values at the corporate level are external adaption and internal integration (Schein, 1985), which shape the organization's philosophy, process and goals (Conklin et al., 1992).

In this pyramid, corporate ethical values act as a component of the individual ethical values and both the formal and informal policies on ethics of the corporation (Hunt et al., 1989). It is widely accepted that corporate ethical values shape the orientation of business activities, and are reflected in corporate behaviours such as CSR (Kilmann et al., 1985). CSR decisions are influenced by corporate ethical values, which help to create corporate norms and a sense of CSR that determines the CSR performance (Halter and Arruda, 2009). Singhapakdi et al. (1995) found in their study that "corporate ethical values seem to help sensitize marketers to the importance of ethics and social responsibility as a component of marketing decisions." Corporations may seek to improve CSR performance through creating common ethical values which provide direction for the organizations and theirs members by guiding behaviour and decisions.

Corporate ethical values should indicate the limits of operations, as principles regulate the corporation's CSR performance. Thus CSR can be sustained at the top of the pyramid (Halter and Arruda, 2009). Here, CSR acts as a control instrument for corporate ethical behaviour.

In summary, this pyramid indicates that changes in individual ethical values lead to changes in corporate ethical values, which promotes changes in corporate policies and strategies and reflects the changes in the business behaviour with respect to CSR (Carrasco, 2007). A precondition for CSR improvement is that values (both individual and corporate) change (Purser et al., 1995).

To conclude, the role of values in this dissertation has two levels. At the individual level, previous evidence has shown that personal values influence individual behaviour, including perception. Thus this dissertation assumes that values influence individual perceptions of CSR. Since we see the interrelated pyramid relationship between individual values and corporate CSR performance at the organisation level, a study of individual values and individual perceptions of CSR can make a significant contribution to the development of CSR performance.

#### 4.1.3. Virtue

In the broader context of values, virtue is defined as one category of values, like moral excellence or a habitually good disposition (Cawley, 1997). "Virtue is the quality of character by which individuals habitually recognize and do the right thing (Cawley, 1997)." In the West, the roots of virtue lie in the works of Plato and Aristotle.

Plato identified four cardinal virtues: 1) wisdom relates to the intellectual part of the soul or reason; 2) courage means the interaction between reason and the spirited part of the soul; 3) temperance or self control is defined as moderation in action, thought, or feeling; 4) justice relates to moral rectitude (Prior, 1991).

In the Aristotelian sense, "virtue stands for the qualities of character that make a community member fit to function to an excellent degree within the social fabric (Mattila, 2007)." His major contribution in this field is the theory of "virtue ethics". There are three concepts centred on virtue ethics: virtue, practical wisdom, and eudaimonia (Rosalind, 2003). Virtue means excellence of any kind (Rosalind, 2003). Aristotle distinguished two types of virtue: intellectual and moral. Intellectual virtue refers to wisdom and understanding which is the consequence of teaching, including the virtues of knowledge, art, prudence, intelligence and theoretical wisdom. Moral virtues refer to generosity and self-control, including justice, prudence, courage, and temperance (Cawley, 1997). Practical wisdom aims to inform us what we ought to do and what we ought not to do. Aristotle said that "virtue or excellence is not only a characteristic which is guided by right reason, but also a characteristic which is united with right reason; and right reason in moral matters is practical wisdom" (Mintz, 1996). Eudaimonia is translated as "happiness" or "flourishing" and occasionally as "well-being" (Rosalind, 2003). Other philosophers, such as Martineau, Hume and Nietzsche, have defined various forms of virtue ethics (Slote 2001, Swanton 2003).

The contemporary theory of virtue centered virtue on our understanding of human practice, ethics, and experience. The philosopher Macintyre made a significant contribution to reconstruction of the contemporary virtue-based theory. In the book After Virtue, Macintyre (1981) discussed the concept of virtue thorough several philosophical considerations, arguing that "hence on the modern view the justification of the virtues depends upon some prior justification of rules and principles; and if the latter become radically problematic, as they have, so also must the former. Suppose however that in articulating the problems of morality the ordering of evaluative concepts has been misconceived by spokesmen of modernity and more particularly of liberalism; suppose that we need to attend to virtues in the first place in order to understand the function and authority of rules; we ought then to begin the enquiry in a quite different way from that in which it has begun." He also argued that an ethic of virtue (which focuses on the morality of ordinary everyday life) must complement an ethic of duty (which focuses on the morality of rare unusual events) (Cawley, 1997). Other scholars, such as Meilaender (1984), Mayo (1958), Carr (1991), followed this thinking.

Based on the Aristotelian virtues tradition, Sommers and Sommers (1993) claimed that "in the broad sense, a virtue is any trait or capacity that enables an object to perform its appropriate function. More commonly, virtue refers to a special kind of excellence that only human beings possess or lack. In this narrow sense the virtues are moral excellences that contribute to a life of human fulfillment. And in this sense we speak of the virtues in contrast to vices. A question now arises: what goal is appropriate for a human being? There are in fact rival conceptions of human fulfillment."

Kupperman (1991) focused on character instead of virtue ethics, because virtue ethics is too limited as the sum of virtues. However, good character includes appropriate concerns and commitments. Other scholars, such as Greer and Kohl (1995), and Hillman (1996), also emphasized character rather than virtue ethics.

Newton (1992) developed a framework of virtue ethics, believing that virtue is important in business because of the individual roles as employees and as members of society. The virtues of individuals help them carry out their roles to overcome conflicts and be consistent with the goals of an organization. Bennett's anthologies on virtue ethics (1993, 1995) are widely cited. Hartmann and Beck-Dudley (1995) identified the core virtues relevant for marketing: integrity, fairness, trust, respect, and empathy.

Murphy (1999) summarized the six dimensions of virtue ethics: 1) its focus is on the person and his/her character traits, not on a particular decision or principle; 2) virtues are good habits and are learned by practice; 3) appropriate virtues are discovered by witnessing and imitating behaviour; 4) people seek the ethic of mean; 5) virtues should be examined within a community setting; 6) aspirations are key motivators in virtue ethics.

There are three main strands of contemporary development for virtue ethics: eudaimonism, agent-based theories, and the ethics of care. Hursthouse (1999) developed one detailed account of eudaimonist virtue ethics in which he argues that virtues make their possessor a good human being (Athanassoulis, 2004). Slote (1992) developed an agent-based virtue ethics which is based on our common-sense intuitions about what character traits are admirable. Another version of virtue ethics is the ethics of care, developed by feminist such as Baier (1985). The central idea is that "men think in masculine term such as justice and autonomy, whereas women think in feminine terms such as caring" (Athanassoulis, 2004).

One of the most recent developments of virtue ethics was by Jackson (2010) in his book Emotion and Psyche, in which he focuses on cultivating emotions (such as love, kindness, and awe) neither than cultivating behaviour.

The concept of virtue in Chinese philosophy has a longer history than in the West, which can be traced back more than 2500 years to Confucius. The overall goal of ancient Confucianism is to focus on secular ethics and morality, and educates people to be self-motivated and self-controlled in order to assume responsibility, which leads to self-cultivation and a harmonious society (Chung, 1995; Fan, 2000; Murphy and Wang, 2006; Wong et al., 1998). The emphasis in Confucianism is the development of personal character and virtues in the context of interpersonal relations (Lam, 2003). Virtues: 'humaneness – ren', 'righteousness – yi', 'ritual – li', 'wisdom– zhi', 'sincerity – xin', 'loyalty – zhong' and 'filial piety – xiao' are emphasized by Confucianism. In this dissertation, I have developed a new concept of CSR—"The harmony approach to CSR" by explaining those virtues.

## 4.2. CSR

#### 4.2.1. Evolution of the concepts of CSR

It is generally agreed that modern business is an integral part of society and its actions, and that businesses must participate in society in a responsible and ethically symbiotic way (e.g., De George, 1990; Joyner et al., 2002). In management literature, the issues relating to sustainable and responsible ways of conducting business are typically discussed within the concepts of CSR, business ethics, Corporate Responsibility (CR), Corporate Citizenship (CC), stakeholder issues, and sustainability, etc.

The concept of CSR is rather imprecise at the moment, there being no one universally accepted definition, and exists multiple related concepts and terms which are interchangeable with CSR (Whitehouse, 2006). Garriga and Melé (2004) defined four categories of CSR theories and related approaches: 1) instrumental theories that the corporation is seen as only an instrument for wealth creation. Friedman's shareholder approach (Friedman, 1962), the strategic CSR approach (e.g., Baron, 2001; Prahalad and Hammond, 2002), and the resource-based approach (e.g., McWilliams and Siegel, 2001; Hart, 1995) belong to this category; 2) political theories, which concern the political power of corporations in society. The corporate constitutionalism approach to CSR (Davis, 1960) and Corporate Citizenship (as in Hemphill, 2004; Matten and Crane, 2005) are good examples of this group; 3) integrative theories whose emphasis is on the satisfaction of social demands, including the community obligation approach (Selznick, 1957), the social obligation approach (Jones, 1980; McGuire, 1963), CSP (Sethi, 1975; Wood, 1991), and the stakeholder approach (Freeman, 1984; Clarkson, 1995a); and 4) ethical theories, based on the ethical responsibilities of corporations to society, good examples being modern CSR paradigms (Hancock, 2005 Pettit, 2005), the normative approach (Smith, 2003; Epstein, 1987), CSR3 (Frederick, 1992), and the stewardship approach (Donaldson, 1990) (see table 2 for the evolution of CSR concepts).

Table 2.	Evolution of	CSR (	definitions

SOURCE	CONCEPT	FOCUS				
	Prior CSR					
Sheldon, 1924	"The cost of building the Kingdom of Heaven will not be found in the profit and loss accounts of industry, but in the record of every man's conscientious service."	Ethical management				
Barnard, 1938	Analysis of economic, legal, moral, social and physical aspects of the business environment.	Multiple aspects				
Simon, 1945	Organizations must be responsible to community values.	Community relationship				
	1950s: beginning of CSR					
<u>Bowen, 1953</u> Heald, 1957	"Corporate responsibilities as an obligation to pursue those policies, to make those decisions, or to follow those lines of action which are desirable in terms of the objectives and values of our society."	Social obligation				
Drucker, 1954	Management must consider impact of every business policy upon society.	Social obligation				
Selznick, 1957	Business contributes to maintenance of community stability.	Community obligation				
D. 1. 1000	1960s: definition expanding					
Davis, 1960	"Social responsibilities of businesses arise from the amount of social power that they have." (Garriga and Melé, 2004)	Corporate constitutionalis m				
Friedman, 1962	The social responsibility of business is to increase its profits.	The shareholder approach				
McGuire, 1963	"The corporation has not only economic and legal obligations but also certain responsibilities to society which extend beyond these obligations."	The societal approach				
Walton, 1967	"Social responsibility recognizes the intimacy of the relationships between the corporation and society and realizes that such relationships must be kept in mind by top managers as the corporation and the related groups pursue their respective goals."	Essential element of CR				
	1970s: definition proliferating					
Friedman, 1970	CSR is indicative of self-serving behaviour on the part of managers, and thus conflicts to shareholder benefit.	Agency theory				

Johnson, 1971	A socially responsible entrepreneur or manager is one who has a utility function of the second type, such that he is interested not only in his own well-being but also in that of the other members of the enterprise and that of his fellow citizens.	Utility maximization
Committee for Economic Development (CED), 1971	Three concentric circles.	Changing social contract between business and society
Sethi, 1975	'Social obligation', 'social responsibility' and 'social responsiveness'.	Corporate social performance (CSP)
Frederick, 1978	Refers to the capacity of a corporation to respond to social pressures. Emphasis on social response process.	Corporate social responsiveness
Barry, 1979	Business ethics is "the study of right and wrong, duty and obligation, moral norms, individual character, and responsibility – in the context of business."	Business ethics
Carroll, 1979	"Encompasses the economic, legal, ethical, and discretionary expectations that society has of organizations at a given point in time."	Pyramid of CSR
	1980s: complementary themes	
Jones, 1980	CSR as "the notion that corporations have an obligation to constituent groups in society other than shareholders and beyond that prescribed by law or union contract."	Social obligation
Freeman, 1984	Organizations are not only accountable to their shareholders, but should also balance the interests of their other stakeholders, who can influence or be influenced by organizational activities.	The stakeholder approach
Wartick and Cochran, 1985	They divided CSP into principles, processes and poli-cies: while social responsibility is a mere principle, social responsiveness is a more action-oriented process, and issues management is a policy.	CSP
Moser, 1986	CSR = f (Law, Intent, Salient Information, Efficiency)	CSP
Epstein, 1987	CSR relates primarily to achieving outcomes from organizational decisions concerning	Normative approach

Frederick, 1987	specific issues or problems which (by some normative standard) have beneficial rather than adverse effects on pertinent corporate stakeholders. The normative correctness of the products of corporate action has been the main focus of corporate social responsibility. Ethical-philosophical concept of CSR	CSR1
	1990s: alternative themes	
Fombrun and	Companies should consider CSR as an element	Strategic CSR
Shanley, 1990	of corporate strategy.	
Donaldson, 1990	There is a moral imperative for managers to "do	Stewardship
	the right thing," without regard financial	theory
	performance.	
Wood, 1991	"A business organisation's configuration of the principles of social responsibility, the process of social responsiveness, and policies, programs, and observable outcomes as they relate to the firm's societal relationships."	Revisited CSP
Carroll, 1991	"The CSR firm should strive to make a profit, obey the laws, be ethical, and be a good corporate citizen."	Revisited pyramid of CSR
Business for Social	"Achieving commercial success in ways that	Sustainability
Responsibility (BSR), 1992	honour ethical values and respect people, communities and the natural environment."	
Jennings and Zandbergen, 1995	"Institutions play an important role in shaping the consensus within a firm regarding the establishment of an 'ecologically sustainable' organisation." (Mcwilliams et al., 2006)	Institutional theory
Frederick, 1992	The action-oriented managerial concept of social responsiveness (CSR2); a normative element based on ethics and values (CSR3).	CSR2, CSR3,
Donaldson and Preston, 1995	Organizations are socially responsible to all stakeholder groups.	Stakeholder approach
Clarkson, 1995a	Corporate responsibility is in stakeholder groups instead of society as a whole, transferring CSR into business objectives is best undertaken using a stakeholder perspective.	Stakeholder approach
Jones, 1995	"Companies involved in repeated transactions with stakeholders on the basis of trust and cooperation are motivated to be honest, trustworthy and ethical."	Institutional theory
Hart, 1995	CSR can constitute a resource or capability that leads to sustained competencies.	Natural resource based view

Elkington, 1998	CSR through its social, economic, and	The triple
g.c,	environmental responsibilities.	bottom lines
Frederick, 1998	Corporate social religion	CSR4
Costin, 1999	CSR as the basic expectations of the company regarding initiatives that take the form of protection of public health, public safety, and the environment.	Initiative view
21st century: shifting from 'What' to 'How'		
Hemphill, 2004	Corporate citizenship involving "four faces," connoting the economic, legal, ethical, and discretionary components.	Corporate citizenship
Matten and Crane, 2005	"Corporate citizenship describes the role of the corporation in administering citizenship rights for individuals."	Corporate citizenship
Feddersen and Gilligan, 2001	Activists and NGOs can play an important role in reducing information asymmetry with respect to CSR on the part of consumers.	NGO activism
McWilliams and Siegel, 2001	"Present a supply/demand perspective on CSR, which implies that the ideal level of CSR may be determined through cost benefit analysis".	Resource- based perspectives
Baron, 2001	"The use of CSR to attract socially responsible consumers is referred to as strategic CSR, in the sense that firms provide a public good in conjunction with their marketing/business strategy." (Mcwilliams et al., 2006)	Strategic CSR
Göbbels, 2002	The word "responsibility" should be replaced by "accountability", since it causes similar problems to "social". This would imply a preference to use corporate societal accountability (CSA) as the contemporary term for CSR.	CSA
Prahalad and Hammond, 2002	Business strategies for the bottom of the economic pyramid.	Strategic CSR
Smith, 2003	The normative case, seeking motivations in the desire to do good; and the business case, which focuses on the notion of enlightened self-interest. The normative case suggests "why" and business case answers "how".	Normative and business cases
Waldman et al., 2004	Certain aspects of CEO leadership can affect the propensity of firms to engage in CSR. Companies run by intellectually stimulating CEOs do more strategic CSR than comparable firms.	Strategic leadership
Greenfield, 2004	A corporation is a legal construct and has only the two responsibilities bestowed by the law	Narrow vision of CSR

	creating it: making profits for owners and obeying relevant rules.	
Halme and Lovio, 2004	CSR includes economic, social, environmental and cultural responsibilities.	Cultural dimensions
Hancock, 2005 Pettit, 2005	"Corporations act intentionally via the intentional actions of their members and hence bear the duties and obligations of any good person or citizen, but on a corporate scale" aiming at "meeting a wider spectrum of expectations, as in protecting the environment, developing the community, conserving resources, and philanthropic giving." (Jamali and Mirshak, 2007)	Modern CSR paradigms
Lindfeldt and Törnroos, 2006	At corporate level, ethics includes issues on the sustainability of finances, the environment and society.	Sustainability
Meehan et al., 2006	Three elements are: ethical and social commitments, connections with partners in the value network, and consistency of behaviour over time to build trust.	3C-SR model

Source: Caroll, 1999; McWilliams et al. 2006; Garriga and Melé, 2004

The concept of CSR can be traced back to Sheldon (1924). The modern era of CSR began in the 1950s when Bowen, the father of CSR, initially defined it and emphasized the social obligations of modern enterprises (Bowen, 1953).

Caroll's "The pyramid of CSR", one of the most important CSR concepts, represents a hierarchy of four dimensions of responsibility: economic, legal, social, and philanthropic (Carroll, 1979, 1991). This includes multiple dimensions and incorporates various themes. Prioritising the economic dimension as an aspect of CSR may favour business practices (Visser, 2005), but its implicit hierarchy does not explain how these responsibilities are interwoven (Meehan et al., 2006).

The concept of "business ethics" is the interaction between ethics and business, which deals with moral standards and principles in business operations (Ferrell and Fraedrich, 1997). At the beginning, it was claimed that business ethics was just a new management fad which was not linked to the concept of CSR (Fisher, 2004), but business ethics and CSR were claimed to be closely interrelated immediately after (Joyner et al., 2002). Fisher (2004) summarised four theories concerning the relationship between CSR and business ethics: 1) CSR is ethics in an organisational context; 2) CSR focuses on the impact of business activity on society while business ethics is concerned with the conduct of this within organisations; 3) there is no connection between CSR and business ethics; and, 4) CSR has various dimensions, one of which is ethics.

The concept of "CSP" is "A business organisation's configuration of the principles of social responsibility, the process of social responsiveness, and policies, programs, and
observable outcomes as they relate to the firm's societal relationships" (Wood, 1991). It includes: 1) the institutional, organizational, and individual principles of CSR; 2) the processes of corporate social responsiveness, such as environmental assessment, stakeholder management, and issues management; 3) the outcomes of corporate behaviour (Melé, 2008). The major strength of this model is that it provides a coherent structure for assessing business and its relationship to society (Swanson, 1995). The weakness include the vagueness of the concept, and lack of integration between ethical normative aspects and business activity (Melé, 2008).

The "shareholder approach" defines the social responsibility of business as to increase its profits, the supreme goal being to increase the economic value of the firm for its shareholders (Friedman, 1962, 1970). The major strength of this theory is the efficacy of this model for creating wealth, but its narrow view of the human being lacks any measure of social issues, and its atomistic version of society is questionable (Grant, 1991; Melé, 2008).

Unlike the shareholder approach, the "stakeholder approach" emphasizes that organizations should not only be accountable to their shareholders but also balance the interests of their other stakeholders, who can influence or be influenced by organizational activities (Marrewijk, 2003). It considers stakeholder rights and their legitimate interests, and links ethical theory to managerial theory (Melé, 2008), but it cannot provide a sufficient and specific objective function for the corporation, and is primarily concerned with the distribution of final outputs (Marcoux, 2000).

The concept of "Corporate Citizenship (CC)" considers the role of corporations as social institutions administering citizenship rights and participating in social activities (Matten and Crane, 2005). The notion of CC is defined in the global scope, which fits in to the current business globalization and describes the clear role of business and its relationship to society. The major criticisms include its being a diffuse concept which contains many different topics and its dependence on managerial discretion and the philanthropic ideology (Melé, 2008).

The macro level concept of "Sustainable Development" (SD) seeks to "meet the needs of the present without compromising the ability of the future generation to meet their own needs" (World Commission on Environment and Development, 1987), and it integrates economic, social and environmental dimensions. SD is defined at multiple geographical levels, including interdependent sustainability elements. It focuses on collaboration, but is criticized for not being an objective and neutral concept (Visser et al., 2007).

It is widely recognised in the literature and discussion that responsible business covers three separate dimensions: economic, social, and environmental (see for example, Panapanaan et al., 2001; Andriof and Mcintosh, 2001; Niskala and Tarna, 2003; Marrewijk, 2003). This viewpoint in particular has been centralized in the concept of the "Triple Bottom Line" (TBL), which suggests that to be truly successful, companies need to pay attention to three bottom lines: 1) Responsibility for economic success (profit), 2) Responsibility for the environment (the planet) and 3) Responsibility for society (people) (Elkington, 1998; Marrewijk, 2003).

Within this paradigm, business organizations were principally regarded as economic entities responsible for providing products and services to meet social needs and making an acceptable profit (Carroll, 1979). Economic responsibility typically meant the profitability and competitiveness of the company, as well as the socio-economic impact of its business.

There is a dramatic increase in the environmental consciousness and the concerns on the effects of business activities on natural resources. Environmental responsibility becomes the most critical dimension of TBL in the sense of meeting the needs of the corporation and society without compromising the environment. Environmental responsibility highlights issues such as emissions, waste, energy use, and product life-cycle.

Corporations do not operate apart from the society we live in, and business behaviour has many direct and indirect impacts on society. Social responsibility pertains to fair and beneficial business behaviour toward those involved people, such as employees, the community, and the region. There is a reciprocal social structure under the social responsibility dimension in which the well-being of the corporate, labour and other stakeholders are interdependent (Elkington, 1998). Social responsibility covers human rights, employee welfare, and community concern and product safety (Andriof & Mcintosh, 2001; Niskala and Tarna, 2003).

In summary, the term CSR is viewed as an umbrella concept which covers all the concepts related to sustainable, responsible, and ethical business behaviour. In the context of this dissertation, the term CSR is based on the principles of TBL, which encompass all three dimensions of responsible business behaviour.

# 4.2.2. The effects of cultures on CSR views

Plenty of studies find that there are very different CSR constructions and conceptual understandings in different social and cultural backgrounds (see, e.g., Welford, 2005; Boxenbaum, 2006). The general definitions and views on CSR vary to some extent, between Europe and North America particularly (Palazzo, 2002; Matten & Moon, 2004; Halme & Lovio, 2004). According to Matten & Moon (2004), the North American concept of CSR represents the "original" context of the phenomenon by emphasising its philanthropic aspects. In Europe and especially the Scandinavian countries, however, the concept of CSR is more focused on actual company operations (Halme & Lovio, 2004).

Differences in views of CSR derive from both institutional environments and social value bases. According to Matten & Moon (2004), companies in North America typically address issues of responsibility explicitly in corporate policies, programmes and strategies, whereas in Europe the responsibility for such issues is more implicit in the formal or informal institutional business environment.

Matten & Moon suggest that the strong explicit flagging of CSR may generally occur in countries with weak social embedding of the economy, as in the USA. For example, in Europe, the philanthropic issues are typically not implemented via discretionary acts of companies, as in the USA, but are made compulsory via the legal framework; for instance, in the form of corporate taxation. Since income and corporate taxes are generally higher in Europe than in the USA, the philanthropic issues in the European context are mainly considered as tasks for the government, not corporations (Crane & Matten, 2004).

Matten & Moon's theory on explicit and implicit CSR is supported by general differences in the social value base which is defined in Hofstede's cultural typology. Several scholars (e.g., Lodge et al., 1987; Maignan et al., 2003) have stated that the social

value base in North America is mainly characterised by individualism. Individualistic societies emphasise short-term self-interest, and each social actor is expected to see to his own survival and well-being (Maignan and Ferrell, 2003). Furthermore, individualistic societies are generally characterised by a universalistic view of ethics in which people are equal and deserve the same rights (Palazzo, 2002). According to Jackson (2000), a high level of individualism and universalism in US society is likely to lead to a need to regulate individual behaviour in an explicit way. As a consequence, codes of ethics are more common in the US than in Europe, making American business ethics often seem rather legalistic (Palazzo 2002).

Unlike the US, the European value base is more communitarian by nature. Such values underline the needs of the community and the benefits of consensus (Lodge, 1987; Maignan and Ferrell, 2003). In more communitarian societies, ethical decisions are typically made on the basis of shared values, which are bound into a network of social obligations and relationships (Palazzo, 2002). Consequently, European CSR is more driven by society-wide shared views on CSR, and less by company-specific codes of ethics.

Recent studies have provided information on the impact of collectivistic and individualistic value dimensions on views of CSR. For example, collectivistic values appear to be consistent with concerns regarding both environmental and social justice. Values relevant to "pro-green" attitudes mainly concentrated on collectivistic value domains, whereas values relevant to "non-green" attitudes concentrated on individualistic value domains (Puohiniemi, 1995). Puohiniemi's findings were supported by Schultz and Zelezny (1999), who found that individuals with a more collectivistic value background are more likely to define themselves as part of nature, and thus reflect a greater degree of environmental concern. Similarly, previous research has shown that individuals with harder values are likely to be less concerned about environmental issues and less likely to take action on such issues (Fukukawa et al., 2007). Maignan (2001) identified a similar phenomenon with regard to social issues, pointing out that individuals with more collectivistic values were mostly concerned about business conforming to social norms, not about its economic performance.

Among more collectivistic cultures, individuals are typically embedded within a network of social relationships that must be maintained by adjusting to the dynamic needs of the group and its members (Kitayama et al., 1997). Some researchers have pointed out that collectivistic values correspond with the stakeholder views, highlighting for example the welfare of people and the employee morality of companies (Axinn et al., 2004; Shafer et al., 2007). Similar studies have also suggested that individuals with collectivistic values do not undervalue shareholder views either, although the theoretical constructs of the collectivistic value domain would predict this. However, the interrelationships between personal values and the perceived role of business has remained a little understood issue in academia so far.

To summarize, the effects of cultural values on various CSR views motivates the comparative descriptive study of CSR issues in this dissertation, as well as a normative study of the CSR concept based on specific cultural considerations.

### 4.3. The stakeholder

## 4.3.1. The evolution of the concepts of the stakeholder

A central issue in CSR is the question of "to whom a business is primarily responsible" (Axinn et al., 2004). The stakeholder theory, a managerial theory which explains the relationship between society and business (Freeman, 1984), and connects business and ethics (Visser et al., 2007), has provided perfect answers. The stakeholder theory has been designed to solve the following problems: 1) That of value creation and trade; 2) The ethics of capitalism; 3) The managerial mindset (Freeman et al., 2010).

The stakeholder concept can be traced back to the internal memorandum of the Stanford Research Institute in 1963 (Visser et al., 2007), and was fleshed out by R. Edward Freeman, who published the landmark book Strategic Management: A Stakeholder Approach in 1984 (Crane et al., 2008). Since then, numerous scholars have made contributions to the development of stakeholder theory, and three types have been widely discussed: descriptive/empirical, instrumental, and normative. The descriptive/empirical stakeholder theory has been used to describe and explain specific corporate characteristics and behaviour (Donaldson & Preston, 1995). Scholars such as Brenner & Cochran (1991) and Clarkson (1991) have applied this theory in their research. The instrumental stakeholder theory offers a framework permitting identification of the connections (or lack of them) between stakeholder management and the achievement of corporate performance goals (Donaldson & Preston, 1995). Scholars such as Jones (1995), Berman et al., (1999), and Jones & Wicks (1999) have advanced this approach. Normative stakeholder theory is an ethics based theory offering the identification of moral or philosophical guidelines for corporate functions (see, for example, Donaldson & Preston, 1995; Phillips, 1997; Clarkson, 1995b; Donaldson & Dunfee, 1994). According to this approach, corporations are morally required to consider the interests of all their stakeholders. The following table adumbrates the major stakeholder definitions.

SOURCE	CONCEPT	FOCUS			
	Early unclarity in stakeholder definition				
The Stanford research Institute, 1963	"Those groups without whose support the organization would cease to exist." (Freeman and Reed, 1983)	power dependence: stakeholder dominant			
Rhenman, 1964	Those who "are depending on the firm in order to achieve their personal goals and on whom the firm is depending for its existence." (Mitchell et al., 1997)	Power dependence: mutual power			
Ansoff, 1965	Objectives of the firm should be derived balancing the conflicting claims of the various "stakeholders" in the firm: managers, workers, stockholders, suppliers, vendors	Objective stakeholder theory			
Ahlstedt & Jahnukainen, 1971	Those who "are driven by their own interests and goals are participants in a firm, and thus depending on it and on whom for its sake the firm is depending."	Power dependence: mutual power			
Dill, 1975	The move today is from stakeholder influence toward stakeholder participation.	stakeholder relationship			
Mitroff et al., 1979	"In contrast to stockholder analysis, stakeholder analysis asks a manager to consider all the parties who will be affected by or who affect an important decision. It asks the manager to list as many parties or interest groups as he or she can who have a stake in the policy under consideration."	stakeholder analysis			
Jones, 1980	"The notion that corporations have an obligation to constituent groups in society other than stockholders and beyond that prescribed by law or union contract, indicating that a stake may go beyond mere ownership."	Stake			
Freeman & Reed, 1983	Those who "can affect the achievement of an organization's objectives or who is affected by the achievement of an organization's objectives."	Power dependence: firm dominant			
1980s: beginning of stakeholder concept					
Freeman, 1984	"Any group or individual who can affect or is affected by the achievement of the organization's objectives."	a broad definition, power dependence			
Freeman & Gilbert, 1987	The stakeholder has power over the firm, can affect or is affected by a business.	Power dependence:			

Table 3. Evolution of stakeholder definition and the development of stakeholder theory

		stakeholder
		dominant
Cornell & Shapiro, 1987	"Claimants" who have "contracts".	Legitimacy of relationship: contractual relationship
Evan & Freeman, 1988	Those who "have a stake in or claim on the firm", "benefit from or are harmed by, and whose rights are violated or respected by, corporate actions."	Legitimacy of relationship: claim
Bowie, 1988	"Without whose support the organization would cease to exist."	Power dependence: stakeholder dominant
Alkhafaji, 1989	"Groups to whom the corporation is responsible"; the stakeholder has a claim on the firm.	Legitimacy of relationship
Carroll, 1989	An individual or group that "asserts to have one or more of these kinds of stakes", "ranging from an interest to a right (legal or moral) to ownership or legal title to the company's assets or property."	Stakeholder interests
	1990s: The flourishing concept of stakeholder	
Freeman & Evan, 1990	Contract holders	Legitimacy of relationship: contractual relationship
Thompson et al., 1991	Stakeholder groups in "relationship with an organization."	Relationship exists
Savage et al., 1991	Those who "have an interest in the actions of an organization and have the ability to influence it."	claimants vs influencers
Brenner & Cochran, 1991	"The stakeholder theory of the firm posits that the nature of an organization's stakeholders, their values, their relative influences on decisions and the nature of the situation and all relevant information for predicting organizational behaviour."	Descriptive stakeholder theory
Hill & Jones, 1992	"Constituents who have a legitimate claim on the firm established through the existence of an exchange relationship" who supply "the firm with critical resources (contributions) and in exchange each expects its interests to be satisfied (by inducements)".	Legitimacy of relationship: contractual relationship

	"An individual on many that assume the t	Deuver
Carroll, 1993	"An individual or group that asserts to have	Power
	one or more of the kinds of stakes in	dependence:
	business", "may be affected or affect"	stakeholder
		dominant
Brenner, 1993	"Having some legitimate, non-trivial	Relationship
	relationship with an organization [such as]	exists
	exchange transactions, action impacts, and	
	moral responsibilities."	
Clarkson, 1994	"Voluntary stakeholders bear some form of	Legitimacy of
	risk as a result of having invested some form	relationship: risk-
	of capital, human or financial, something of	taking
	value, in a firm", " Involuntary stakeholders are	Ũ
	placed at risk as a result of a firm's activities".	
Freeman, 1994	Stakeholder participants in "the human	Relationship
,	process of joint value creation".	exists
Wicks et al., 1994	Stakeholders "interact with and give meaning	Relationship
,	and definition to the corporation".	exists
Langtry, 1994	The firm is significantly responsible for the	Power
Languy, roor	stakeholders' well-being, or stakeholders hold	dependence: firm
	a moral or legal claim on the firm.	dominant
Starik, 1993	Those who "can and are making their actual	claimants vs
Starik, 1995	stakes known", "are or might be influenced by,	influencers
	or are or potentially are influencers of, some	IIIIIueiiceis
	organization".	
Brenner, 1995	"Those who are or which could impact or be	claimants vs
Dienner, 1995	impacted by the firm/organization."	influencers
Clarkson, 1995b		Legitimacy of
Clarkson, 19950	Those who "have, or claim, ownership, rights, or interests in a corporation and its activities."	relationship: claim
Nia: 1005	·	-
Näsi, 1995	"Those who interact with the firm and thus	Power
	make its operation possible."	dependence:
		stakeholder
		dominant
Jones, 1995	If firms contract with their stakeholders on the	Instrumental
	basis of mutual trust and cooperation, they will	stakeholder
	have a competitive advantage over firms that	theory
	do not.	
Donaldson &	Those who "identified through the actual or	Legitimacy of
Preston, 1995	potential harms and benefits that they	relationship: claim
	experience or anticipate experiencing as a	
	result of the firm's actions or inactions."	
Phillips, 1997	Competing stakeholder claims, stakeholder	Normative
	identification and the duty of fair play.	approach:
		fairness
Donaldson and	"Relevant socio-political communities are a	Legitimacy of

<b>D</b> ( ) ( ) ( )		
Dunfee, 1999	primary source of guidance concerning the	relationship
	stakeholder obligations of organizations	
	formed or operating within their boundaries".	
Berman et al.,	Use stakeholder management theory to study	Instrumental
1999	corporate performance.	approach
Jones and Wicks,	"The convergent stakeholder theory is	Convergent
1999,	explicitly and unabashedly normative,	stakeholder
	demonstrating how managers can create	theory
	morally sound approaches to business".	
Greasley, 1999	Internal stakeholders, connected stakeholders	Stakeholder
	and external stakeholders.	identification
21st c	entury: further development of stakeholder the	heorv
Jenson, 2002	Normative	
	"Enlightened stakeholder theory adds the simple specification that the objective function	approach:
	of the firm is to maximize total long-term firm	teleological
	value"	toloological
Andriof et al., 2002	Emphasise the importance of engaging	Power
	stakeholders in long-term value creation.	dependence:
		Mutual
Andriof and	The emphasis is moved from a focus on	Stakeholder
Waddock, 2002	stakeholders to the relationship with	relationship
Waddock, 2002	stakeholders.	relationship
Freeman, 2002	Stakeholder theory argues for redistributing	Power
1100111011, 2002	benefits to stakeholders (from shareholders to	dependence.
	stakeholders) and redistributing important	
	decision-making power to stakeholders.	
Kaler, 2002	Dividing definitions of stakeholders into	Legitimacy of
14101, 2002	"claimant" definitions and "influencer"	relationship:
	definitions, can greatly clarify the moral duties	morality
	of the organisation.	morality
Post et al., 2002	Corporations operating at the centre of a	Power
	network of interrelated stakeholders that	dependence
	create, sustain and enhance value-creating	aop 0110.0100
	capacity.	
Freeman and	Individuals with rights and reason engage	Normative
phillips, 2002	voluntarily in agreements.	approach:
F		libertarianism
Phillips 2003	A theory of organisational management and	Normative
1 1111100 2000	ethics.	approach
Johnson-Cramer,	"The essence of stakeholder dialogue is the	Stakeholder
et al., 2003	co-creation of shared understanding by	dialogue
ot all, 2000	company and stakeholder".	alaloguo
Beekun & Badawi,	"Stakeholder theory focuses on what an	Power
2005	-	dependence: firm
2003	organization owes to the various	dependence. Inm

	constituencies that it is dependent on for its success".	dominant
Visser et al., 2007	"Ethics and value questions are at the core of managing for stakeholders", "stakeholder theory places concerns for ethics at the heart of capitalism".	Normative approach
Freeman et al., 2010	stakeholder capitalism is "based on freedom, rights, and the creation by consent of positive obligations." The principles of stakeholder cooperation, stakeholder engagement, stakeholder responsibility, complexity, continuous creation, emergent competition are included in this approach.	stakeholder capitalism
Freeman et al., 2010	This company stakeholder responsibility approach looks at business and society as intertwined, and it looks not just at corporations, but at many different forms of organizations, and promotes a pragmatic focus on managing the relations with all the organization's stakeholders as a primary task for success.	company stakeholder responsibility

Main source: Mitchell et al., 1997; Freeman et al., 2010.

The central questions of stakeholder theory are: what are these groups? How many of these groups must be served? Which of their interests must be served? Which of their interests are most important? How can their interests be balanced? How much corporate money should be allotted to serve these interests (Jones, 1980)? Early stakeholder definitions hardly embodied all these questions. For example, the stakeholder definitions articulated by Ahlstedt & Jahnukainen (1971), Cornell & Shapiro (1987), and Alkhafaji (1989) dealt mainly with one question—what are these groups?

Mitchell et al. (1997) sorted the stakeholder definitions into two different views: broad and narrow. The broad views focus on the power wielded by stakeholders, which influences the ability of the firm to achieve its objectives (Dunfee, 2008). The narrow views focus on the legitimacy of the stakeholders' claims. For example, Freeman (1984) suggested one of the broadest stakeholder definitions: "any group or individual who can affect or is affected by the achievement of the organization's objectives." The focus of this definition is on the power. Many other definitions fall into this category, such as Rhenman (1964), Freeman & Reed (1983), Carroll (1993), Bowie (1988), and Beekun & Badawi (2005). Stakeholders are also narrowly defined as voluntary or involuntary risk-bearers (Clarkson, 1994), which emphasises the legitimacy claims of risk bearing. There are also other narrow definitions of stakeholders, like those in Cornell & Shapiro (1987), Evan & Freeman (1988), Hill & Jones (1992), Donaldson & Preston (1995), and Kaler (2002).

Savage et al. (1991) categorized stakeholders based on two attributes: a claim and the ability to influence a firm (claimants vs influencers). Starik (1993), and Brenner (1995) formulated similar definitions of stakeholders.

Some definitions emphasised the stakeholder relationships with a power-dependence frame. For example, Thomposon et al. (1991), Brenner (1993), Freeman (1994), and Wicks et al. (1994) emphasised the existence of a relationship between stakeholders and the firm. Stanford memo (1963), Freeman & Reed (1983), Bowie (1988), Carroll (1993), and Näsi (1995) focused on the dominant stakeholder relationship. In contrast, Langtry (1994), Freeman & Reed (1983), and Beekun & Badawi (2005) considered on the stakeholder's dependence on the firm (firm dominant relationship). In addition, some studies such as Rhenman (1964), Ahlstedt & Jahnukainen (1971), and Andriof et al. (2002) have identified the mutual dependence between the firm and stakeholders.

Identification and prioritization of stakeholders is the central issue in stakeholder management (Parent & Deephouse, 2007, Clarkson, 1995; Donaldson & Preston, 1995). Stakeholders can be classified according to various criteria such as internal, connected or external (Mikkila et al., 2005; Sirgy, 2002), voluntary or involuntary (Clarkson, 1995), primary or secondary (Carroll, 1979), strategic or moral (Goodpaster, 1991), and power, legitimacy and urgency (Mitchell et al., 1997).

One of the most important stakeholder definitions was provided by Mitchell et al. (1997), which suggests that a stakeholder can be categorized by the following attributes: power, legitimacy, and urgency. Power is the ability of stakeholders to influence the firm (Parent & Deephouse, 2007). "A legitimate stakeholder is one whose actions and claims are seen as appropriate, proper, and desirable in the context of the social system (Suchman, 1995; Parent & Deephouse, 2007). Urgency is the degree of the stakeholder's claim (Mitchell et al., 1997).

The lack of a universally accepted concept of stakeholder led to the diversity of interpretations of stakeholder theory and generated heated debate in the academies and business. The following table summarizes some major strengths and weaknesses of the stakeholder theory discussed in the recent literature.

Table 4. Strength and weakness of the stakeholder theory

#### Strength

- Maximizing shareholder value by taking into consideration stakeholder rights and their legitimate interests Melé (2008).
- "Stakeholder theory superseded the conceptual vagueness of CSR by addressing concrete interests and practices and visualizing specific responsibilities to specific groups of people affected by business activity." (Clarkson, 1995)
- "Stakeholder theory is not a mere ethical theory disconnected from business management, but a managerial theory related to business success." (Melé, 2008)
- A theory about how business works at its best, and how it could work (Melé, 2008).
- Descriptive, prescriptive, and instrumental at the same time (Fassin, 2009)
- Involves a basically reformist stance toward capitalism, with greater equity and a less single-minded concentration on the owner's interests (Evan and Freeman, 1993).

# Weakness

- Vagueness and ambiguity: admitting different interpretations (narrow and broad). For example, Hall and Vredenburg (2005) argued that "stakeholder ambiguity is difficult to manage because it is idiosyncratic and context-specific'. Stakeholder theory has no solid basis in either the economic theory of the corporation (Key, 1999) or traditional ethical theories (Dunn, 1990; Dunn and Brady, 1995). Donaldson (1989) has claimed that stakeholder theory fails to make reference to a normative justificatory framework. Further, there are some fundamental inconsistencies between some definitions and the graphical representation of the model (Fassin, 2009).
- Providing no specific objective function for business and managers. For example, Jensen (2000) argued that stakeholder theory cannot provide a sufficiently specific objective function for business because it lacks an objective basis for evaluating business actions, and can be used as an excuse for managerial opportunism. Melé (2008) points out the difficulty of justifying and implementing stakeholder representation in corporate decision-making. Marcoux (2000) claimed that managers may bear a fiduciary duty to all stakeholders and treat them equally.
- No clear definitions of various stakeholders. For example, Argenti (1993) argued that stakeholder theory does not speaking "who qualifies as a stakeholder, nor what the qualifications are". Phillips & Reichart (2000) claimed the problem of stakeholder identity. Fassin (2009) point out the intrinsic flexibility of stakeholder theory and the mixing of two interpretations: legal interpretation and a managerial approach. Waxenberger and Spence (2003) argued a lack of clarity and consistency in the definition of a stakeholder, and indeed of a stake. Mitchell et al., (1997) questioned how managers can or should recognize and respond effectively to people, groups, institutions, organizations, societies and even the natural environment in a way that does justice to their (respons)abilities.
- Concentrates on the group level but does not reflect sufficiently at multi-stakeholder level (Liedtka, 1996; Roloff, 2008).
- No rigorous application of the managerial, organisational and strategic issues. Wolfe and Putler (2002) argued there is insufficient rigour in applying the framework to managerial, organisational and strategic issues. Frooman (1999) blamed the confusion on the implications for management and governance.

Regardless of this diverse discussion on stakeholder theory, it offers a theoretically and practically useful framework for studying and evaluating CSR which meets the needs of this dissertation. In this context, the definition of stakeholder is based on the work of Mitchell et al. (1997), which identifies stakeholders as having three attributes: power, legitimacy, and urgency. These attributes affect not only corporate involvement of stakeholders in their CSR programmes, but also their perceptions of CSR performance. This dissertation assesses CSR performance from the perspectives of stakeholders who are classified by these attributes. More detailed explanation can be found in the next chapter.

# 4.3.2. Stakeholder theory and CSR

It is not enough to focus on what the corporations are responsible for in CSR, but also to whom they are responsible. According to Bowen (1953), who has terminologically formalized the CSR concept, CSR is a social obligation and follows the objectives and values of society. The societal approach of CSR argues that corporations have not only economic and legal obligations, but also particular responsibilities to society, and are responsible to society as a whole (Davis, 1960; Carroll, 1979; Leitão and Silva, 2007). Clarkson specified that corporate responsibility resides in stakeholder groups instead of society as a whole (Clarkson 1995). Maignan et al. (2005) made it clear that individual businesses can be deemed responsible only to stakeholders. Stakeholder theory defines the objective of the corporations as being to satisfy both economic and non-economic demands from various stakeholders (Pirsch et al., 2007). In a broad context, stakeholder theory provides a normative framework to link business and society and can be considered as the CSR theory normally accepted as the stakeholder approach to CSR (Crane, 2008).

The concepts of stakeholder and CSR are closely linked to each other (Pirsch et al., 2007). Nowadays, stakeholder theory is the most common framework for conceptualizing and understanding issues concerning CSR (see, e.g., Winjberg 2000; Wood 1991; Egels-Zandén and Sandberg, 2010). Stakeholder theory is a complementary rather than conflicting body of literature, which is considered as a necessary process in the operationalisation of CSR (Matten et al., 2003). CSR reflects the fundamental premises of stakeholder theory (Hu and Wang, 2007). The stakeholder concept has been utilized as an important driver explaining corporate involvement in CSR (see Argandona, 1998; Post, 2003). Stakeholder theory "asserts that business can be understood as a set of relationships among groups which have a stake in the activities of that business" (Visser et al., 2007). Corporations should be motivated not only to pursue profit maximization, but other multiple objectives as well (Pirsch et al., 2007; Friedman, 1970); in other words, to manage and coordinate the various competitive and cooperative demands of stakeholders (Ruf et al., 2001; Freeman, 1984).

Stakeholder theory and CSR activity have been integrated (Ullmann, 1985; Pirsch et al., 2007). Functionally, stakeholder theory is essentially a way of making capitalism more equitable in serving non-shareholder interests, and a way of understanding CSR (Kaler, 2006). For example, Barnett argues that "heterogeneity in the CSP–CFP link arises from differences in a firm's stakeholder influence capacity – or its ability to identify, act on, and profit from opportunities to improve stakeholder relationships through CSR" (Barnett, 2007). The influence of stakeholder theory in a CSR program can be classified according to

the three types of stakeholder theory which have been described in the previous section. The normative stakeholder theory suggests a comprehensive, multidimensional CSR program which treats all the stakeholders of the company equally; the instrumental stakeholder theory leads to a CSR program emphasizing the economic performance and benefits of its shareholders; the descriptive stakeholder theory emphasizes upholding stakeholder interests, corporate image and corporate behaviour, thus leading to a CSR program in accordance with shared stakeholder expectations (Pirsch et al., 2007; Jamali, 2008).

The degree to which a corporation considers each stakeholder group in the CSR program depends in practice on the urgency of the claim, the power, and legitimacy of the stakeholders concerned (Mitchell et al., 1997, Ferrary, 2009). Corporations usually prioritize CSR activities to respond to time-sensitive and critical issues raised by particular stakeholders, such as environmental or product quality disasters. Legitimacy refers to the contribution which stakeholder group is vital for the company's existence, of course the company will consider more of their interests in the CSR program. The power dependence relationship indicates that if a stakeholder group has significant power and influence over the firm, the company may be forced to align their CSR program to the wish of that particular stakeholder group (Pirsch, 2007).

In the CSR studies, stakeholder theory offers a useful basis for collecting and analysing CSR data, and serves as a framework for empirical studies (Jamali, 2008). Stakeholder theory suggests that CSR issues involve all the stakeholders (Bird et al., 2007), managing divergent and conflicting interests among them (see Cespa and Cestone, 2007; Riordan and Fairbrass, 2008). Various elements of corporate CSR performances target different stakeholder groups (Pirsch et al., 2007; Putten, 2005) and the result of their CSR performance is constantly reassessed by different stakeholders (Riordan et al., 1997). Thus stakeholder theory offers a theoretically and practically useful framework for studying and evaluating CSR (Lämsä et al., 2008). Numerous scholars have applied the stakeholder approach to running their empirical studies, such as Clarkson (1995), Prisch et al. (2007), Laan et al. (2008), Jamali (2008), and Ferrary (2009).

Finally, I would like to use Freeman et al. (2010)'s new approach to CSR—"company stakeholder responsibility" to explain the relationship between CSR and stakeholders. "It looks at business and society as intertwined, and it looks not just at corporations, but at many different forms of organizations, and promotes a pragmatic focus on managing the relations with all the organization's stakeholders as a primary task for success. This requires a detailed understanding of to whom exactly a firm is responsible and the nature of those responsibilities. Firms address these questions in a variety of ways, but each time they need the language of stakeholders to get to a more actionable level of specificity." The primary task of CSR is responsible for all stakeholders concerned.

### 4.4. The theoretical framework and summarized hypotheses

A wide range of studies have revealed variation in the value priorities of individuals within societies as well as groups across nations. (e.g., Schwartz & Bardi, 2001; Myyry &

Helkama, 2001; Lindeman & Verkasalo, 2005). In this context, the intra-groups in societies are separated on the basis of factors such as gender, age, study major and political direction. The differences in personal values priorities are relevant in CSR related research because, as above stated, personal values impact the individual's perceptions of business ethics. However, it is notable that the personal values do not necessarily fully correspond with the underlying cultural values in society. Schwartz (1999), for example, separates individual values from culture-level values. According to Schwartz, cultural values implicitly or explicitly represent shared views about what is good, right and desirable in society, and serve as a basis for the specific norms in various situations. Furthermore, "individual values priorities are a product both of shared culture and of unique personal experience" (Schwartz, 1999). In other words, within larger cultural groups personal values are built upon cultural values constructs and the unique experiences and personalities of different individuals. The theoretical framework of the dissertation is the follows (figure 3).

The theoretical frame of this dissertation (Figure 3) consists of three main blocks. The first element, the background, refers to the respondents' personal characteristics such as home country, gender, and stakeholder group. These characteristics are reflected in the respondents' perceptions of CSR both directly and through values.

There are many studies examining the relationship between values, ethical attitudes, and various personal socio-demographic factors, but the outcomes are mixed and no consensus has been achieved concerning the effect of these personal factors (Lam and Shi, 2008). In this dissertation, I select gender, study major, study year level, country of origin, and stakeholder group as the personal factors, and analyse the effect of these factors on personal values, and individual perceptions of CSR. The reason for choosing these factors is that they are the most widely discussed in previous studies.



Figure 3. The theoretical framework for the empirical studies

O'Fallon and Butterfield (2005) have reviewed 174 empirical ethical decision-making publications from 1996-2003, concluding that often no difference is found between males and females, but when differences are found, females are more ethical than males. Arlow (1991), Deshpande (1997), and Ford and Richardson (1994) identified gender as a significant factor for ethical value and attitudes, females being generally more ethical than males. According to Ruegger and King (1992), Ameen et al. (1996), Borkowski and Ugras (1998), Paul et al. (1997), Burton and Hegarty (1999), Okleshen and Hoyt (1996), Chonko and Hunt (1985), females were more sensitive to and less tolerant of unethical subjects than males. Based on these findings, I hypothesized that females represent more ethical values than males, and have a more negative perception of CSR (H3/AII, H4/AII, and H4/AIV).

Recent empirical findings have suggested that the students' major study was significantly affected by individual ethical values and attitudes (see Chonko and Hunt, 1985, and Giacomino and Akers, 1998). Borkowski and Ugras (1998) have reviewed 30 studies, identifying 6 which show that there is a significant difference between study major and ethical behaviour. According to Sankaran and Bui (2003), students from non-business majors tend to be more ethical than business majors. Hawkins and Cocanougher (1972) found that business majors were more tolerant in evaluating the ethics of business practices. Lindeman and Verkasalo (2005) found that students from business and technology majors displayed more individualistic and hard values such as power than other students. Based on these findings, I hypothesized that ecology students represent more ethical values than business and technology students, and have a more negative perception of CSR (H5/AII, H6/AII, and H5/IV).

With regard to level of education, Sankaran and Bui (2003) have concluded that the older an individual becomes, the less ethical he or she is. The main explanation is that the older one becomes, the more one is involved in working positions and social relationships, and thus may make calculated ethical compromises to maintain relationships and business benefits. Wimalasiri et al. (1996) have found that there were significant differences in the investigation of individual ethicality among levels of education. With the increase in one's life experience, there is a change in the awareness and interpretation of the social world and one's place in it.

Empirical research by Tse and Au (1997), Borkowski and Ugras, (1992), and Terpstra et al. (1993) found that senior students were less ethical than junior students. One argument is that moral character is formed early in life, but may be changed by life experience such as education and work experience, and become more utilitarian (Tse and Au, 1997). Borkowski and Ugras (1992) provided the comparable explanation that freshmen and juniors are more justice-oriented as a result of idealism, and experience from their employment makes seniors more utilitarian. In particular, Elias (2004) has found that younger students were more sensitive to CSR. Based on above assumptions, I hypothesized that junior students represent more ethical values and have a more negative perception of CSR than senior students (H7/AII and H6/AII).

With regard to the country of origin, as was explained in the introduction (chapter 1.3.) and the theoretical chapter (chapter 4.2.2.), previous cross country/culture studies found that different countries/cultures have various value priorities which result in different views

of CSR (see, for example, Shafer et al., 2007; Whitcomb et al., 1998; Burton et al., 2000; Welford, 2005; Scholtens and Lammertjan, 2007; Alas, 2006; Smith and Hume, 2005; Maignan and Ferrell, 2000). For example, the US is characterised by individualism values and represents an explicit view of CSR, where Finland is characterised by more collectivism values and displays an implicit view of CSR. (Matten & Moon, 2004). Thus I hypothesised that Finnish students represented more collectivist/soft values than US students, and Finnish students emphasised multiple responsibilities more while US students emphasised a shareholder orientation more (H1/AIV, H2/AIV, H3/AIV, Hi/AV, H2/AV, and H3/AV).

Another personal factor in the first element is stakeholder groups, which requires identification of different stakeholders. In article III, I mainly focused on the following multiple sets of stakeholders: owners/shareholders, customers, employees, governments, and the general public. Previous studies suggested that stakeholder group members share a common set of values which lead to stakeholder differentiation and conflicts over their ethical judgement (Freeman, 1984; Hosseini & Brenner, 1992; Cordano et al., 2004). For example, Mills et al. (2009) argued that individual personal values should construct the basis for organisational (group) values, and the same basic dynamic values structure which is active at the individual level values model is also active at the institutional (group) level. Thus, they assessed stakeholders' values based on Schwartz's theory of universal human values (Mills et al., 2009). Vugteveen et al. (2010) identified five value orientations of stakeholders within the context of integrated water management. Based on the same sort of assumption, I assess stakeholder's values on the basis of Schwartz's universal human values, and reveal the values differences among different stakeholder groups.

In the second element, two types of values variable, personal values and national cultural dimensions, are considered. Values are considered as an intervening element, acting as a driver which partly determines the respondents' perceptions of CSR. Hofstede's cultural dimensions (1980, 1991) are used to distinguish the differences between countries, and are important variables in running the ETIC part of the comparison studies (Steenkamp et al., 1999). The effects of cultures on the different views on CSR are thoroughly discussed in chapter 4.2.2. The same sort of assumption is discussed in the last paragraph.

Schwartz's value dimensions (1992) have been used to categorize the personal values of respondents, variables which are important for the comparison of the emic part of the dissertation. The effects of values on the perceptions of CSR are theoretically identified in chapter 4.1.1. For example, previous studies suggest that altruistic values make a significant positive contribution to ethical behaviour, and are associated with higher levels of moral awareness. In contrast, egoistic values are more likely to be involved with unethical and irresponsible behaviour, and are associated with lower levels of moral awareness (see VanSandt, 2003; Shafer et al., 2007). Based on these findings, I hypothesized that individuals who value self-transcendence values more have a more negative perception of CSR, while individuals who value openness values more also have a more negative perception. Individuals who value openness values more also have a more negative perception of CSR (H3/AI, H4/AI, H5/AI, H6/AI, H1/AII, H2/AII, H3/AIII, and H4/AIII).

In addition to values variables, stakeholder salience has been considered as an intervening element of the stakeholder study in article III. According to the theory of

Mitchell et al. (1997), corporations prioritize their stakeholders according to the attributes of power, legitimacy and urgency. There are ample empirical studies confirming this theory. For example, Jamali (2008) argued that corporations tend to prioritize their primary stakeholders in anticipation of expected bottom line benefits. An increase in the degree of any of these three attributes may lead to an increase in stakeholder salience (Neville et al., 2004, Jamali, 2008). Clarkson (1995) highlighted that firms are inclined to focus on their primary stakeholders. Research by Knox et al. (2005), and de Madariaga and Valor (2007) indicates that firms prioritize a small number of key stakeholders. It is logical to suggest that since corporations take better care of their prioritized stakeholders, who thus face less problems in CSR related issues than other stakeholders, they are more likely to perceive the CSR performance of corporations more positively. In contrast, stakeholders ignored by corporations should have more negative opinions. In this study, I will study the priorities of different stakeholders and their views on CSR. Thus I hypothesise that stakeholders who are more prioritized by the companies have more positive perceptions of their CSR performance that those less prioritized stakeholders. (H1/AIII and H2/AIII).

The third block covers the main elements of this dissertation, perceptions of CSR. As discussed in chapter 4.2.1., the term CSR used in this dissertation is based on the notion of TBL, which encompasses economic, environmental and social dimensions of CSR. Economic responsibility applies to profitability and responsibility to shareholders. Environmental responsibility refers to the relationship with the environment, covering issues such as emissions, waste, biodiversity, recycling, energy use and product life-cycle, etc. Social responsibility refers to the relationship with employees, the community, partners and competitors in the network and other stakeholders, and covers issues such as employee rights and welfare, charity, and relationships.

### 4.5. Hypotheses of the sub-studies

All the theoretical concepts discussed in the previous sections are the fundamental elements shaping the development of the hypotheses and are thus integral to the empirical studies. The structure of the hypotheses follows this theoretical framework (Table 5). The list below outlines the research hypotheses adopted in each separate sub-study of this dissertation.

Article I:

H1: Chinese youth display stronger self-enhancement values than self-transcendent values.

H2: Chinese youth display stronger openness values than conservation values.

H3: Chinese young people who value self-transcendence values more have a more negative perception of the CSR performance of Chinese corporations.

H4: Chinese young people who value self-enhancement values more have a more positive perception of the CSR performance of Chinese corporations.

H5: Chinese young people who value openness more have a more negative perception of the CSR performance of Chinese corporations.

H6: Chinese young people who value conservation more have a more positive perception of the CSR performance of Chinese corporations.

Article II:

H1: Chinese university students who embrace altruistic values more have a more negative perception of CSR performance.

H2: Chinese university students who embrace egoistic values more have a more positive perception of CSR performance.

H3: Female students represent more ethical values than male students.

H4: Female students have a more negative perception of the CSR performance of Chinese corporations.

H5: Ecology students represent more ethical values than business and technology students.

H6: Ecology students have a more negative perception of the CSR performance of Chinese corporations.

H7: Junior students represent more ethical values than senior students.

H8: Junior students have a more negative perception of the CSR performance of Chinese corporations.

## Article III:

H1: Stakeholders who have been more prioritized by the Chinese forest corporations have more positive perceptions of their CSR performance.

H2: Stakeholders who have been less prioritized by the Chinese forest corporations have more negative perceptions of their CSR performance.

H3. Stakeholders who value altruistic more have more negative perceptions of the CSR performance of Chinese forest corporations.

H4. Stakeholders who value egoistic more have more positive perceptions of the CSR performance of Chinese forest corporations.

Article IV:

H1: Finnish students are more likely to represent collectivistic/softer values than American students.

H2: US students are less concerned about the multiple responsibilities of the forest industry corporations than their Finnish counterparts.

H3: US students emphasise shareholder orientation in the forest industry business more than their Finnish counterparts.

H4: Male students represent harder values than female students, and thus have a more positive view on the current state of business ethics in forest industry operations.

H5: Business and technology students have harder values than other students, and thus have a more positive view on the current state of business ethics in forest industry operations.

Article V:

H1: Finnish students perceive reporting as being more reliable and open than do their US counterparts.

H2: Finnish students have more positive views regarding the way forest industry companies perform environmental responsibility than their US counterparts.

H3: US students have more positive views regarding the way forest industry companies perform social responsibility, especially those connected with stakeholder relations, than their Finnish counterparts.

The following table summarizes all the above hypotheses and demonstrates the formation of each hypothesis based on the relationship between demographic, intervening and dependent variables. All the hypotheses are placed in three categories vertically: descriptive empirical phenomena, comparative descriptive phenomena, and explanation of phenomena, corresponding to the descriptive research questions, comparative descriptive research questions, and explanatory research questions which are introduced in chapter 2.1. All the hypotheses are designed to answer specific research questions from these three categories. For example, H1/A1 and H2/A1 correspond to the descriptive research question "What are the preferred values of observed individuals?" as they mainly describe the values orientations of observed individuals ("self-enhancement values vs. self-transcendent values" and "openness values vs. conservation values"). H3/AII and H5/AII correspond to the comparative descriptive research question what are the differences in values between individuals with different socio-demographic factors?" as they compare the values of Chinese students by gender and majors.

Horizontally, this table illustrates the link of each hypothesis and the theoretical framework presented in chapter 4.4. The "demographic background" variable corresponds to the first element, "background", of the framework; the "personal values", "cultural values" and "stakeholder salience" variables correspond to the second element, "values/stakeholder salience", of the framework; the "perception of environmental reporting" and "perception of CSR performance" variables correspond to the third element, "perception of CSR", of the framework. For example, H4/AIV and H5/AIV correspond to the effects of demographic factors (the first element of the framework) on individual values (the second element of the framework) and perceptions of CSR (the third element of the framework).

	Variable sets							
Hypothesis	Demographic background	Personal values	Cultural values	Stakeholder salience	Perception of environmental reporting	Perception of CSR performance	Sample	
Descriptive e	empirical phenome	na						
H1/AI		self-enhancement values vs. self- transcendent values					S1	
H2/AI		openness values vs. conservation values					S1	
Comparative	descriptive pheno	omena						
H3/AII	Male vs. female	Female, more self-transcendent values					S1	
H4/All	Male vs. female					Female, more negative perception	S1	
H5/All	Study majors	Ecology, more self-transcendent values, Business & technology, more self- enhancement values					S1	
H6/AII	Study majors					Business & technology, more positive perception	S1	
H7/AII	Level of education	Junior, more self-transcendent values Senior, more self-enhancement values					S1	
H8/AII	Level of education					Junior, more negative perceptions	S1	
H1/AIII H2/AIII				Priority		More prioritized, more positive, less	S2	

# Table 5. Construction of hypotheses

					prioritized, more negative	
H1/AIV	FI vs. US		FI, more softer values. US, more harder values			S3, S4
H2/AIV, H3/AIV	FI vs. US				US, less concerned about multiple responsi- bilities. FI, stronger shareholder view	S3, S4
H1/AV	FI vs. US			FI, more reliable		S3, S4
H2/AV H3/AV	FI vs. US				FI, more positive view on environmental responsibility. US, more positive view on social responsibility	S3, S4
Explanation H3/AI, H1/AII H3/AIII	of phenomena	self-transcendent values			Negative perception	S1, S2

H4/AI, H2/AII		self-enhancement values			Positive perception	S1, S2
H4/AIII						
H5/AI		Openness values			Negative perception	S1
H6/AI		Conservation values			Positive perception	S1
H4/AIV	Gender		Harder values		Positive view	S3, S4
H5/AIV	Study major		Harder values		Positive view	S3, S4

A=article

S1=Chinese university students S3=Finnish university students S2= Chinese stakeholder S4=US university students

# 5. DATA AND ANALYSIS

#### 5.1. Research instruments

The instrument for measuring values is the Schwartz Values Questionnaire (SVQ) and the views expressed on creation of the common good. The SVQ is a widely-used scale for measuring personal values across various samples and cultures. The SVQ is the most favoured theory in explaining human values, providing a powerful instrument with which to study the values-behaviour theme. The personal values items of this study have been selected from the SVQ, which includes 56 universal values items categorized into ten value types and four value orientations (figure 4).



Self-enhancement

Source: Schwartz, 1992 Figure 4. The dimensions of values

According to Schwartz, self-transcendence includes the altruistic value types of universalism and benevolence. This dimension is close to the category of collectivist values introduced earlier in the academic literature. In contrast, self-enhancement, including the more egoistic values relating to personal power and achievement, is largely equivalent to the category of individualistic values. Openness is driven by individual motivation to follow one's own intellectual interests, whereas conservation indicates a need for the status quo and the certainty provided by close relationships (Schwartz, 1992, 1994; Fukukawa et al., 2007). Schwartz's categorisation of value types has been widely used in academia in cross-cultural studies (e.g., Schwartz and Bardi 2001; Shafer et al., 2007) and with regard to the concepts of CSR (e.g., Puohiniemi, 1995; Schultz et al., 2005; Siltaoja, 2006; Shafer et al., 2007; Fukukawa et al., 2007). In the context of this dissertation, the four value orientations extracted from Schwartz can be best utilized as clear motivational goals to explain individual behaviour related to CSR issues. My intensive literature reviews lead me to assume that self-transcendence and openness value orientations may induce more negative individual perception of CSR, while, self enhancement and conservation value orientations may result in more positive individual perception.

For example, self-transcendence values appear to be congruent with ethical behaviour because they involve basic ethical principles (Fritzsche and Oz, 2007). Universalism values such as justice, equality, and protecting the environment clearly inculcate ethical and responsible behaviour. Benevolence values such as honesty, loyalty, and responsibility reflect a moral orientation as well. By contrast, self-enhancement values include egoistic items such as obtaining wealth, authority, and choosing one's own goals, which have a selfish personality orientation (Shafer *et al.*, 2007). Self-enhancement values reflect strong personal interests with little or no regard for others, and thus are more likely to be involved with unethical and irresponsible behaviour (Steenhaut and Kenhove, 2007).

Recent empirical findings suggest that altruistic values (especially universalism and benevolence values) make a significant positive contribution to ethical decision-making and CSR, and are associated with higher levels of moral awareness, while egoistic values make a significant negative contribution to ethical decision-making and CSR, and are associated with lower levels of moral awareness (VanSandt, 2003; Shafer et al., 2007). Fritzsche and Oz (2007) have applied Schwartz's value dimensions to a study of value influence on ethical decision-making, finding that altruistic values are positively associated with ethical behaviour while self-enhancement values are negatively associated with ethical behaviour. Finegan (1994) found that individuals who valued self-transcendence more, such as a world of beauty, honesty, love, and responsibility, were more likely to perceive a given situation (or behaviour) as immoral. Feather (1995) argued that the resultant self-enhancement was congruent with an unethical disposition. These findings confirm that it is logical to suggest that individuals with more ethically inclined values such as self-transcendence might display a higher level of moral awareness and requirements for the CSR performance of corporations, and thus be more likely to perceive their CSR performance more negatively. Individuals with more self-enhancement values might have the reverse inclination.

Fukukawa (2007) claims that individuals with a conservation value orientation will prefer the status quo and are more likely to obey customs, traditions, and standards, and less likely to explore opportunities and paradigm changes because value items such as devotion, respect for tradition, and moderation impose disciplines and restraints on individuals. In

contrast, openness values including creativity, curiosity, and daring are consistent with supporting new paradigms. When thinking about CSR issues, individuals with a conservation value orientation are more likely to be limited by legislation, customs, and institutional regulation. These contexts often emphasize the benefits of the privileged few, such as shareholders. Individuals with an openness value orientation may more easily accept innovation and new paradigms in CSR, such as accountability for stakeholders more generally.

According to Roozen et al. (2001), conservation values such as conformity and security have a negative influence on ethical behaviour. Woodbine (2004) found that traditional Chinese values, such as integration and Confucian work dynamism, played a limited role in moral choice response, and had a negative impact on business ethics. Stern and Dietz (1994) asserted that traditional values were negatively associated with environmental concerns. Later they also found that conservation values were negatively associated with environmental concerns (Stern et al., 1995). Lan et al. (2008) tested whether conformity values were negatively related to the personal interest level of moral reasoning, and stimulation values positively to this level. Similar results show that marketers, who value self-respect and fun and enjoyment in life, are more ethical (Singhapakdi and Vitell, 1993). In all, conservation values are negatively associated with ethical and responsible behaviour, while openness values are positively connected with ethical and responsible behaviour. It is logical to say that individuals with more openness values display a higher level of moral awareness and standards on the CSR performance of corporations, and have more negative opinions. Individuals with more conservation values might present the reverse inclination.

In addition to SVQ, I have studied individual views on creation of the common good in article IV, these different views reflecting the cultural values of the respondents. The measurement used in this study to evaluate the perception of CSR performance was formulated on the basis of the current literature (e.g. Triple Bottom Lines) and the Sustainability Reporting Guideline (SRG), a globally applied framework for sustainability reporting (GRI, 2006). Because the target of this study is not the disclosed corporate reports but individual perceptions, the items formulated have to be easy to understand, and fit the conditions of most respondents. Hence, I selected some items as more suitable for the evaluation of common people's perceptions, and adjusted them into a more understandable format so that respondents may comprehend these items even without any specific knowledge of CSR. Another criterion is that these items should cover economic, social and environmental dimensions (figure 5). This CSR scale has been developed and tested in many studies at the Department of Forest Science, University of Helsinki.



Figure 5. Dimensions of CSR

# 5.2. Questionnaire design

The questionnaire was originally developed and tested in Finland, without deliberate inclusion of multiple cultural perceptions. With the sequential development method, the questionnaire has been developed for use in multiple cultures by adding the specific cultural dimensions and enlarging the size of the personal values variables. The original Finnish questionnaire has been developed, pre-tested and independently back-translated between Finnish, Chinese, and English versions in order to ensure the accuracy and understandability of the information.

The questionnaire has three parts which corresponds completely to the theoretical framework. The first part asked for demographic information such as gender, age, education level, major, stakeholder group, and knowledge of CSR. Those independent variables are used to correlate response variables between different groups of respondents. The second part required information for intervening variables— values and cultural belongings, which are used to enrich the understanding of respondents' behaviour

(perception on CSR). The third part contains the core information of this dissertation dependent variables, which consists of three question sets related to the statements on CSR.

Since people's responses are also influenced by content-irrelevant factors, such as the rating scale (Baumgartner and Steenkamp, 2001), different measurement scales have been used in the questionnaire in order to control adequately for response styles, such as the common bias of the midpoint responding. The intervening and dependent variables used in the analysis were mainly statements on a five- (or six-) point Likert scale, e.g., from 1=Totally disagree to 5 (or 6)=Totally agree, or from 1=Not at all to 5(or 6)=Very strongly. Additionally, one barometer variable was used in a two-point Likert scale in order to measure the shareholder/stakeholder orientations of the respondents. In this scale, the respondents had options from 1=Corporations should make profit for their shareholders to 2=Corporations should create welfare for all stakeholders.

In order to ensure the comparability of data, three types of equivalence are carefully considered in this dissertation: construct equivalence, measurement unit equivalence and scalar equivalence (Craig and Douglas, 2005; Harkness et al, 2003). A preliminary phase of research has been applied at the beginning, and is focused on examining differences in definition in relevant domains or inappropriateness of item content across cultures (Douglas and Nijssen, 2002). Construct equivalence refers to the following three types: functional equivalence, conceptual equivalence, and category equivalence. Exploratory factor analysis and cluster analysis have been applied to evaluate the construct equivalence (Steenkamp and Hofstede, 2002).

To ensure the measurement unit and scalar equivalent, not only are the same units of measurement used in the different cultural specific forms, but the units also followed the same ratio scale. Thus Schwartz's cultural value theory has been used as the frame of reference to anticipate the measurement equivalence of the data, while confirmatory factor analysis has been used to test the measurement equivalence (Steenkamp and Baumgartner, 1998; Beuckelaer et al. 2007). Three types of measurement equivalence have been focused on this dissertation: calibration equivalence, translation equivalence, and score equivalence.

## 5.3. Data

This dissertation consists of four different data sets: 1) The Chinese university student data collected from three Chinese universities, the final sample size of which is 980 students (used for articles I, and II); 2) The Chinese multiple stakeholder data including 810 final observations (III); 3) The Finnish student data consists of 311 undergraduate students from three universities (IV and V); 4) The sample of American data consists of 257 students from two universities (IV and V). All data in the dissertation appears to have sampling equivalence, because both the choice of the relevant target population and the sampling frame has been carefully observed from the beginning (Steenkamp and Hofstede, 2002).

The selection of the USA, Finland, and China as the research countries is based on three reasons: 1) according to Hofstede's cultural dimensions, Finland and the US shared the same Western cultural heritage and belong to the "individualism" societies, while China represents the far eastern cultural tradition and belong to the "collectivism" societies. 2) As stated in the previous chapters, there is a strong theoretical argument indicating that there

are differences in the social values and CSR orientations between China, the US and Finland, so that the cultural variables identified make the selection of country less critical. The diversity and similarity of these countries led this dissertation to conduct the crosscultural studies. In the comparison between Finland and US data especially, the samples to be compared have been made as similar as possible in their demographic characteristics to ensure sampling equivalence; 3) I have good contacts with the universities selected in China, Finland and the USA, which has facilitated the data collection.

The data was collected by using a structured self-completion questionnaire through onsite interviews and an E-questionnaire on a website, while cross-sectional survey design and a stratified sampling method have been applied in collecting the data. The stratified random sampling method was utilised to obtain representative data covering a relatively even distribution of observations from different observation groups, such as study major and stakeholder group. I collected the Chinese data with the help of two Masters students. The Finnish and US data were compiled by the co-authors of the corresponding articles. Table 6 summarizes the data and data collection methods used in the sub-studies of this dissertation.

Article	Population and targeted	Final	Data collection	Year
	sample	observations	methods	
I, II	Chinese university	980	On-site distribution of	2007
	students.		structured self-	
	Initial sample designed on		completion	
	the scale of 1200		questionnaire.	
	observations.			
III	Chinese general public.	810	Personal interviews, mail	2009
	Initial sample designed on		survey, phone survey,	
	the scale of 1500		and online survey using	
	observations.		structured questionnaire.	
IV, V	Finnish and American	311 Finnish	On-site distribution of	2007
	university students.	observations	structured self-	
	Initial sample designed on	and 257	completion	
	the scale of 500	American	questionnaire.	
	observations from each	observations.		
	country.			

Table 6. Data and data collection methods in the sub-studies

#### 5.4. Data analysis

The primary data of the dissertation was analysed by using SPSS 13.0 and 17.0 statistical software. A wide range of analysis techniques was used in the interpretation of the data. The basic descriptions of variables were determined by defining means and distributions. Factor analysis and combined variables were applied as data reduction tools. Factor analysis with varimax rotation factors was conducted in multivariable descriptions related to values and perceptions of CSR performance. In the factor analysis, the Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) test was used to measure sampling adequacy, KMO values over 0.5 being considered sufficient. Bartlett's test for sphericity was used in the factor decisions, p < 0.05 being considered acceptable. The reliability coefficient Alpha was used to test the reliability of the factor solution. Confirmatory Factor Analysis (CFA) was employed to test the goodness of fit of the values measurement to the data of article II. Indices GFI, CFI, NFI, TLI values close to 1 are generally considered to indicate a good fit, RMSEA values less than 0.1 also being considered a good fit.

Variables which measure the perception of CSR performance were combined into one variable. The dimensionality and internal consistency of this summated variable were tested by factor analysis with one factor solution (factor loadings >0), and Cronbach's Alpha ( $\alpha$  > 0.5).

K-means cluster analysis was conducted on group respondents based on the factor scores of their values. Cross-tabulations with  $\chi^2$  tests and one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) were used to run comparisons between respondent value groups and their perceptions of the CSR implementation. The significance level used in the analysis was 5% (p < 0.05). In addition, correlation was also applied to describe the connection between values and perception of CSR implementation. The detailed illustration of data analysis methods can be found in the following table (table 7).

Table 7	Methods of analysis	
Table 7.	Methods of analysis	

Research	Variable sets							
questions and hypotheses	Demographic background	Personal values	Cultural values	Stakeholder salience	Perception of environmental reporting	Perception of CSR performance	of analysis	
Descriptive e	mpirical phenomer	าล						
H1/AI		self-enhancement values vs. self- transcendent values					M, F, K	
H2/AI		openness values vs. conservation values					M, F, K	
Comparative	descriptive pheno	mena						
H3/AII	Male vs .female	Female, more self-transcendent values					F, O. C	
H4/All	Male vs .female					Female, more negative perception	S, F, O. Ct	
H5/AII	Study majors	Ecology, more self-transcendent values, business and technology, more self- enhancement values					F, O. C	
H6/AII	Study majors					Business and technology, more positive perception	S, F, O	
H7/AII	Level of education	Junior, more self-transcendent values Senior, more self-enhancement values					F, O. C	
H8/AII	Level of education					Junior, more negative perceptions	S, F, O	

			<b>D</b> · · ·				
H1/AIII			Priority			More	D, S, F,
H2/AIII						prioritized,	0
						more positive,	
						less	
						prioritized,	
						more	
						negative	
H1/AIV	FI vs. US	FI, more softer					F, O
		values.					
		US, more harder					
		values					
H2/AIV,	FI vs. US					US, less	D, O
H3/AIV						concerned	
						about multiple	
						responsi-	
						bilities.	
						FI, stronger	
						shareholder	
	<b>E</b> 1			-		view	5.0
H1/AV	FI vs. US			FI,	more		F, O
				reliable			
H2/AV	FI vs. US					FI, more	F, O
H3/AV						positive view	
						on	
						environmental	
						responsibility.	
						US, more	

Explanation	n of phenomena				positive view on social responsibility	
H3/AI, H1/AII H3/AIII		self-transcendent values			Negative perception	Ct, O, Cl
H4/AI, H2/AII H4/AIII		self-enhancement values			Positive perception	Ct, O, Cl
H5/AI		Openness values			Negative perception	Ct, O, Cl
H6/AI		Conservation values			Positive perception	Ct, O, Cl
H4/AIV	Gender		Harder values		Positive view	Ct, O, Cl
H5/AIV	Study major		Harder values		Positive view	Ct, O, Cl

A=article

F= factor analysis

Ct=cross-tabulations

K=k-means clusters

O= one-way ANOVA

M=means

D=distribution

Cl=correlation

S=summated variable

C= Confirmatory Factor Analysis

# 6. SUMMARY OF THE SUB-STUDIES

# The effects of values on the perception of Corporate Social Responsibility implementation: A Study of Chinese youth (I)

The main purpose of this study was to determine the effects on the personal values of Chinese youth of their perceptions of the CSR performance of contemporary Chinese corporations. Data for 980 Chinese young people was examined, finding that:

Chinese youth display a mixed values structure of traditional and emerging western values, stronger self-transcendent values than self-enhancement values, and stronger openness values than conservation values. Thus H1, Chinese youth display stronger self-enhancement values than self-transcendent values, has not been confirmed, the results even indicating the reverse. H2, Chinese youth display stronger openness values than conservation values, has been clearly confirmed.

Chinese youth have a negative perception of the CSR performance of corporations. They display higher positive perceptions on the economic and social dimensions, variables such as creating jobs locally and Meeting shareholders' profit expectations receiving the highest positive perceptions. The most negative perceptions are on the environmental dimension.

Personal values have a significant effect on the perception of Chinese youth of CSR, Chinese young people with openness or self-transcendence orientation display more significantly negative perceptions of CSR performance. In contrast, Chinese youth with self-enhancement or conservation orientations display more significant positive perceptions of CSR performance. Thus the findings provide clear support for H3, H4, H5, and H6.

# Values and CSR perceptions of Chinese university students (II)

The major weakness of ethics education in China is related to education on emerging issues such as business ethics and CSR. This study analyses the effects of personal demographic factors on the values and perceptions of CSR issues Chinese university students have, and identifies the link between personal values and perceptions of CSR.

In general, the results are that respondents in the "altruistic" group display more negative perceptions of CSR performance than those in the "egoistic" group. Correspondingly, respondents in the "egoistic" group display more positive perceptions of CSR performance than those in the "altruistic" group. Similar results can be found on the environment, social and economic dimensions as well. These results clearly support H1 "Chinese university students who embrace altruistic values more have a more negative perception of CSR performance" and H2 "Chinese university students who embrace goistic values more have a more positive perception of CSR performance."

The results indicate that female students possess more altruistic values than male students, and male students demonstrate more egoistic values than female students, which clearly supports H3 "Female students represent more ethical values than male students."

The results are that male students display more positive perceptions than female students, and female students represent more negative perceptions. These findings clearly support H4 "Female students have a more negative perception of CSR performance of Chinese corporations."

According to the results, students majoring in business and technology emphasize the egoistic values more than students from an ecology major, and ecology students display the least egoistic values. But they also show the conflicting result that ecology students display the least altruistic values. Thus H5 "Ecology students represent more ethical values than business and technology students." has not been clearly confirmed. The results show that students majoring in forest ecology display the least positive perceptions. Thus H6 "Ecology students have a more negative perception of the CSR performance of Chinese corporations" has been confirmed.

Another important finding is that students' altruistic values gradually decrease as their study level increases, the first-year students displaying higher altruistic values than students from other years. Clearly, H7 "Junior students represent more ethical values than senior students" has been confirmed in this study. I have only found that the fourth-year students display the highest negative perceptions of social responsibility, but I find no clear evidence to support H8 "Junior students have a more negative perception of CSR performance of Chinese corporations."

# Corporate Social Responsibility in the Chinese forest industry: Understanding multiple stakeholder perceptions (III)

The general purpose of this paper is to study stakeholder perceptions of the CSR performance of forest corporations in China, and compare the various opinions of groups of stakeholders. The stakeholders' perception of CSR issues is examined in connection with their values.

In the values study, I find that shareholders possess more egoistic values, while government officials and the general public possess more ethical values. The study also finds that shareholders and consumers are the stakeholders who have been more prioritized by the Chinese forest industry, while government, the general public, and employees are the less prioritized stakeholders.

Concerning stakeholders' perceptions on CSR performances, the study finds that shareholders have the most positive view of the CSR investments (investment in environmental welfare and public welfare) of Chinese forest industry, while the general public and government officials have the most negative views. The study also shows that consumers are inclined to have positive perceptions and employees are inclined to have negative perceptions, thus confirming H1, "stakeholders who have been more prioritized by the Chinese forest corporations have more positive perceptions of their CSR performance", and H2 "stakeholders who have been less prioritized by the Chinese forest corporations for their CSR performance". The results also provide sufficient support for H3 and H4, indicating that "the stakeholders who value altruistic values more have more negative perceptions of the CSR performance of Chinese forest corporations", and "the stakeholders who value egoistic values more have more positive perceptions."

# Students' Perceptions of Forest Industries Business Ethics: A Comparative Analysis of Finland and the USA (IV)

The basic purpose of this paper is to describe and compare student perceptions of business ethics in Finland and the USA. Another objective is to examine the values dimensions of students and the interrelationships between these values and views of business ethics.

The empirical results support H1, indicating that "Finnish students are more likely to represent collectivistic/softer values than US students." According to the study, the respondents from the USA emphasise the role of free market forces and corporations in creating the common good more, whereas their Finnish counterparts give greater emphasis to societal control in creating common welfare. Additionally, the proportion of respondents reflecting clearly neoliberal values; in other words, giving strong emphasis to free market forces in society, is significantly higher among the US students. This showed that the US students generally represent more individualistic and harder values, whereas the Finnish students represent more collectivistic and softer values. Furthermore, the results indicated that there are significant differences in the values between genders and students representing different study majors. The male respondents and students from business and engineering majors have predominantly harder values than the female respondents and the students from forest ecology and environmental science majors. This also supports earlier findings with regard to value orientation from group to group.

In agreement with H2, the results show that the US students are less concerned about the weight of multiple responsibilities in the forest industries than their Finnish counterparts. In other words, the US students consider the corporate emphasis on environmental and social welfare as being stronger than the Finnish students do. However, the results supported H2 only partially because, surprisingly, the US students consider forest industry operations as more ethically questionable than the Finnish students. These contradictory views on the current state of business ethics in forest industries require further research.

As against earlier findings and H3: "US students emphasise shareholder orientation in forest industry business more than their Finnish counterparts", the Finnish students represented a stronger shareholder view than their US counterparts, even though the Finns generally reflected softer values. Most Finnish students consider that forest industry companies emphasise the shareholder benefits, which is the way it should be in business. The US students place great value on the general stakeholder focus.

The differences in business ethics perceptions between genders and disciplines mainly reflected the varieties in values backgrounds. Male respondents and the students from engineering and business majors see the current state of multiple responsibilities positively, whereas the students from forest ecology and environmental science have a more sceptical view of corporate emphasis on environmental and social welfare at the expense of profits. Thus, the empirical results support H4 and H5, which were that male students and the students from engineering and business majors consider forest industry operations as less ethically doubtful than the others do.

In addition, the direct interrelationships between values and perceptions on business ethics came out clearly in the results. The respondents who represent harder values are more optimistic on the current state of business ethics in the forest industries.

# Corporate Responsibility Performance in the forest industries: A comparative analysis of student perceptions in Finland and the USA (V)

The basic purpose of this research is to describe and compare various aspects related to student perceptions of forest industry CR performance in Finland and the USA. The comparison between majors will also be emphasised in this study. Specifically, the objective is to examine student perceptions of environmental reporting and the interrelationships between the reporting views and views on CR performance.

The results show that the reporting practices in Finland and the USA influence student perceptions of environmental reporting. According to H1, "Finnish students have a stronger belief that reporting is reliable and open than their US counterparts." However, the general opinion of reporting is still predominantly more sceptical than positive in both countries. The forest ecology and environmental science students in particular reflect sceptical views of environmental reporting by the industry. Generally, the reporting is still considered strongly image-driven.

Student perceptions of the forest industry CR performance are generally most positive within the economic dimension. Student evaluation of the industry performance in social responsibility is similar and relatively positive. By contrast, the results indicate that students have the most negative perceptions of industry environmental responsibility. The performance with regard to biodiversity and taking non-economic values of forests into consideration are considered particularly dubious by the students. Relatively negative perceptions of environmental success are probably attributable to the sensitive nature of the industry within this dimension of CR.

The empirical results support H2: "Finnish students have more positive views of the way the forest industry companies implement environmental responsibility than their US counterparts." The present findings indicate that the availability of wide-ranging environmental information has positively impacted Finnish student views of forest industry environmental responsibility. However, in Finland as well as the US, the forest ecology and environmental science students represented strongly negative views of industry environmental performance. The differences between the major study groups regarding satisfaction with this were statistically significant.

US students emphasise corporate success in social responsibility in evaluating industry CR. In comparison with Finnish respondents, US students particularly emphasise success in stakeholder relations, which supports H3: "US students show more positive views on social responsibility, especially those connected with stakeholder relations, than their Finnish counterparts." In contrast, Finnish students showed more positive views on product safety and personnel welfare issues.

The results showed direct interrelationships between the student views on reporting and perceptions of CR. Respondents who represent more critical views on the reliability and transparency of reporting have more negative perceptions of the way the companies
implement multiple responsibility. Similarly, students who consider the forest industry reporting predominantly image-driven exhibit lower positive perceptions of its CR.

# The impact of Chinese culture on Corporate Social Responsibility: The harmony approach (VI)

Although the history of adopting the Western Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) concept in China spans less than 20 years, the core principles of CSR are not new and can be legitimately interpreted within traditional Chinese culture. I find that the Western CSR concepts do not adapt well to the Chinese market, because they have rarely defined the primary reason for CSR well, and the etic approach to CSR concepts does not take the Chinese reality and culture into consideration. This article aims to formulate a new CSR definition in Chinese cultural contexts which can meet these two challenges by explaining ancient Chinese wisdom (Confucianism and Taoism).

This study provided a clear picture of the history of CSR in China which shows that traditional Confucian traders had accepted responsible business principles over a very long history in China, while Western CSR has been in the Chinese market for about 20 years. The study has thoroughly studied the drivers of CSR in China and explains the primary reason for conducting CSR, which is "Cultivating virtues and becoming a 'superior enterprise', which will contribute to the construction of a harmonious society."

This study provides a new concept of CSR, called here the harmony approach to CSR. Companies should apply the concept of 'harmony' to their business, and carry on their business in a harmonious way – both interpersonal (intercompany) and man–nature harmony. The overall goal for a company in implementing CSR is to cultivate the virtues of 'humaneness', 'righteousness', 'ritual', 'wisdom', 'sincerity' and 'responsibility', and to become a 'superior enterprise', in this way contributing to the construction of a harmonious society. In short, the harmony approach to CSR is 'respecting nature and loving people'.

## 7. SYNTHESIS, DISCUSSION AND LIMITATION OF THE RESULTS

#### 7.1. Synthesis and discussion

There are numerous studies examining how ethical attitudes and behaviour are affected by personal socio-demographic factors (for example, Lam and Shi, 2008; Fukukawa et al., 2007; Ibrahim et al., 2008; Lan et al., 2008; O'Fallon and Butterfield, 2005). In this dissertation, I have selected such personal factors as gender, study major, level of education, stakeholder group and country of origin, and analysed the effect of these factors on personal values, and individual perceptions of CSR (table 8).

Table 8. hypo	otheses and	synthesis	of the result

	Variable sets						Do the results support the hypothesis?
н	DB	PV	CV	SS	PR	PP	comments
Descript	ive empi	rical ph	enomei	na			
H1/AI							Not confirmed. The results show that Chinese youth display a mixed values structure, and stronger self- transcendent values than self-enhancement values.
H2/AI							Confirmed. Chinese youth display stronger openness values than conservation values. It illustrates that the emerging market values has affected the value structure of Chinese youth.
Compara	ative des	criptive	pheno	mena	<u>т</u>	1	
H3/AII							Confirmed. Female students present more ethical values than male students.
H4/AII							Confirmed. Female students have a more negative perception of CSR performance of Chinese corporation. Gender is one factor affecting the perception of CSR performance.
H5/AII							Not confirmed. The results show a conflicting result, but also show that students from different majors emphasis different value sets.
H6/AII							Confirmed. Ecology students have a more negative perception of the CSR performance of Chinese corporations. Study major is one factor affecting the perception of CSR performance.
H7/AII							Confirmed. Junior students represent more ethical values than senior students

H8/AII						Not confirmed.
						However, the study results found some differences in the perception of CSR performance among
						students from different level of education.
H1/AIII						Confirmed.
H2/AIII						Stakeholder salience is one factor affecting the stakeholder's perception of CSR performance.
H1/AIV						Confirmed.
						Finnish students are more likely to represent collectivistic/softer values than American students.
H2/AIV,						Not confirmed.
H3/AIV						However, the study results show that students from Finland and the US display different
						orientations to the perceptions of CSR performance.
						Thus country of origin is one factor affecting the individual perception of CSR performance.
H1/AV						Confirmed.
						Finnish students have a stronger belief that reporting is reliable and open than their US
						counterparts.
						Based on the results of H2, H3/AV, perception of environmental reporting is one factor affecting the
						individual perception of CSR performance.
H2/AV						Confirmed.
						Finnish students have more positive views of the way the forest industry companies implement
						environmental responsibility than their US counterparts.
						Country of origin is one factor affecting the individual perception of CSR performance.
Explanat	ion of pł	nenome	na	 		
H3/AI,				 	-►	Confirmed.
H1/AII						Altruistic values associate negatively with perception of CSR performance.
H3/AIII						Personal values have a significant effect on the individual perceptions of CSR performance.
H4/AI,					→	Confirmed.
H2/AII						Egoistic values associate positively with perception of CSR performance.
H4/AIII						Personal values have a significant effect on the individual perceptions of CSR performance.

H5/AI				 •	Confirmed .
					Openness values associate negatively with perception of CSR performance.
					Personal values have a significant effect on the individual perceptions of CSR performance.
H6/AI					Confirmed.
				•	Conservation values associate positively with perception of CSR performance.
					Personal values have a significant effect on the individual perceptions of CSR performance.
H4/AIV					Confirmed.
				►	Individualistic/harder values associate positively with perception of business ethics.
		Cultural values have a significant effect on the individual perception of business ethics.			
H5/AIV					Confirmed.
			•	Individualistic/harder values associate positively with perception of business ethics.	
					Cultural values have a significant effect on the individual perception of business ethics.

A=article

PV= personal values

SS=stakeholder salience

PP=perception of CSR performance

DB=demographical background variables

CV=cultural values

PR=perception of environmental reporting

Gender has been one of the most researched areas. Empirical evidence indicates that females are more ethical and more sensitive to and less tolerant of unethical subjects than males (see, for example, Arlow, 1991; Deshpande, 1997; O'Fallon and Butterfield, 2005; Ruegger and King, 1992; Ameen et al., 1996; Borkowski and Ugras, 1998; Paul et al., 1997; Burton and Hegarty, 1999; Okleshen and Hoyt, 1996; Chonko and Hunt, 1985). In this dissertation, the empirical results clearly find that females present more ethical values than males, and females display higher negative perception of CSR performance than males (see H3/AII, H4/AII in table 8).

Previous empirical findings have suggested that personal values and ethical behaviours are related to the major field of study (see Chonko and Hunt, 1985; and Giacomino and Akers, 1998; Borkowski and Ugras, 1998; Sankaran and Bui, 2003). Although this dissertation obtained a conflicting result (H5/AII) concerning student values in different majors, it can be seen clearly in this dissertation that student values and perceptions of CSR performance are significantly different between students from different majors (H5/AII, H6/AII, and H5/AIV). Further studies to indentify the effect of the major field of study on the ethical values and behaviours of students are strongly recommended, because values/moral education and a CSR education programme should be designed accordingly to the differing characteristics of majors.

With regard to the level of education, previous empirical studies have found that there were significant differences in the investigation of individual ethicality among levels of education (see, for example, Wimalasiri et al., 1996; Tse and Au, 1997; Borkowski and Ugras, 1992; Terpstra et al., 1993; and Elias, 2004; Sankaran and Bui, 2003). This dissertation clearly made similar findings (H7/AII, H8/AII). For example, I find that the ethical values of Chinese university students decline during their education. One explanation is that they are gradually involved in the society outside and professional life during their university time, which affects the structures of their values greatly. This collaborates Sonnenfeld's finding (1981) that those who are remote from the pressures of business display support for more ethical and responsible behaviour, and their attitudes may change over time when they face the "real world".

Corporations have relationships with multiple stakeholder groups, each of which has its own expectations for the company and also has various interests that need to be satisfied (Clarkson, 1994; Freeman, 1984; Riordan et al., 1997). Previous studies have suggested that stakeholder group members share a common set of values which lead to stakeholder differentiation and conflict over their ethical judgement (Freeman, 1984; Hosseini & Brenner, 1992; Cordano et al., 2004). This dissertation finds that shareholders emphasise their own benefit more and act as slack judges of the CSR performance of Chinese forest corporations. In contrast, the general public and government officials care about much broader issues, and behave as responsible and strict judges (results in AIII). This dissertation suggests that in-depth studies of stakeholder values is necessary, because it leads to better understanding of divergent and conflicting interests among stakeholders. Values identification and education can be used as a tool to facilitate stakeholder communications and improve stakeholder relationships.

People in different cultures have varied values priorities (Schwartz, 1994, 1999), which can influence their perception of reality and motivation for action (Allport, 1961; Siltaoja, 2006). Many studies have found differences among countries with respect to values and CSR (see, for example, Shafer et al., 2007; Whitcomb et al., 1998; Burton et al., 2000; and Welford, 2005). This dissertation supports the "implicit" and "explicit" CSR conceptual framework of Matten and Moon (2004), as its results show that US companies emphasise stakeholder relations and societal issues more and assume responsibility for the interests of the society-the explicit view of CSR (H2/AIV, H3/AIV, H3/AV), while the Finnish companies focus on environmental performance and personnel welfare which are assigned by formal and informal institutions on behalf of society's interests and concerns-the implicit view of CSR (H1/AIV, H1/AV, H2/AV). Moreover, CSR in China is still at the basic legal level. This dissertation finds that Chinese corporations perform better in their economic responsibility, but their environmental performance is rather weak (results in AI, AII, and AIII). The fact that various national contexts can significantly influence the CSR agenda suggests that further studies of CSR should emphasise culturally specific items, such as the influence of religion on CSR issues, the influence of culture and institutional environments to stakeholder and employment relationship, and social and environmental issues in the local community.

In addition to personal socio-demographic factors, this dissertation adopts perception of environmental reporting, stakeholder salience and values as interval factors to study their effects on the perception of CSR performance.

Previous studies have suggested that CSR reporting is one of the central issues of all CSR programs, and an important tool for company CSR practice in measuring, disclosing and being accountable to internal and external stakeholders (Panwar et al., 2006; GRI, 2006; Perrini, 2005). Generally speaking, European companies have a longer history of environmental reporting, and stronger traditions in the external assurance of reporting. As the findings of Perrini (2005) suggest, the emphasis on environment and environmental strategies is still a predominant characteristic of European CSR reporting, which shapes the construction of CSR programs. In contrast, the elements of social responsibility are less stressed in European reporting structures. The North American CSR reporting and performance emphasise philanthropic aspects more (Matten and Moon, 2004). The findings of this dissertation clearly support the points above (H1/AV, H2/AV, H3/AV), suggesting that the individual's view on environmental reporting is a factor which affects individual perception of CSR performance. This dissertation finds that respondents who perceive the environmental reporting as open and reliable have the most positive outlook on CSR performance. However, those who consider the reporting highly image-driven have the most negative outlook. The clear message here is that improving the availability, transparency and accountability of CSR reporting is essential for the development of CSR performance.

There are ample empirical studies confirming that corporations prioritize their stakeholders according to the attributes of power, legitimacy and urgency (see, for example, Mitchell et al., 1997; Jamali, 2008; Neville et al., 2004; Clarkson, 1995; Knox et al., 2005; Madariaga and Valor, 2007). This dissertation finds that Chinese forest corporations are inclined to prioritize a small number of key stakeholders, and stakeholder salience is a factor which affects stakeholder perceptions of CSR (H1/AIII, H2/AIII). One limitation of

this dissertation is that study of stakeholder salience is simply done by asking the question of whose interests and benefits the forest industry emphasise most of all nowadays. Thus further studies should include three stakeholder attributes of power, legitimacy and urgency, and examine their effects on stakeholder behaviour and attitudes of CSR.

There have been numerous studies trying to explore the effects of values on individual behaviour or characteristics such as perception. (e.g., Hemingway, 2005; Parashar et al., 2004; Rokeach, 1973; Mayton et al., 1994; Fukukawa et al., 2007). The significance of this dissertation is that its results provide strong empirical evidence to suggest that values (both personal values and cultural values) have a significant effect on the individual perception of CSR performance. In this dissertation, since the same results have been derived from four different data sets covering three countries (H3/AI, H4/AI, H5/AI, H6/AI, H1/AII, H2/AII, H3/AIII, H4/AII, H4/AIV, H5/AIV), the synthetic findings indicate that the effects of values on the perception of CSR performance are significant and universal.

For the purpose of increasing individual responsible behaviour and CSR performance in the case of China, this dissertation suggests a normative concept/tool: "the harmony approach of CSR" in sub-study VI. The harmony approach to CSR is a perfect normative solution to the empirical findings of this dissertation (articles I to V), recommending values (in another world, virtue) cultivation as values play a critical role in CSR performance. The relationship of each sub-study of this dissertation can be shown in the following figure.



Figure 6. The synthetic relationship of the sub-studies

#### 7.2. Limitations and directions for further studies

Although the corporate CSR performances can be studied and assessed through stakeholders, one of the limitations of this dissertation is that corporations are not included as one of the major stakeholders and I did not research corporate behaviour and CSR performance directly. This dissertation assesses the corporate CSR performances through stakeholders' perspectives and presents the effects of personal values on the individual perceptions of CSR performances of corporations, but does not clearly reveal the direct link between personal values, corporate values and their influences on practical corporate performance. Thus further studies can put emphasis on corporate values and behaviour, such as studying employees and the personal values of top management, and how these values have been interpreted in the corporate values, including how corporate values guide the CSR strategies and operations. The external assessment of CSR performance can be at least partly based on corporate CSR disclosure.

Another limitation of this dissertation relates to measurement equivalence. The dissertation only measures the respondents' perceptions of CSR, but does not take their expectations into consideration. There is likely to be some degree of measurement bias without rigorous quantification of the respondents' knowledge and expectation of CSR issues. However, this dissertation has controlled and narrowed the background factors through a homogenised population of respondents. For example, four sub-studies of this dissertation have relied on university student data, because university students have a similarity in education and knowledge of CSR issues. To enhance the validity of the study, future research should extend to more background factors, such as age, social class, education, and profession. Further studies can address variance in the different data sets, and extend the same sort of test to broader social groups or other populations. They also can consider using the "gap model" to study individual perceptions through full assessment of both expectation and perceptions.

The small number of values variables (especially culture values variables) may be another limitation of this dissertation. More values variables may facilitate a better values assessment and lessen functional and measurement bias. Further studies should consider more values variables, especially those representative collective and cultural values items. The recommended instruments for values measures include SVS, Hofstede's Value Survey Model (HVSM), and Global Leadership and Organizational Behavior Effectiveness (GLOBE) (House et al., 2004).

To identify and reach the right stakeholders is another limitation of this dissertation. An individual may have multiple stakeholder identifies and different roles. For example, this dissertation identifies five stakeholder groups; however, many respondents placed in the "general public" group may belong to other stakeholder groups which are not identified in this dissertation. If each respondent can be placed correctly in his stakeholder group (through understanding the respondents better and selecting different sampling methods), the validity of the results can be improved. Further studies may thus include broader stakeholder groups such as NGOs, suppliers, corporations and the media, and investigate the conflicts between stakeholder groups and individuals in the intra-group.

Sampling bias may also be a limitation of this dissertation because the sampling procedures of sub-studies are clearly not random, and samples are not statistically representative enough, especially considering the population of China. For example, the same sample is called as "youth" and "university students" in AI and AII. Since this sample was mainly from universities, it is not representative enough for the "youth" version. Further studies should extend to broader samples to cover more age groups and social occupations (e.g., students and workers). The US samples are also somehow biased as they are basically from only two universities. However, these samples are not meant for formulating generalizations and are rather a tool of exploration. Further studies should extend to more variant and representative samples.

### 8. CONCLUSIONS

This dissertation contributes to the existing literature in several ways. First, it develops a comprehensive and integrated theory for explaining CSR. In business literature, CSR, values, and stakeholder, all dealing with new emerging issues about a more ethical, responsible, and sustainable way of conducting business, are the key concepts in relation to business and society. This dissertation reviewed the commonalities and differences between these concepts, and interpreted their interrelationships in a pyramid: individual and stakeholder ethical values form the base of the relationship, sustaining the responsible individual and corporate behaviour. At the second level, individual ethical values are jointly developed into corporate ethical values which shape the orientation of business activities, and reflected in corporate ethical behaviour. Since this interrelationship indicates that morality is the central issue of all these concepts, I recommend using the "values proposition and connection" to interpret the concept of CSR and implement CSR performance.

Second, based on normative logic, this dissertation contributes a new definition of CSR, namely, the harmony approach, which is rooted in Confucian interpersonal harmony and Taoist harmony between man and nature, and is thus specific to Chinese culture and has Chinese characteristics. At present, the concept of CSR is largely Western-oriented, and studies of these issues are largely Western-centric. This dissertation provides valuable and unique philosophical and intellectual perspectives on the contemporary study of CSR. It enlightens future CSR studies, for example, in envisaging the role of culture in encouraging CSR.

In the harmony approach to CSR, this research has emphasised the significance of virtues instead of selfish material desires, suggesting that the overall goal for a company in implementing CSR is to cultivate the virtues of 'humaneness', 'righteousness', 'ritual', 'wisdom', 'sincerity' and 'responsibility', and to become a 'superior enterprise', in this way contributing to the construction of a harmonious society. This harmony approach is actually a 'values' approach for CSR, because it provides the most useful moral content (virtues cultivation and moral leadership—to be superior) to direct corporate behaviour. Therefore, I believe the harmony approach to CSR will play an important philosophical and practical

role in the development of contemporary CSR. A deeper understanding of Chinese ethical philosophies including Confucianism and its relevance to business can be suggested for further studies, such as comparative study on Confucian and Aristotelian ethics, or an empirical study to assess how companies adopt the harmony approach to CSR in their practices.

Third, the empirical coverage of this dissertation is relatively comprehensive, incorporating values assessment and CSR evaluation of a wide variety of business activities covering CSR reporting, business ethics, and three dimensions of CSR performance. The sample covered individuals in multiple stakeholder realms from students to employees, governmental officials, the general public, consumers, and shareholders. The sample size is relatively large, including 2615 observations altogether. The availability of four different samples from three countries also ensures the validity of various hypotheses and empirical results.

The findings demonstrate that the stakeholder theory is a useful tool for collecting and evaluating CSR data. A multi-stakeholder perspective has facilitated evaluation of the CSR performance of this dissertation, and is essential to a complete assessment of CSR performance. I believe the information provided in this dissertation is more representative and extensive than that based only on the individual stakeholder's point of view.

Taking the multi-stakeholder perspective, I have not only studied the homogenous part of the results, such as stakeholder salience and perceptions, but also the heterogeneous individual drivers behind the perceptions, such as values and personal demographic factors. Investigations of individual level drivers could enable better understanding of the sources of heterogeneity and intra-group conflict, as well as stakeholder intentions and choices. Since different stakeholders (and individuals) interpret CSR according to their own preferences and emphasise issues related to their interests and benefits, the CSR objective of a corporation's top management should be to manage the divergent and conflicting interests of multiple stakeholders and various individuals. Thus it is essential to future sustainable development to gain a better knowledge of and seek resolution of behaviour at individual level, and resolve conflicts among various stakeholder groups.

Fourth, the homogenous part of the results demonstrates the values and perceptions of stakeholders who provide proponents of change in the current business and directions of the CSR development in general. In the studies of university students, I find that they have paid great attention to CSR issues and recognized the current problems. The students of today are the tomorrow's leaders, and thus will be the decision-makers and implementers who will shape the future of CSR. How corporations exercise their multiple responsibilities in the future may depend heavily on the views of present-day students. Thus, some projections on the future development areas can be identified in the countries studied on the assumption that the present negative perception of certain elements of CSR would lead to remedial action. Following this assumption, environmental protection will be a potential development area in China and US business during the coming years. In Finland, social responsibilities such as improving relationships with stakeholders more generally may be one of the focal development areas.

The findings show that shareholders who hold the highest position in the stakeholders' salience have an effect on the Chinese forest industry in CSR issues, but their ethical values

and CSR attitudes are considered morally questionable. Shareholders are people who belong to the "wealthy class" in Chinese society, and should contribute even more to responsibility; unfortunately, this is not the case in practice. Thus I would like to suggest that Chinese society should make some effort to promote CSR and stress civic moral development issues; e.g., (1) constructing and promoting a concept and culture of sustainable development, following the notion of "The Construction of a Harmonious Society"; (2) developing incentives to encourage environmentally and socially responsible behaviour, such as tax deductions; 3) increasing moral education for people, especially for the future generations.

The Chinese general public and government officials were found to care about much broader issues, and behave as responsible and strict judges. The main responsibility of the government is to create an overall infrastructure to support values and moral development. The government should also provide legislation and facilities to mandate and encourage responsible business; for example, improving and perfecting legislation related to environmental protection, labour rights, and corporate responsibilities. This dissertation also implies that the Chinese government should change its concentration on economic development to sustainability development in public policy decision-making. For other stakeholders such as the general public, I would like to urge an increase in their roles in CSR issues. Other related stakeholders should act as the "monitor" to oversee key stakeholders and corporate performances.

This dissertation suggests that the CSR objective of a corporation's top management should be to manage the divergent and conflicting interests of multiple stakeholders. They should not only consider the requirements of key stakeholders, but also take other stakeholders into account, and balance the interests of multiple stakeholders. I would like to suggest that the overall goal of corporations is to increase the satisfaction of all stakeholders. In practice, I interpret the process of CSR performance as the process of stakeholder management, which includes communication and the relationship between corporations and stakeholders. "Stakeholder dialogue" and "multi-stakeholder networks" are tools recommended to improve communication between stakeholders and corporations on CSR issues.

Fifth, and most significantly at the heterogeneous individual level, this dissertation contributes to previous research on the practical aspects of CSR by highlighting the effects of values on such perceptions. It analysed the effect of various factors on the perception of individuals, including demographic factors such as gender, age, major and study level. Above all these demographic factors, I find a significant interrelationship between values and perceptions. The importance of values as a driver of ethical behaviour and decision-making has been generally recognized. This dissertation has provided more empirical proof of this notion, since both CSR and the ethical values of corporations are derived from the expectations of various stakeholders, and affected by individual ethical behaviour. The increase in ethical values at the individual level could drive both corporate ethical values which lead corporate ethical behaviour, and individual ethical behaviour which are realigned in the corporate ethical behaviours. The implication is that the way to achieve responsible behaviour and develop CSR is to develop individual values and cultivate individual virtues.

Since the importance of personal values to the CSR has been recognised, I would like to invoke the critical role of moral (ethical) education. I believe my research indicates a direction for moral education, at least for China. The challenge for Chinese moral education is to balance the conflicts between collectivistic disciplines and responsibilities, and individualistic innovation and freedom. Further development and integration of traditional virtues and new market values will be the main task. Emerging new issues such as business ethics and CSR will be an indispensable part of the moral education for 21st-century China.

In general, we should first consider the relationship between ethical behaviour and specific values dimensions, then target influential values and develop people's values further in order to rectify their behaviour. For example, biospheric value orientation is an ecological world-view which can be found among Schwartz's self-transcendence values, and has a powerful effect on environmental issues (Stern and Dietz, 1994; Fukukawa *et al.*, 2007). Thus, if we want to improve environmental responsibility, cultivating the individual's biospheric values will help. In practice, we should endorse values such as unity with nature, a world of beauty, and the protection of nature. As Wong *et al.* (2009) suggested, since ethical and social responsibility values can best be embraced by experiential approaches, extracurricular activities should be promoted in values education, including volunteer activities, life practice, and training in communities and enterprises, and community service.

I believe the harmony approach to CSR which is defined in this dissertation can help us understand the importance of moral education and bring meaningful guidance both for individuals and corporations. The harmony approach to CSR lies in moral cultivation and the development of virtues, those epitomised in the Confucian "superior", instead of pure profit-seeking. In the harmony approach to CSR, I have explained the primary reason that business activities are only a part of life and one should not seek material wealth at the expense of virtues. In general, cultivation of virtues and a contribution to the construction of a harmonious society should be the overall goal of both individuals and corporations. The Confucian concept of five cardinal relationships and a harmonious society can help to understand the interpersonal societal relationships, and to realize that we are not simply responsible for our own acts but also society as a whole. The suggested moral cultivation principles, moral leadership, and proper virtues are arguably vital pillars in moral education.

## LIST OF REFERENCES

- Adams, C. A.: 2004, 'The ethical, social and environmental reporting performance portrayal gap', Accounting, Auditing and Accountability Journal, 17(5), 731-757.
- Alas, R.: 2006, 'Ethics in countries with different cultural dimensions', Journal of Business Ethics 69(3), 237-247.
- Allport, G. W.: 1961, 'Pattern and growth in personality', New York: Holt, Rinehart & Winston.
- Ahlstedt, L., and I. Jahnukainen: 1971, 'Yritysorganisaatio yhteistoiminnan ohjausjaerjestelmaenae', Helsinki: Weilin + Goeoes.
- Alkhafaji, A. F.: 1989, 'A stakeholder approach to corporate governance. Managing in a dynamic environment', Westport, CT: Quorum Books.
- Ameen, E. C., D. M. Guffey, and J. J. McMillan: 1996, 'Gender differences in determining the ethical sensitivity of future accounting professionals', Journal of Business Ethics 15(5), 591–597.
- Andriof J. and M. Mcintosh: 2001, 'Introduction: Perspectives on Corporate Citizenship', 1.edn, UK: Greenleaf Publishing Limited.
- ---, S. Waddock, B. Husted, and S. S. Rahman: 2002, 'Unfolding Stakeholder Thinking: Theory, Responsibility and Engagement', Greenleaf Publishing, Sheffield, 1–18.
- ---, J. and S. Waddock: 2002, 'Unfolding stakeholder engagement', In Andriof, J., Waddock, S., Husted, B. and Rahman, S.S. (Eds.), Unfolding Stakeholder Thinking: Theory, Responsibility and Engagement, Sheffield: Greenleaf. 19–42.
- Ansoff, I.: 1965, 'Corporate Planning', New York: McGraw Hill.
- Apostol, O.: 2011, 'Supporting whose interest? Discussions on Corporate Social Responsibility in business media texts The case of Romania', Academic dissertation, University of Tampere.
- Argandona, A.: 1998, 'The Stakeholder Theory and the Common Good', Journal of Business Ethics 17(9/10), 1093–1102.
- --- 2003, 'Fostering values in organizations', Journal of Business Ethics 45(1-2), 15-28.
- Argenti, J.: 1993, 'Your Organization: What is it for?' McGraw-Hill, London.
- Arlow P.: 1991, 'Personal characteristics in college students evaluations of business ethics and Corporate Social Responsibility', Journal of Business Ethics, 10(1), 63–69.
- Aras, G. and D. Crowther: 2009, 'Corporate sustainability reporting: a study in disingenuity?' Journal of Business Ethics 87 (1), 279-288.
- Athanassoulis, N.: 2004, 'Virtue ethics', in Internet Encyclopedia of Philosophy, Keele University, http://www.iep.utm.edu/virtue/.
- Axinn, C.N., M. E. Blair, A. Heorhiadi, and S. V. Thach: 2004, 'Comparing ethical ideologies across cultures", Journal of Business Ethics 54(22), 103-119.
- Baier, A.: 1985, 'Postures of the Mind', Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- Barnard, C. I.: 1938, 'The functions of the executive', Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

- Baron, D.: 2001, 'Private politics, Corporate Social Responsibility and integrated strategy' Journal of Economics and Management Strategy 10(1), 7–45.
- Barry, V.: 1979, 'Moral Issues in Business', Belmont, Calif.: Wadsworth.
- Barnett, T., K. Bass, G. Brown and F. J. Hebert: 1998, 'Ethical ideology and the ethical judgments of marketing professionals', Journal of Business Ethics 17(7), 715–723.
- Barnett, M.: 2007, 'Stakeholder influence capacity and the variability of financial returns to corporate social responsibility', Academy of Management Review, 32 (3): 794-816.
- Baumgartner, H., and J-B. E.M. Steenkamp: 2001, 'Response styles in marketing research: A cross-national investigation', Journal of Marketing research 38(2), 143-156.
- Beekun, R. I., and J. A. Badawi: 2005, 'Balancing ethical responsibility among multiple organizational stakeholders: the Islamic perspective', Journal of Business Ethics 60(2), 131-145.
- Benedict, R.: 1934, 'Patterns of culture', Houghton Mifflin, Boston.
- Bennett, W. J.: 1993, 'The book of virtues: A treasury of the world's great moral stories', Simon & Schuster, New York.
- --- 1995, 'The moral compass: stories for a life's journey', Simon & Schuster, New York.
- Beckmann, S. C., and S. Askegaard: 1997, 'Seeing with the mind's eye: An exploratory study of the use of pictorial stimuli in value research', Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Bell, D.: 1973, 'The coming of post-industrial society. A venture in social forecasting', Basic Books, New York.
- Bengtson, V. L. and M. C. Lovejoy: 1973, 'Values, personality, and social structure: An intergenerational analysis', American Behavioral Scientist 16(July/August), 880-912.
- Berman, S. L., A. C. Wicks, S. Kotha, and T. M. Jones: 1999, 'Does Stakeholder Orientation Matter? The Relationship Between Stakeholder Management Models and Firm Financial Performance', Academy of Management Review 42 (5), 488–506.
- Berrone, P., J. Surroca, and J. A. Teibo: 2007, 'Corporate Ethical Identity as a determinant of firm performance: A test of the mediating role of stakeholder satisfaction', Journal of Business Ethics 76(1), 35-53.
- Beuckelaer, A.D., F. Lievens, and G. Swinnen: 2007, 'Measurement equivalence in the conduct of a global organizational survey across countries in six cultural regions' Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology 80, 575–600.
- Bhattacharya, C. B., D. Korschun, and S. Sen: 2009, 'Strengthening stakeholder–company relationships through mutually beneficial corporate social responsibility initiatives', Journal of Business ethics 85(2), 257-272.
- Bird, F. and J. Smucker: 2007, 'The Social Responsibilities of international business firms in developing areas', Journal of Business Ethics 73(1), 1-9.
- BSR (Business for Social Responsibility): 1992, available at http://www.bsr.org/ (visited at Jan, 2009).
- Boatright, J. R.: 1993, 'Ethics and the Conduct of Business', Prentice-Hall Inc.
- Borkowski, S. C. and Y. J. Ugras: 1992, 'The ethical attitudes of students as a function of age, sex, and experience', Journal of Business Ethics 11(12), 961–979.
- --- 1998, 'Business students and ethics: A meta-analysis', Journal of Business Ethics, 17, 1117-1127.

Bowen, H. R.: 1953, 'Social Responsibility of the businessman', Harper & Row, New York.

- Bowie, N.: 1988, 'The moral obligations of multinational corporations', In S. Luper-Foy (Ed.), Problems of international justice: 97-113. Boulder, CO: Westview Press.
- Brammer, S. and A. I. Millington: 2006, 'Firm size, organizational visibility and corporate philanthropy: An empirical analysis', Business Ethics: A European Review 15 (1), 6-18.
- Brenner, S. N.: 1993, 'The stakeholder theory of the firm and organizational decision making: Some propositions and a model', In J. Pasquero & D. Collins (Eds.), Proceedings of the Fourth Annual Meeting of the International Association for Business and Society: 205- 210. San Diego.
- --- 1995, 'Stakeholder theory of the firm: Its consistency with current management techniques', In J. Ndsi (Ed.), Understanding stakeholder thinking: 75-96. Helsinki: LSR-Julkaisut Oy.
- --- , & P. Cochran: 1991, 'A stakeholder theory of the firm: Implications for business and society theory and research', Proceedings of the International Society for Business and Society: 449-467.
- Brønn, P. S. and A. B., Vrioni: 2001, 'Corporate social responsibility and cause –related marketing: An overview', International Journal of Advertising 20(2), 207-222.
- Burton, B. K., and W. H. Hegarty: 1999, "Some determinants of student Corporate Social Responsibility orientation", Business and Society 38(2), 188–206.
- --- , J. L. Farh, and W. H. Hegarty: 2000, 'A Cross-cultural comparison of Corporate Social Responsibility orientation: Hong Kong vs. United States students', Teaching Business Ethics 4(2), 151-167.
- Carroll, A. B.: 1979, 'A Three-dimensional conceptual model of corporate social performance', Academy of Management Review 4(4), 497-505.
- --- 1989, 'Business and Society. Ethics and Stakeholder Management', Cincinnati, OH, USA: South-Western Publishing.
- --- 1996, 'Business and society: Ethics and stakeholder management', 3rd Edition, South-Western College Publishing, Cincinnati.
- --- 1991, 'The pyramid of Corporate Social Responsibility: Toward the moral management of organizational stakeholders', Business Horizons 34(4), 39–48.
- --- 1993, 'Business and society: Ethics and stakeholder management', (2nd ed.). Cincinnati: South-Western.
- --- 1999, 'Corporate Social Responsibility: Evolution of a definitional construct', Business and Society, 38, 268–295.
- --- 2008, 'A history of Corporate Social Responsibility: Concepts and practices', in A. Crane, A. Mcwilliams, D. Matten, J. Moon, D. Siegel (eds), The Oxford Handbook of Corporate Social Responsibility, Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- --- & A. K. Buchholtz: 2000, 'Business and society. Ethics and stakeholder management', 4th Edition, South-Western College Publishing, Cincinnati.

Carr, D.: 1991, 'Educating the Virtues', London, Routledge.

Cacioppe, R., Forster, N., and M. Fox: 2008, 'A survey of managers' perceptions of corporate ethics and Social Responsibility and actions that may affect companies' success', Journal of Business Ethics 82(3), 681-700.

- Cawley M. J.: 1997, 'The virtues scale: a psychological examination of the structure of virtue and the relationships between virtue, personality, moral development, and epistemological style', Doctoral dissertation, The Pennsylvania State University.
- CED (Committee for Economic Development): 1971, 'Social Responsibilities of Business Corporations', New York: Author.
- Cespa, G., and G. Cestone: 2007, 'Corporate Social Responsibility and Managerial Entrenchment', Journal of Economics and Management Strategy 16 (3), 741-771.
- Charles W. L. H, and G. R. Jones: 2001, 'Strategic Management', Fifth Edition, Houghton Mifflin, Means Business, Inc.
- Chonko, L. B. and S. D. Hunt: 1985, 'Ethics and marketing management: an empirical examination', Journal of Business Research 13(4), 339–359.
- Chung, D. K.: 1995, 'Confucianism: A Portrait', A Sourcebook for Earth's Community of Religions, Chap. 6 (CoNexus Press, NJ).
- Clarkson, M.: 1995a, 'The Toronto conference: reflections on stakeholder theory', Business & Society 33(1), 82–131.
- --- 1994, 'A risk based model of stakeholder theory', Proceedings of the Second Toronto Conference on Stakeholder Theory. Toronto: Centre for Corporate Social Performance & Ethics, University of Toronto.
- --- 1995b, 'A stakeholder framework for analyzing and evaluating corporate social performance', Academy of Management Review 20(1), 92–117.
- Conklin, N. L., J. Jones, J., and R. D. Safrit: 1992, 'Values: Acting on our shared beliefs', Journal of Home Economics, 84 (4), 17-21.
- Cordano, M., I. H. Frieze, and K. M. Ellis: 2004, 'Entangled Affiliations and Attitudes: An Analysis of the Influences on Environmental Policy Stakeholders' Behavioral Intentions', Journal of Business Ethics 49(1), 27-40.
- Cornell, B., and A. C. Shapiro: 1987, 'Corporate stakeholders and corporate finance', Financial Management 16, 5-14.
- Costin, H.:1999, 'Strategies for quality improvement', Fort Worth, Texas: The Dryden Press.
- Crane, A., A. McWilliams, J. Moon, and D. Siegel: 2008, 'The Corporate Social Responsibility Agenda', In A. Crane, A. McWilliams, D. Matten, J. Moon & D. Siegel (Eds.), The Oxford Handbook of Corporate Social Responsibility (pp.3-18). New York: Oxford University Press.
- --- & D. Matten D.: 2004, 'Business ethics: Managing Corporate Citizenship and Sustainability in the Age of Globalization', Second edition, Oxford University Press.
- Craig, C.S. and S. P. Douglas: 2005, 'International marketing research'. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
- Crowther, D.: 2000, 'Social and environmental accounting', Financial Times Prentice Hall, London.
- Dhar, U., S. Parashar, and T. Tiwari: 2008, 'Profession and dietary habits as determinants of perceived and expected values: an empirical study', Journal of Human Values 14(2), 181-190.

- Davis, K.: 1960, 'Can Business Afford to Ignore Social Responsibilities', California Management Review 2(3), 70–76.
- Deshpande, S. P.: 1997, 'Managers' perception of proper ethical conduct: The effect of sex, age, and level of education', Journal of Business Ethics 16(1), 79–85.
- DE George, R.T.: 1999, 'Business Ethics, 5th edition', Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, NJ.
- Dill, W. R.: 1975, 'Public Participation in Corporate Planning', Long Range Planning, Vol.8, 57-63.
- Doh, J. P.: 2005, 'Offshore outsourcing: implications for international business and strategic management theory and practice', Journal of Management Studies 42 (3), 695-704.
- --- & T. R. Guay: 2006, 'Corporate social responsibility, public policy, and NGO activism in Europe and the United States: An institutional-stakeholder perspective', Journal of Management Studies 43(1), 47-73.
- Donaldson, L.: 1990, 'The ethereal hand: organizational economics and management theory', Academy of Management Review 15, 369–381.
- Donaldson, T.: 1989, 'The ethics of business ethics, New York: Oxford University Press.
- --- & L. Preston: 1995. 'The stakeholder theory of the corporation: concepts, evidence, and implications'. Academy of Management Review 20(1), 65–91.
- --- & W. Dunfee: 1994, 'Toward a unified conception of business ethics: integrative social contract theory', Academy of Management Review 19(2), 252–284.
- --- 1999, 'Ties That Bind: A Social Contracts Approach to Business Ethics', Harvard Business School Press, Boston.
- Drucker, P. F.: 1954, 'The practice of management', New York: Harper and Row Publishers.
- Douglas, S.P. and E. J. Nijssen: 2002, 'On the use of borrowed scales in cross-national research', International marketing review 20(6), 621 642.
- Dunn, C.: 1990, 'The Stakeholder Approach as Ethical Theory: A Critical Review', Paper presented at the annual meeting of the Academy of Management.
- --- & N. Brady: 1995, 'From Rules to Relationship: A Review of the Search for an Ethical Justification of Stakeholder Interests', Proceedings of the International Association for Business and Society: 47-52.
- Dunfee, T. W.: 2008, 'Stakeholder Theory: Managing Corporate Social Responsibility in a Multiple Actor Context', in A. Crane, D. Matten, J. Moon, and A. McWilliams (eds.), The Oxford Handbook of Corporate Social Responsibility (Oxford University Press, New York/Oxford), 346-362.
- England, G. W.: 1967, 'Personal value systems of American managers', Academy of Management Journal 10 (1), 53-68.
- Elias, R. Z.: 2004, 'An examination of business students' perception of Corporate Social Responsibilities before and after bankruptcies', Journal of Business Ethics 52(3), 267–281.
- Elibirt, H., and I. R. Parket: 1973, 'The current status of Corporate Social Responsibility', Business Horizons 16(Aug), 5-14.
- Elkington, J.: 1998, 'Cannibals with Forks: The Triple Bottom Line of 21st Century Business', New Society Publishers: Gabriola Island, Canada.

- Epstein, E. M.: 1987, 'The corporate social policy process: beyond business ethics, Corporate Responsibility, and Corporate Social Responsiveness', California Management Review 29(3), 99–114.
- Erusalimsky, A., R. Gray and C. Spence: 2006, 'Towards a more systematic study of standalone corporate social and environmental reporting: an exploratory pilot study of UK reporting', Social and Environmental Accounting Journal 26(1), 12–19.
- Evan, W. M., and R. E. Freeman: 1988, 'A stakeholder theory of the modern corporation: Kantian capitalism', In T. L. Beauchamp & N. Bowie (Eds.), Ethical theory and business: 75-84. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- --- 1993, 'A Stakeholder Theory of the Modern Corporation: A Kantian Analysis', In Ethical Theory and Business, 4th ed., edited by Tom L. Beauchamp and Norman E. Bowie, 75–84. Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice Hall.
- Fan, Y.: 2000, 'A Classification of Chinese Culture Cross Cultural Management', An International Journal 7(2), 3–10.
- Fassin, Y.: 2009, 'The Stakeholder model redefined', Journal of Business Ethics 84: pp. 113–135.
- Feather, N. T.: 1988, 'From values to actions: recent application of expectancy-value model', Australian Journal of Psychology 40(2), 105–124.
- --- 1995, 'Values, valences, and choice: The influence of values on the perceived attractiveness and choice of alternatives', Journal of Personality and Social Psychology 68(6), 1135–1151.
- Feddersen, T. and T. Gilligan: 2001, 'Saints and markets: activists and the supply of credence goods', Journal of Economics and Management Strategy 10, 149-171.
- Ferrell, O., and L. Gresham: 1985, 'A contingency framework for understanding ethical decision-making in marketing', Journal of Marketing 49(3), 87–96.
- --- & J. Fraedrich: 1997, 'Business ethics: Ethical decision making and cases', 3rd edition, Houghton Mifflin Co., Boston.
- Ferrary, M.: 2009, 'A Stakeholder's Perspective on Human Resource Management', Journal of Business Ethics 87(1), 31-43.
- Finegan J.: 1994, 'The impact of personal values on judgements of ethical behaviour in the workplace', Journal of Business Ethics 13(9), 747–755.
- Fisher, J.: 2004, 'Social Responsibility and ethics: clarifying the concepts', Journal of Business ethics 52(4), 391–400.
- Fombrun, C.J., and M. Shanley: 1990, 'What's in a name? Reputation building and corporate strategy', Academy of Management Journal 33, 233-258.
- Ford, R. C, and W. D. Richardson: 1994, 'Ethical decision making: a review of the empirical literature', Journal of Business Ethics 13(3), 205–221.
- Freeman, R. E.: 1984, 'Strategic management: a stakeholder perspective', Pitman Publishing Inc, Boston.
- --- 2002, 'Stakeholder Theory of the Modern Corporation', in T. Donaldson and P. Werhane (eds.), Ethical Issues in Business: A Philosophical Approach, 7th Edition, Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ, 38–48.
- --- 1994, 'The politics of stakeholder theory: Some future directions', Business Ethics Quarterly 4, 409-421.

- --- & D. L. Reed: 1983, 'Stockholders and stakeholders: A new perspective on corporate governance', California Management Review 25(3), 93-94.
- --- & W. M. Evan: 1990, 'Corporate governance: A stakeholder interpretation', Journal of Behavioural Economics, 19, 337-359.
- --- & D. R. Gilbert: 1987, 'Managing stakeholder relationships', In S. P. Sethi & C. M. Falbe (Eds.), Business and society: Dimensions of conflict and cooperation, 397-423. Lexington, MA: Lexington Books.
- --- & D. E., Gilbert: 1988, 'corporate strategy and the search for ethics', Prentice Hall, NJ.
- --- & R. A. Phillips: 2002, 'Stakeholder theory: A libertarian Defence', Business Ethics Quarterly12 (Jul), 331-349.
- ---, J. S. Harrison, A. C. Wicks, B. L. Parmar, and S. de. Colle: 2010, 'Stakeholder theory: the state of the art', Cambridge University Press.
- Frederick, W. C.: 1978, 'From CSR1 to CSR2: The maturing of business and society thought', Working Paper No. 279, Graduate School of Business: University of Pittsburgh.
- --- 1987, 'Theories of Corporate Social Performance', in S. P. Sethi and C. M. Flabe (ed.), Business and Society: Dimensions of Conflict and Cooperation (Lexington Books, New York), 142–161.
- --- 1992, 'Anchoring values in nature: towards a theory of business values', Business Ethics Quarterly 2(3), 283–304.
- --- 1998, 'Moving to CSR4', Business and Society 37(1), 40-60.
- Frenkel, S. and S. Kim: 2004, 'Corporate codes of labour practice and employment relations in sports shoe contractor factories in South Korea', Asia Pacific Journal of Human Resources 42(1), 6-31.
- Friedman, M.: 1962, 'Capitalism and freedom', University of Chicago Press: Chicago, IL, USA.
- --- 1970, 'The Social Responsibility of business is to increase its profits, The New York Times Magazine 13, September.
- Fritzsche, D. J., and E. Oz: 2007, 'Personal values' influence on the ethical dimension of decision making', Journal of Business Ethics, 75, 335-343.
- Frooman, J.: 1999, 'Stakeholder Influence Strategies', Academy of Management Review 24(2), 191-205.
- Fukukawa, K. W. E. Shafer, G. M. Lee: 2007, 'Values and attitudes toward Social and Environmental Accountability: A study of MBA students'. Journal of Business Ethics 71(4), 381–394.
- Gandal N, S. Roccas, L. Sagiv, A. Wrzesniewski: 2005, 'Personal value priorities of economists', Human Relations 58(10), 1227–1251.
- Gao, Y. Q: 2009, 'Corporate Social Performance in China: Evidence from large companies', Journal of Business Ethics 89(1), 23-35.
- Garriga E., and D. Melé: 2004, 'Corporate social responsibility theories: mapping the territory', Journal of Business Ethics 53(1–2), 51–71.
- Geva, A.: 2008, 'Three models of Corporate Social Responsibility: Interrelationships between theory, research, and practice', Business and Society Review 113(1), 1-41.

- Giacomino, D. and M. Akers: 1998, 'An examination of the differences between personal values and the value types of female and male accounting and non-accounting majors', Issues in Accounting Education 13(3), 565-584.
- Goodpaster, K.: 1991, 'Business Ethics and Stakeholder Analysis', Business Ethics Quarterly 1(1), 53–72.
- Grant, C.: 1991, 'Friedman Fallacies', Journal of Business Ethics, 10, 907-914.
- Greenfield, W. M.: 2004, 'In the Name of Corporate Social Responsibility', Business Horizons, January-February, 19-28.
- Greer, C., and H. Kohl, H.: 1995, 'A call to character: A family treasury of stories, poems, plays, proverbs, and fables to guide the development of values for you and your children', New York: Harper Collins Publishers.
- GRI (Global Reporting Initiatives): 2006, Sustainability Reporting Guidelines: G3, GRI. Amsterdam.
- Grube, J. W., M. M. Daniel, and S. J. Ball-Rokeach: 1994 'Inducing change in values, attitudes, and behaviours: belief system theory and the method of value self-confrontation', Journal of Social Issues 50(4), 153-174.
- Göbbels, M.: 2002, 'Reframing Corporate Social Responsibility: The contemporary conception of a fuzzy notion', in Van Marrewijk, M. (Ed.), Concepts and Definitions of CSR and Corporate Sustainability: Between Agency and Communion, Journal of Business Ethics, Vol. 44, 95-105.
- Greasley, A.: 1999, 'Operations Management in Business', Stanley Thornes (publishers) Ltd, UK.
- Hancock, J.: 2005, 'Introduction: Why This Subject? Why This Book?', in J. Hancock (eds.), Investing in Corporate Social Responsibility: A Guide to Best Practice, Business Planning and the UK's Leading Companies (Kogan Page, London), 1–4.
- Hagen, E. E.: 1964, 'On the theory of social change', Tavistock, London.
- Halme, M.: 1997, 'Environmental management paradigm shifts in business enterprises. Organisational learning relating to recycling and forest management issues in two Finnish paper companies', Academic dissertation, University of Tampere.
- Hall, J., and H. Vredenburg: 2005, 'Managing stakeholder ambiguity', MIT Sloan Management Review 47(1): 11-13.
- Hartman, C.L. and C.L. Beck-Dudley: 1995, 'Marketing ethics and the search for virtue", in J.R. Evans, B. Berman and B. Barak (eds), Proceedings: 1995 Research Conference on Ethics and Social Responsibility in Marketing (Hofstra University School of Business Press, Hempstead, NY), 1-14.
- Halter, M., and M. Arruda: 2009, 'Inverting the pyramid of values? trends in lessdeveloped countries', Journal of Business Ethics 90(3), 267-275.
- Hansen, R. S.: 1992, 'A multidimensional scale for measuring business ethics: a purification and refinement', Journal of Business Ethics 11(7), 523–534.
- Harkness, J. A., F. J. R. Vijver, and P. Ph. Mohler: 2003, 'Cross-cultural survey methods', Wiley interscience.
- Hart, S. L.: 1995, 'A Natural-Resource-Based View of the Firm', Academy of Management Review 20(4), 986–1012.
- Haukioja, T.: 2007, 'Sustainable development and economic growth in the market economy', Academic dissertation, Turku School of Economics.

- Hawkins, D. I. and A. B. Cocanougher: 1972, 'Student Evaluations of the Ethics of Marketing Practices: The Role of Marketing Education', Journal of Marketing, 36(April): pp. 61–64.
- Hemingway, C. A: 2005, 'The role of personal values in corporate social entrepreneurship', research paper series: No. 31–2005, International Centre for Corporate Social Responsibility, Nottingham University Business School.
- --- & P. W. Maclagan: 2004, 'Managers' personal values as drivers of Corporate Social Responsibility', Journal of Business Ethics 50(1), 33–44.
- Hemphill, T. A.: 2004, 'Corporate Citizenship: The Case for a new corporate governance model', Business and Society Review, 109: 339–361.
- Hill, C. W. L., and T. M. Jones: 1992, 'Stakeholder-agency theory', Journal of Management Studies 29(2), 131-154.
- Hillman, J.: 1996, 'The soul's code: In search of character and calling', New York, NY: Random House.
- Hofstede, G.: 1980, 'Culture's consequences: international differences in work-related values', Sage Publications: Beverly Hills, CA, USA.
- --- 1991, 'Cultures and organizations: software of the mind', McGraw-Hill: London.
- --- 1993, 'Cultural constraints in management theories', Academy of Management Executive 7(1), 81-94.
- --- 'Culture's consequences: comparing values, behaviours, institutions, and organizations across nations', 2nd eds, Sage Publications: Thousand Oaks, CA, USA.
- Homer, P. M., and L. R. Kahle: 1988, 'A structural equation test of the value-attitudebehaviour hierarchy', Journal of Personality and Social Psychology 54, 638–646.
- Hopkins, M.: 2004, 'Corporate Social Responsibility: An Issue Paper', Working paper No. 27, International Labour Organization, Geneva.
- Hosseini, J. C. and S. N. Brenner: 1992, 'The Stakeholder Theory of the Firm: A Methodology to Generate Value Matrix Weights', Business Ethics Quarterly 2(2), 99–119.
- House, R. J., P. J. Hanges, M. Javidan, P. W. Dorfman, and V. Gupta: 2004, 'Culture, Leadership, and Organizations, The GLOBE Study of 62 Societies', Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks.
- Huang, Y. L.: 2008, 'Revamping CSR in China', Leading Perspectives, CSR in the People's Republic of China, Winter 2007–2008, BSR.
- Hunt, S. D., and S. Vitell: 1986, 'A general theory of marketing ethics', Journal of Macromarketing 6(1), 5–16.
- --- S. Vitell: 1991, 'The general theory of marketing ethics: a revision and three questions', Journal of Macromarketing 26(2), 143–153.
- ---, V.R. Wood and L.B. Chonko: 1989, 'Corporate ethical values and organizational

commitment in marketing', Journal of Marketing, 53, 79-90.

- Hu, Y. C., and C. C. F. Wang: 2007, 'Collectivism, Corporate Social Responsibility, and Resource Advantages in Retailing', Journal of Business Ethics 86(1). 1-13.
- Hursthouse, R.: 1999, 'On Virtue Ethics', Oxford: OUP.
- Ibrahim, N. A., D. P. Howard, and J. P. Angelidis: 2008, 'The relationship between religiousness and corporate social responsibility orientation: are there differences between business managers and students?' Journal of Business Ethics 78(1-2), 165-174.

- Inglehart, R.: 1977, 'The Silent Revolution. Changing values and political styles among Western publics', Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ.
- Jackson, T.: 2000, 'Management ethics and corporate policy: a cross-cultural comparison', Journal of Management Studies 37(3), 349-369.
- Jamali, D.: 2008, 'A Stakeholder Approach to Corporate Social Responsibility: A Fresh Perspective into Theory and Practice', Journal of Business Ethics 82(1), 213-231.
- --- & R. Mirshak: 2007, 'Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR): Theory and practice in a developing country context', Journal of Business Ethics 72(3), 243-263.
- Jehn, K.A., C. Chadwick, S. M. Thatcher: 1997, 'To agree or not to agree? The effects of value congruence, individual demographic dissimilarity and conflict on workgroup outcomes', The International Journal of Conflict Management 8(4), 287-305.
- Jennings, P., and P. Zandbergen: 1995, 'Ecologically sustainable organizations: An institutional approach', Academy of Management Review 20(4): 1015–1052.
- Jensen, M. C.: 2000, 'Value Maximization and the Corporate Objective Function', in M. Beer and N. Nohria, Breaking the Code of Change (Boston: Harvard Business School Press), 37-58.
- --- 2002, 'Value maximization, stakeholder theory, and the corporate objective function', Business Ethics Quarterly 12(2), 235-256.
- Jones, T. M.: 1980, 'Corporate Social Responsibility revisited, redefined', California Management Review, 22(2): 59-67.
- --- 1991, 'Ethical decision making by individuals in organizations: an issue contingent model', Academy of Management Review 16 (April), 366–395.
- --- 1995, 'instrumental stakeholder theory: a synthesis of ethics and economics', Academy of Management Review 20(2), 404–437.
- --- & A. C. Wicks: 1999, 'Convergent Stakeholder Theory', Academy of Management Review 24(2), 206–221.
- Johnson, H. L.: 1971, 'Business in contemporary society: framework and issues', Belmont, CA: Wadsworth.
- Johnson-Cramer, M.E., S. L. Berman, and J. E. Post: 2003, 'Re-examining the concept of stakeholder management', In Andriof, J., Waddock, S., Husted, B. and Rahman, S.S. (Eds.), Unfolding Stakeholder Thinking: Relationships, Communication, Reporting and Performance: 145–161. Sheffield: Greenleaf.
- Joutsenvirta, M.: 2006, 'Ympäristökeskustelun yhteiset arvot. Diskurssianalyysi Enson ja Greenpeacen ympäristökirjoituksista', Helsinki School of Economics.
- Joyner, B. E., D. Payne, and C. A. Raiborn: 2002, 'Building values, business ethics and Corporate Social Responsibility into the developing organization', Journal of Developmental Entrepreneurship 7(1), 113-131.
- Kahle, L. R.: 1983, 'Social values and social change: adaption to life in America', Praeger, New York, NY.
- --- , R. A. Kulka and D. M. Klingel: 1980, 'Low adolescent self-esteem leads to multiple interpersonal problems: a test of social adaption theory', Journal of Personality and Social Psychology 39, 496–502.
- Kaler, J.: 2002, 'Morality and strategy in stakeholder identification', Journal of Business Ethics, 39(1/2), 91-99.
- --- 2006, 'Evaluating Stakeholder Theory', Journal of Business Ethics 69(3), 249-268.

- Kallio, T. J.: 2004, 'Organisaatiot, johtaminen ja ympäristö organisaatiotieellisen ympäristötutkimuksen ongelmista kohti yleistä teoriaa yritys-luontosuhteesta', Academic dissertation, Turku School of Economics and Business Administration.
- Karp, D. R.: 2000. 'Values: theory and research', in Encyclopedia of Sociology, 2nd ed. vol. 5, edited by Edgar F. B., and Rhonda J. V. M. New York: Macmillan Reference. 3212-27.
- Key, S.: 1999, 'Toward a new theory of the firm: a critique of stakeholder "theory"', Management Decision 37(4) 317-328.
- Khandelwal, K. A., and N. Mohendra.: 2010, 'Espoused organizational values, vision, and corporate social responsibility: does it matter to organizational members?' Vikalpa 35(3), 19-35.
- Kilmann, R. H., M. J. Saxton, R. Serpa, R. F. Allen, J. M. Beyer, and S. M. Davis: 1985, 'Gaining control of the corporate culture', San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Kitayama, S., H. R. Markus, H. Matsumoto, and V. Norasakkunkit: 1997, 'Individual and collective processes in the construction of the self: self-enhancement in the united states and self-criticism in Japan, Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 72(6), 1245-1267.
- Kluckhohn, C.: 1951, 'Values and value-orientations in the theory of action', in Towards a General Theory of Action, ed. T. Parsons and E. Shils, Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 388-433.
- Kluckhohn, F., and F. Strodtbeck: 1961, 'Variations in value orientations', Row, Peterson, Evanston, IL.
- Knox, S., S. Maklan and P. French: 2005, 'Corporate Social Responsibility: exploring stakeholder relationships and program reporting across leading FTSE companies', Journal of Business Ethics 61, 7–28.
- Kohn, M. L.: 1977, 'Reassessment 1977', in Kohn, Class and conformity: A study in values, 2<sup>nd</sup> ed., Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Kourula, A.: 2009, 'Company engagement with nongovernmental organizations from a corporate responsibility perspective', Academic dissertation, Helsinki School of Economics.
- Kovács, G.: 2006, 'Corporate environmental responsibility in demand networks', Academic dissertation, Swedish School of Economics and Business Administration.
- Kujala, J.: 2001, 'Liiketoiminnan moraalia etsimässä Suomalaisten teollisuusjohtajien sidosryhmänäkemykset ja moraalinen päätöksenteko', Academic dissertation, University of Jyväskylä.
- Kupperman, J.: 1991, 'Character', New York: Oxford University Press.
- Kurucz, E., B. Colbert and D. Wheeler: 2008, 'The business case for corporate social responsibility', In Crane, A., McWilliams, A., Matten, D., Moon, J. and Siegel, D. (eds), 'The Oxford Handbook of Corporate Social Responsibility', Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 83–112.
- KPMG: 2005, 'International survey of corporate responsibility reporting', Amsterdam: KPMG.
- Lages, L. F., and J. C. Fernandes: 2005 'The SERPVAL scale: a multi-item instrument for measuring service personal values', Journal of Business Research, Elsevier 58(11), 1562-1572.

- Lam, K. C., and G. C. Shi: 2008, 'Factors affecting ethical attitudes in mainland China and Hong Kong', Journal of Business Ethics77 (4), 463–479.
- Lam, J. K. C.: 2003, 'Confucian Business Ethics and the Economy', Journal of Business Ethics 43, 153–162.
- Lan, G., M. Gowing, S. McManhon, F. Rieger, and N. King: 2008, 'A study of the relationship between personal values and moral reasoning of undergraduate business students', Journal of Business Ethics 78(1), 121–139.
- Lan, G., Z. Z. Ma, J. A. Cao, and H. Zhang: 2009, 'A Comparison of personal values of Chinese accounting practitioners and students', Journal of Business Ethic 88(1), 59-76. Laan, G. V. D., H. V. Ees, and A. V. Witteloostuijn: 2008, 'Corporate Social and Financial Performance: An Extended Stakeholder Theory, and Empirical Test with Accounting Measures', Journal of Business Ethics 79(3), 299-310.
- Langtry, B.: 1994, 'Stakeholders and the moral responsibilities of business', Business Ethics Quarterly 4, 431-443.
- Lankoski, L.: 2000, 'Determinants of environmental profit. an analysis of the firm-level relationship between environmental performance and economic performance'. Academic dissertation, Aalto University.
- Larrinaga, C.: 2001, 'The GRI Sustainability Reporting Guidelines: A review of current practice', Social and Environmental Accounting Journal, 21, 1-4.
- Lawton, A.: 2000, 'Ethical management for the public services', Open University Press.
- Lee, K. H.: 1996, 'Moral Consideration and Strategic Management Moves: The Chinese Case', Management Decision (MCB University Press) 34(9), 65–70.
- Leitão, J. And M. J. Silva: 2007, 'CSR and Social Marketing: What is the Desired Role for Universities in Fostering Public Policies?' MPRA Paper No. 2954. posted 07. November 2007 / 02:51. Online at http://mpra.ub.uni-muenchen.de/2954/
- Liedtka, J.: 1996, 'Collaborating across lines of business for competitive advantage', Academy of Management Executive Journal 10(2), 20–37.
- Lindfelt, L. L.: 2006, 'Etik den saknade länken. Den industriella nätverksteorin i ett nytt värdeskapande perspektiv', Åbo Akademi University.
- --- & J.Å. Törnroos: 2006, 'Ethics and value creation in business research: comparing two approaches', European Journal of Marketing 40(3/4), 328 351.
- Ligeti, G., and A. Oravecz: 2009, 'CSR Communication of Corporate Enterprises in Hungary', Journal of Business Ethics 84(2), 137-149.
- Lipset, S. M.: 1963, 'The first new nation', Basic Books, New York.
- --- 1967, 'Values, education and entrepreneurship', In Lipset, S. M., and Solari, A. (eds.), Elites in Latin America. Oxford University Press, New York.
- Lindeman, M., and M. Verkasalo: 2005, 'Measuring values with the short Schwartz's value Survey', Journal of Personality Assessment 85, 170-178.
- Lodge, G.C., and E.F. Vogel: 1987, 'Ideology and national competitiveness: an analysis of nine countries'. Harvard Business School Press, Boston, Massachusetts.
- Lämsä, A. M.: 2001, 'Organizational downsizing and the Finnish manager from an ethical perspective', Academic dissertation, University of Jyväskylä.
- --- , M. Vehkaperä, T. Puttonen, and H. L. Pesonen: 2008, 'Effect of business education on women and men students' attitudes on corporate responsibility in society', Journal of Business Ethics 82(1), 45–58.

- Lu, L. C., G. M. Rose, and J. G. Blodgett: 1999, 'The effects of cultural dimensions on ethical decision making in marketing: an exploratory study', Journal of Business Ethics 18(1), 91-105.
- Lu, X. H.: 2009, 'A Chinese Perspective: Business Ethics in China Now and in the Future', Journal of Business ethics 86(4), 451-461.
- Macintyre, A. C.: 1981, 'After virtue: A study in moral theory', University of Notre Dame Press.
- Madariaga, J. G.D., and C. Valor: 2007, 'Stakeholders Management Systems: Empirical Insights from Relationship Marketing and Market Orientation', Journal of Business Ethics 71(4), 425–439.
- Maio, G. R. and J. M. Olson: 1998, 'values as truisms: evidence and implications', Journal of Personality and Social Psychology 74, 294–311.
- Maignan, I.: 2001, 'Consumers' perception of corporate social responsibilities: A crosscultural comparison', Journal of Business Ethics 30(1), 57-72.
- --- , and O. C. Ferrell: 2000, 'Measuring corporate citizenship in two countries: The case of the United States and France', Journal of Business Ethics, 23, 283-297.
- ---, B. Hillebrand, and D. McAlister: 2002, 'Managing Socially-responsible buying: How to integrate Non-economic criteria into the purchasing process', European Management Journal 20 (6), 641-648.
- ---, and O. C. Ferrell: 2003, 'Nature of corporate responsibilities: Perspectives from American, French and German consumers', Journal of Business Research 56(1), 55-67.
- ---, O. Ferrell and L. Ferrell: 2005, 'A stakeholder model for implementing social responsibility in marketing', European Journal of Marketing 29(9/10), 956–977.
- Marcoux, A. M. 2000, 'Balancing Act', in Contemporary Issues in Business Ethics, 4th edition, edited by J. R. DesJardins and J. J. McCall (Wadsworth), 92-100.
- Marrewijk, M.V.: 2003, 'Concepts and definitions of CSR and corporate sustainability: between agency and communion', Journal of Business Ethics 44(2), 95–105.
- Margolis, J. D., and J. P. Walsh: 2003, 'Misery loves companies: Rethinking social initiatives by business', Administrative Science Quarterly 48(2), 268-289.
- Matten, D., A. Crane, and W. Chapple: 2003, 'Behind the mask: revealing the true face of Corporate Citizenship', Journal of Business Ethics 45(½), 109-120.
- --- & J. Moon: 2004, 'Implicit and explicit CSR: A conceptual framework for understanding CSR in Europe', ICCSR Research Paper Series, No. 29.
- --- & A. Crane: 2005, 'Corporate Citizenship: toward an extended theoretical conceptualization', Academy of Management Review 30(1), 166–179.
- Mattila, M.: 2007, 'Value processing in organizations –individual perceptions in three case companies', Academic dissertation, Lappeenranta university of technology.
- Mayton, D. M., S. J. Ball-Rokeach, W. E. Loges: 1994, 'Human values and social issues: an introduction', Journal of Social Issues 50(4), 1–8.
- Mayo, B.: 1958, 'Ethics and the moral life', London: Macmillan.
- Meglino, B. M. and E. C. Ravlin: 1998, 'Individual values in organizations: concepts, controversies, and Research', Journal of Management 24(3), 351–389.
- Meilaender, G. C.: 1984, 'The theory and practice of virtue', University of Notre Dame Press.

- Marrewijk, M.V.: 2003, 'Concepts and definitions of CSR and corporate sustainability: between agency and communion', Journal of Business Ethics 44(2), 95–105.
- Meehan, J., K. Meehan, and A. Richards: 2006, 'Corporate Social Responsibility: the 3C-SR model', International Journal of Social Economics 33(5/6), 386-398.
- McClintock, C., and E. Van Avermaet: 1982, 'Social values and rules of fairness', In: V. Derlega & J. Grzelak (Eds), Cooperation and helping behaviour: theories and research, New York, Academic Press, chapter 3, 43-71.
- McGuire, J.W.: 1963, 'Business and Society', McGraw-Hill: NJ, USA, 272-273.
- McWilliams, A. and D. Siegel: 2001, 'Corporate Social Responsibility: A theory of the firm perspective', Academy of Management Review 26(1), 117–127.
- --- , D. S. Siegel, and P. M. Wright: 2006, 'Corporate social responsibility: Strategic implications', Journal of Management Studies 43(1), 1–18.
- Melé, D.: 2008, 'Corporate Social Responsibility Theories', In Crane, A., Mc Williams, A., Matten, D., Moon, J. and Siegel, D. (2008) The Oxford Handbook of Corporate Social Responsibility. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Mitchell, R., and M. O'Neal, M.: 1994, 'Managing by values: Is Levi Strauss' approach visionary or flaky?' Business Week, August 1: 46-52.
- Mitchell, R. K., B. R. Agle, and D. J. Wood: 1997, 'Toward a theory of stakeholder identification and salience: defining the principle of who and what really counts', The Academy of Management Review 22(4), 853-886.
- Mills, G. R., S. A. Austin, D. S. Thomson, and H. Devine-Wright: 2009, 'Applying a universal content and structure of values in construction management', Journal of Business Ethics 90(4), 473-501.
- Miles, S. and A. L. Friedman: 2002, 'Exploring the social construction of stakeholder management in the UK', Discussion Papers in Governance and Accountability No 02/008, Oxford Brookes University, Business School.
- Mintz, S. M.: 1996, 'Aristotelian virtue and business ethics education', Journal of Business Ethics 15: 827-838.
- Mikkilä, M.: 2006, 'The many faces of responsibility: Acceptability of the global pulp and paper industry in various societies', Academic dissertation, Dissertations Forestales, No25, University of Joensuu.
- --- , O. Kolehmainen, and T. Pukkala: 2005, 'Multi-attribute assessment of acceptability of operations in the pulp and paper industries', Forest Policy and Economics 7(2), 227– 243.
- Mitroff, I. I., J. R. Emshoff, and R. H. Kilmann: 1979, 'Assumptional analysis: A methodology for strategic problem solving', Management Science, 25: 583-593.
- Morrill, R.: 1980, 'Teaching values in college', Jossey Bass, San Francisco.
- Morimoto, R., J. Ash, and C. Hope: 2006, 'Corporate Social Responsibility audit: from theory to practice', Journal of Business ethics 62(4), 315-325.
- Morsing, M. and M. Schultz: 2006, 'Corporate Social Responsibility communication: Stakeholder information response and involvement strategies', Business Ethics: a European Review 15(4), 323–338.
- Moser, M. R.: 1986, 'A Framework for Analyzing Corporate Social Responsibility', Journal of Business Ethics 5(1), 69-72.

- Mullins, L. J.: 1999, 'Management and Organisational Behaviour', 5<sup>th</sup> edition, Financial Times Prentice Hall, Harlow.
- Murphy, P. E.: 1978, 'An evolution: Corporate Social Responsiveness', University of Michigan Business review 6(30), 19-25.
- --- 1999, 'Character and virtue ethics in international marketing: an agenda for managers, researchers and educators', Journal of Business Ethics 18(1), 107–124.
- Murphy, B. and R. M. Wang: 2006, 'an evaluation of stakeholder relationship marketing in China', Asia Pacific Journal of Marketing and Logistics 18(1), 7–18.
- Myyry, L. and K. Helkama: 2001, 'University students' value priorities and emotional empathy', Educational Psychology 21, 25-40.
- Myllyvainio, S. and N. Virkkala: 2006, 'Corporate Social Responsibility: A concept under translation in China', Orebro University, Örebro.
- Neville, B., S. Bell and G. Whitwell: 2004, 'stakeholder salience revisited: toward an actionable tool for the management of stakeholders', The Academy of Management Conference, 2004, Best Paper Proceedings (New Orleans).
- Newton, L.: 1992, 'Virtue and role reflections on the social nature of morality', Business Ethics Quarterly, 2, 357-365.
- Niskala M, and K. Tarna: 2003, 'Yhteiskuntavastuuraportointi'. KHT Media, Gummerus Oy, In Finnish.
- Näsi, J.: 1995, 'What is stakeholder thinking? A snapshot of a social theory of the firm', In J. Ndsi (Ed.), Understanding stakeholder thinking: 19-32. Helsinki: LSR-Julkaisut Oy.
- O'Dwyer, B.: 2005, 'The construction of a social account: a case study in an overseas aid agency', Accounting, Organizations and Society 30(3), 279-296.
- O'Fallon, M., and K. D. Butterfield: 2005, "A review of the empirical ethical decisionmaking literature: 1996-2003', Journal of Business Ethics, 59(4), 375-413.
- Orpen, C.: 1987, 'The attitudes of United States and South African managers to Corporate Social Responsibility', Journal of Business Ethics 6(2), 89–96.
- O'Reilly, C., and J. A. Chatman: 1996, 'Culture as social control: Corporations, cults, and commitment', In B. M. Staw & L. Cummings (Eds.), Research in Organizational Behaviour, Vol. 18 Stamford, CT: JAI Press, 287-365..
- Orlitzky, M., F. L. Schamidt, S. L. Rynes.: 2003, 'Corporate social and financial performance: A meta-analysis', Organization Studies 24(3), 403-441.
- Okleshen M., and R. Hoyt: 1996, 'A cross-cultural comparison of ethical perspectives and decision approaches of business students: United States of America Versus New Zealand', Journal of Business Ethics 15(5), 537–549.
- Onkila, T.: 2009, 'Environmental rhetoric in Finnish business: environmental values and stakeholder relations in the corporate argumentation of acceptable environmental management', University of Jyväskylä.
- Ott, J. S.: 1989, 'The organization culture perspective', Chicago, IL: Dorsey Press.
- Oyserman, D.: 2001, 'Values: Psychological perspectives', International Encyclopedia of the Social & Behavioural Sciences, 16150-16153.
- Palazzo, B.: 2002, 'U.S.-American and German business ethics: An intercultural comparison', Journal of Business Ethics, Vol. 41, pp. 195-216.

- Paloviita, A.: 2004, 'Matrix Sustainability: Applying Input-Output Analysis to Environmental and Economic Sustainability Indicators. Case: Finnish Forest Sector', Academic dissertation, Jyväskylä: University of Jyväskylä.
- Panapanaan, V. M.: 2006, 'Exploration of the social dimension of corporate responsibility in a welfare state', Academic dissertation, Lappeenranta University of Technology.
- --- , L. Linnanen, M. M., Karvonen, and V. T. Phan: 2003, 'Roadmapping Corporate Social Responsibility in Finnish companies', Journal of Business Ethics 44(2–3), 133–148.
- ---, L. Linnanen, M. M. Karvonen, V. T. Phan: 2001, 'Roadmapping Corporate Social Responsibility in Finnish Companies', Helsinki University of Technology Lahti Center, The Publication Series of the Institute for Regional Economics and Business Strategy, Lahti, Finland.
- Parashar, S., S. Dhar, and U. Dhar: 2004, 'Perception of values: a study of future professionals', Journal of Human Values, 10 (2), 143–52.
- Panwar, R., T. Rinne, E. Hansen, H. Juslin: 2006, 'Corporate Responsibility: Balancing economics, environmental, and social issues in the forest products industry', Forest Products Journal 56(2), 4-12.
- Parent, M., and D. Deephouse: 2007, 'A case study of stakeholder identification and prioritization by managers', Journal of Business ethics 75(1), 1-23.
- Paul, K., L. M. Zalka, M. Downes, S. Perry, and S. Friday: 1997, 'U.S. consumer sensitivity to corporate social performance: development of a scale', Business and Society 36(4), 408–418.
- Pepper, S. C.: 1958, 'The Sources of Value', Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Perrini F.: 2005, 'Building a European portrait of Corporate Social Responsibility reporting', European Management Journal, 23(6), 611-627.
- Pettit, P.: 2005, 'Responsibility Incorporated', Paper presented at the Kadish Center for Morality, Law and Public Affairs, Workshop in Law, Philosophy and Political Theory, March 23, 2005.
- Phillips, R.: 1997, 'Stakeholder Theory and a Principle of Fairness', Business Ethics Quarterly 7, 51–67.
- --- 2003: 'Stakeholder theory and organizational ethics', San Francisco, CA: Berrettkoehler.
- --- & J. Reichart: 2000, 'The Environment as a Stakeholder? A Fairness-Based Approach', Journal of Business Ethics 23 (2), 185–197.
- Pirsch, J., S. Gupta, and S. L. Grau: 2007, 'A Framework for Understanding Corporate Social Responsibility Programs as a Continuum: An Exploratory Study', Journal of Business Ethics 70(2), 125-140.
- Post, J. E., L. E. Preston, and S. Sachs: 2002, 'Redefining the Corporation, Stakeholder Management and Organizational Wealth', Stanford, CT: Stanford University Press. Post, F. R.: 2003, 'A response to the social responsibility of corporate management: a classical critique', Mid-American Journal of Business 18(1), 25–35.
- Post, F. R.: 2003, 'A Response to the Social Responsibility of Corporate Management: A Classical Critique', Mid-American Journal of Business 18(1), 25–35.
- Piner, K. E. and L. R. Kahle: 1984, 'Adapting to the stigmatizing label of mental illness: foregone but not Forgotten', Journal of Personality and Social Psychology 47, 805–811.
- Posner, B. Z. and W. H. Schmidt: 1987, 'Ethics in American companies: a managerial perspective', Journal of Business Ethics 5, 383–391.

- --- 1996, 'The values of business and federal government executives: more different than alike', Public Personnel Management 25(3), 277-289.
- Postman, L., J. S. Bruner and E. McGinnies: 1948, 'Personal values as selective factors in perception', Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology 43, 142–154.
- Prahalad, C.K. and, A. Hammond: 2002, 'Serving the world's poor, profitably', Harvard Business Review 80(9), 48-58.
- Prior, W.: 1991, 'From virtue and knowledge: An introduction to ancient Greek ethics', New York routledge, Kegan Paul.
- Puohiniemi, M.: 1995, 'Values, consumer attitudes and behaviour an application of Schwartz's value theory to the analysis of consumer behaviour and attitudes in two national samples', Research Reports, Vol.3/1995, Department of Social Psychology, University of Helsinki.
- Putten, F. P. V. D.: 2005, 'A research agenda for international Corporate Social Responsibility', NRG Working Series no. 05-09.
- Pun, N.: 2003, 'The moral economy of capital: Transnational corporate codes of conduct and labour rights in China', presented at the Chinese university conference: Chinese trade unions and the labour movement in the market economy, October 23–25, 2003.
- Purser, R. E., C. Park, and A. Montuori: 1995, 'Limits to anthropocentrism: toward an ecocentric organization paradigm?' The Academy of Management Review, 20(4), 1053-89.
- Rao, P.: 2004, 'Greening production: A South East Asian experience', International Journal of Operations & Production Management 24(3), 289-320.
- --- & D. Holt: 2005, 'Do green supply chains lead to competitiveness and economic performance?' International Journal of Operations & Production Management 25(9), 898-916.
- Rashid, M. Z. A. and S. Ibrahim: 2002, 'Executive and management attitudes towards Corporate Social Responsibility', Corporate Governance 2(4), 10–16.
- Raufflet, E.: 2005, 'Beyond cash: A brief account of Corporate Social Responsibility in South Africa', in Bird et al. (eds.), International Business and the Dilemmas of Development, chapter. 2.
- Ravlin, E. C.: 1995, 'The Blackwell encyclopedic dictionary of organizational behaviour', Values, in N. Nicholson (Ed.), Oxford, England: Blackwell Publishers.
- Ralston, D. A., D. H. Holt, R. H. Terpestra, K. C. Yu: 1997, 'The impact of national culture and economic ideology on managerial work values : a study of the United States, Russia, Japan and China', Journal of International Business Studies 28(1), 177-207.
- Reynolds, S. J., F. C. Schultz, and D. R. Hekman: 2006, 'Stakeholder theory and managerial decision-making: constraints and implications of balancing stakeholder Interests', Journal of Business Ethics VOL 64, 285-301.
- Reynolds, M. and K. Yuthas: 2008, 'Moral discourse and Corporate Social Responsibility reporting', Journal of Business Ethics, 78 (1-2), 47-64
- Rezsohazy, R.: 2001, 'Sociology of values in international encyclopedia of the social and behavioural sciences', Vol. 24 Neil, J.S and paul, B.B(eds), Amsterdam: Elsevier.
- Rhenman, E.: 1964, 'Företagsdemokrati och företagsorganisation', Stockholm: Norstedts.

- Rintanen, S.: 2005, 'The establishment and development directions of corporate environmental management. Case studies in Finnish and Italian meat processing sector', Academic dissertation, Turku School of Economic and Business Administration.
- Riordan, C. M., R. D. Gatewood, J. B. Bill: 1997, 'Corporate image: employee reactions and implications for managing Corporate Social Performance', Journal of Business Ethics 16, 401–412.
- Riordan, L. O., and J. Fairbras: 2008, 'Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR): Models and theories in stakeholder dialogue', Journal of Business Ethics 83(4), 745-758.
- Rohweder, L.: 2004, 'Yritysvastuu kestävää kehitystä organisaatiotasolla (Corporate Responsibility Sustainable Development on the Organizational Level)', WSOY, Helsinki, Finland.
- Rokeach, M.: 1973, 'The nature of human values', Free Press: New York, NY, USA; p.5.
- Roozen, I., P. D. Pelsmacker, and F. Bostyn: 2001, 'The ethical dimensions of decision processes of employees', Journal of Business ethics 33(2), 87-99.
- Roberts, S.: 2003, 'Supply chain specific? Understanding the patchy success of ethical sourcing initiatives', Journal of Business Ethics 44(2/3), 159-170.
- Roloff, J.: 2008, 'Learning from Multi-Stakeholder Networks: Issue-Focussed stakeholder Management', Journal of Business Ethics, Vol. 72, 233-250.
- Rosalind, H.: 2003, 'Virtue Ethics', The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy, at http://plato.stanford.edu/archives/win2010/entries/ethics-virtue/.
- Ruf, B. M., K. Muralidhar, R. M. Brown, J. J. Janney, and K. Paul: 2001, 'An empirical investigation of the relationship between change in corporate social performance and financial performance: a stakeholder theory perspective', Journal of Business Ethics 32(2), 143–156.
- Ruegger, D. and E. W. King: 1992, 'A study of the effect of age and gender upon student business ethics', Journal of Business Ethics 11(3), 179–186.
- Sankaran, S., and T. Bui: 2003, 'Ethical attitudes among accounting majors: An empirical study', Journal of American Academy of Business, 3, 71-77.
- Salopek, J.: 2002, 'Do the Right Thing', Academic Search Premier, 55(7).
- Savage, G. T., T. H. Nix, C. J. Whitehead, and J. D. Blair: 1991, 'Strategies for assessing and managing organizational stakeholders', Academy of Management Executive 5, 61-75.
- Schein, E. H.: 1985, 'Organizational Culture and Leadership', 3rd Ed., Jossey-Bass.
- Scholtens, B., and D. Lammertjan: 2007, 'Cultural values and international differences in business ethics', Journal of Business ethics 75(3), 273-284.
- Schultz, P. W., and L. Zelezny: 1999, 'Values as predictors of environmental attitudes: evidence for consistency across 14 countries', Journal of Environmental Psychology 19(3), 255-265.
- Schwartz, S. H.: 1992, 'Universals in the content and structure of values: theoretical advances and empirical tests in 20 countries', Advances in Experimental Social Psychology 25, 1–65.
- --- & W. Bilsky: 1990, 'Toward a theory of the universal content and structure of values: Extensions and cross cultural replications', Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 58, 878-891.

- --- 1994, 'Are there universal aspects in the structure and contents of human values?' Journal of Social Issues 50(4), 19–45.
- --- 1999, 'A theory of cultural values and some implications for work', Applied Psychology: An International Review 48(1), 23–47.
- --- & A. Bardi: 2001, 'Value hierarchies across cultures-taking a similarities perspective', Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology 32(3), 268–290.
- Scholtens, B., and D. Lammertjan: 2007, 'Cultural values and international differences in business ethics', Journal of Business Ethics 75(3), 273-284.
- Schultz, M., Y. Antorini, and F. Csaba: 2005, 'Towards the Second Wave of Corporate Branding: Corporate Branding Purpose/People/Process', Copenhagen Business School, Copenhagen.
- Selznick, P.: 1957, 'Leadership in Administration', Harper & Row Publishers, New York, NY.
- Shafer, W. E, G. M. Lee, and K. Fukukawa: 2007, 'Values and the perceived importance of ethics and Social Responsibility: The U.S. versus China', Journal of Business Ethics 70(3), 265–284.
- Sheldon, O.: 1924, 'The Philosophy of Management', Sir Isaac Pitman and Sons Ltd: London, England; 70–99.
- Sheng, C.L.: 1998, 'A utilitarian general theory of value', Rodopi, Amsterdam Atlanta, GA.
- Sethi, S. P.: 1975, 'Dimensions of Corporate Social Performance: An analytic framework', California Management Review 17. 58-64.
- Shafer, W. E., G. M. Lee, and K. Fukukawa: 2007, 'Values and the perceived importance of ethics and Social Responsibility: The U.S. versus China', Journal of Business Ethics, 70(3), 265–284.
- Siltaoja M. E.: 2006, 'Value priorities as combining core factors between CSR and reputation A qualitative study', Journal of Business Ethics 68(1): 91–111.
- --- 2010, 'Discarding the mirror: the importance of intangible social resources to responsibility in business in a Finnish context', Academic dissertation, University of Jyväskylä.
- Simon, H. A.: 1945, 'Administrative behaviour', New York: Free Press.
- Simon, S., L., Howe, and H. Kirschenbaum: 1978, 'Values clarification: a handbook of practical strategies for teachers and students', (A & W Visual Library, New York.
- Sirgy, M. J.: 2002, 'Measuring corporate performance by building on the stakeholders model of business ethics', Journal of Business Ethics 35(3), 143-162.
- Singhapakdi, A., & S. J. Vitell: 1993, 'Personal and professional values underlying the ethical judgements of marketers', Journal of Business Ethics 12(7), 525–533.
- --- , S. J. Vitell and G. R. Franke: 1999, 'Antecedents, consequences, and mediating effects of perceived moral intensity and personal moral philosophies', The Journal of Academy of Marketing Science 27(1), 19–35.
- --- , L. K. Kenneth, S. J. Vitell, and K. C. Rallapalli: 1995, 'The perceived importance of ethics and social responsibility on organizational effectiveness: A survey of marketers," Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science, 23(1), 49-56.
- Siu, N. Y. M., and K. C. J. Lam: 2009, 'A comparative study of ethical perceptions of managers and non-managers', Journal of Business Ethics 88(1), 167-183.

- Slote, M.: 2001, 'Morals from Motives', Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- --- 1992, 'From Morality to Virtue', New York: OUP.
- Smith, N.C.: 2003, 'Corporate Social Responsibility: Whether or How?' California Management Review, 45(4), 52-76.
- Smith, A., and E. C. Hume: 2005, "Linking culture and ethics: a comparison of accountants' ethical belief systems in the individualism/collectivism and power distance contexts", Journal of Business Ethics 62(3), 209–220.
- Snell, K.: 2007, 'Social Responsibility in developing new biotechnology: interpretations of responsibility in the governance of Finnish biotechnology', Academic dissertation, University of Helsinki.
- Sobczak, A.: 2006, 'Are codes of conduct in global supply chains really voluntary? From soft law regulation of labour relations to consumer law', Business Ethics Quarterly, 16, 167-184.
- Sommers, C., and F. Sommers: 1993, 'Vice and virtue in everyday life', Harcourt, Fort Worth, TX.
- Sonnenfeld, J.: 1981, 'Executive apologies for price fixing: role biased perceptions of causality', Academy of Management Journal 24(1), 192-198.
- Sproull, L. S.: 1981, 'Beliefs in organizations', in P. C. Nystrom and W. H. Starbuck (eds.), Handbook of Organizational Design, Vol, 2, Oxford University Press, New York, 203-224.
- The Stanford Research Institute: 1963, the first definition of Stakeholder, in an internal memorandum. Cited in Freeman and Reed, 1983.
- Starik, M.: 1993, 'Is the environment an organizational stakeholder? Naturally!' In J. Pasquero & D. Collins (Eds.), Proceedings of the Fourth Annual Meeting of the International Association for Business and Society: 466-471. San Diego.
- Steenhaut, S., and P. V. Kenhove: 2007, 'The Mediating Role of Anticipated Guit in Consumers' Ethical Decision-making', Journal of Business Ethics 69(3), 269-288.
- Steenkamp, JB. E. M., and F. T. Hofstede: 2002, 'International market segmentation: issues and perspectives', International Journal of Research in Marketing 19(3), 185-213.
- --- , F. T. Hofstede, and M. Wedel. 1999, 'A cross-national investigation into the individual and national cultural antecedents of consumer innovativeness', Journal of Marketing 63(2), 55-69.
- --- , and Baumgartner, H.: 1998, 'Assessing measurement invariance in cross-national consumer research', Journal of consumer research 25 (June), 78-90.
- Steiner, G. A.: 1971, 'Business and society', Random House, New York.
- Stern, P. C. and T. Dietz: 1994, 'The value basis of environmental Concern', Journal of Social Issues 50(3), 65–84.
- ---, T. Dietz, L. Kalof, and G. A. Guagnano: 1995, 'Values, beliefs, and proenvironmental action: attitude formation toward emergent attitude objects', Journal of Applied Social Psychology 26(18), 1611–1636.
- Suchman, M. C.: 1995, 'Managing Legitimacy: Strategic and Institutional Approaches', Academy of Management Review, 20(3), 571-611.
- Swanson, D. L.: 1995, 'Addressing a Theoretical Problem by Reorienting the Corporate Social Performance Model', Academy of Management Review 20(1), 43–64.
- Swanton, C.: 2003, 'Virtue Ethics: A Pluralistic View', Oxford: Oxford University Press.

- Swift, T. A.: 2001, 'Trust, reputation and corporate accountability to stakeholders', Business Ethics: A European Review 10, 16-26.
- Takala, T.: 1991, 'Managerial beliefs concerning social responsibility of the firm', Academic Dissertation, University of Jyväskylä.
- Terpstra, D. E., E. J. Rozell, and R. K. Robinson: 1993, 'The influence of personality and demographic variables on ethical decisions related to insider trading', The Journal of Psychology 127(4), 375–389.
- Trevino, L. K., K. D. Butterfield and D. L. McCabe: 1998, 'The ethical context in organizations: influences on employee attitudes and behaviours', Business Ethics Quarterly 8(3), 447–476.
- Thomas, W.I. and F., Znaniecki: 1918, 'The Polish peasant in Europe and America Boston', MA: Badger.
- Thomson, I. and J. Bebbington: 2005, "Social and environmental reporting in the UK: a pedagogical evaluation', Critical Perspectives on Accounting 16(5), 507-533.
- Tian, H.: 2006, 'Corporate Social Responsibility and advancing mechanism', Economy & Management Publishing House, Beijing, 5–30 (in Chinese).
- Triandis, H. C.: 1989, 'The self and social behaviour in differing cultural contexts', Psychological Review 96(3), 506-520.
- Thompson, J. K., S. L. Wartick, and H. L. Smith: 1991, 'Integrating corporate social performance and stakeholder management: Implications for a research agenda in small business', Research in Corporate Social Performance and Policy 12, 207-230.
- Tse, A. C. B. and A. K. M. Au: 1997, 'Are New Zealand business students more unethical than non-business students?' Journal of Business Ethics 16(4), 445–450.
- Thomson, D. S. and S. A. Austin, H. Devine-Wright, and G. R. Mills: 2003, 'Managing value and quality in design', Building Research & Information 31(5), 334–345.
- Törnroos, L.: 2005, 'Corporate environmental reporting suggestions for an incremental and standardised framework applicable to a variety of companies especially small and medium-sized enterprises', Academic dissertation, Aalto University.
- Uimonen, M. L.: 2006, 'Suomalaisten yritysten vapaaehtoinen sosiaalinen vastuu: sidosryhmäviitekekehys yritysten ja ulkoisten sidosryhmien edustajien näkemyksissä', Academic dissertation, University of Helsinki.
- Ullmann, A.: 1985, 'Data in Search of a Theory: A Critical Examination of the Relationship among Social Performance, Social Disclosure and Economic Performance', Academy of Management Review 10, 450–477.
- Unerman, J. and M. Bennett: 2004, 'Increased stakeholder dialogue and the internet: towards greater corporate accountability or reinforcing capitalist hegemony?' Accounting, Organizations and Society 29(7), 685-707.
- Valkenburg, P. M., and J. Cantor: 2001, 'The development of a child into a consumer', Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology, 22, 61-72.
- VanSandt, C. V.: 2003, 'The relationship between ethical work climate and moral awareness', Business & Society 42(1), 144-152.
- Vihervaara, P.: 2010, 'Impact of the globalizing forest industry on ecosystem services: corporate responsibility and the sustainable management of coupled humanenvironment systems', University of Turku.

- Visser, W.: 2005, 'Revisiting Carroll's CSR pyramid: An African perspective', In M. Huniche & E. R. Pedersen, Corporate Citizenship in Developing Countries: New Partnership Perspectives. Copenhagen Business School Press, 29-56.
- --- , D. Matten, M. Pohl and N. Tolhurst (eds.): 2007, 'The A to Z of Corporate Social Responsibility: a complete reference guide to concepts, codes and organisations', London, Wiley.
- Vugteveen, H., J. R. Lenders, Jeroen L. A. Devilee, Rob S. E. W. Leuven, Rob J. H. M. van der Veeren, Mark A. Wiering, A. Jan Hendriks: 2010, 'Stakeholder value orientations in water management', Society and Natural Resources 23(9), 805-821.
- Waldman, D., D. Siegel, and M. Javidan: 2004, 'CEO transformational leadership and corporate social responsibility', Rensselaer Working Papers in Economics with number 0415, Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute.
- Waldman, D. A., De. L. M. Sully, N. Washburn, and R. J. House: 2006, 'Cultural and Leadership predictors of corporate social responsibility values of top management: a globe study of 15 countries', Journal of International Business Studies 37, 823–37.
- Walton, C.: 1967, 'Corporate Social Responsibilities', Wadsworth: Belmont, CA, USA.
- Walsh, J. P., K. Weber, and J. D. Margolis: 2003, 'Social issues and management: Our lost cause found', Journal of Management 29(6), 859-881.
- Wartick, S. L., and P. L. Cochran: 1985, 'The evolution of the corporate social performance model', Academy of Management Review 10(4), 758–769.
- Waxenberger, B. and L. Spence: 2003, 'Reinterpretation of a Metaphor: From Stakes to Claims', Strategic Change 12, 239–249.
- Welford, R.: 2004, 'Corporate Social Responsibility in Europe and Asia: Critical elements and best practice', Journal of Corporate Citizenship, Issue 13, 31-47.
- --- 2005, 'Corporate Social Responsibility in Europe, North America and Asia: 2004 survey results', The Journal of Corporate Citizenship 17(Jan), 33–52.
- Wells, W. R. and E. McDowell: 2001, 'Cultural Competence and Sensitivity: Getting it Right', Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Clinics of North America 10(4), 679–692.
- Whitcomb, L. L., C. B. Erdener, and C. Li: 1998, 'Business ethical values in China and the U.S', Journal of Business Ethics 17(8): 839–852.
- Whitehouse, L.: 2006, 'Corporate Social Responsibility: Views from the Frontline', Journal of Business Ethics 63(3), 279-296.
- Wicks, A. C., D. R. Jr. Gilbert, and R. E. Freeman: 1994, 'A feminist reinterpretation of the stake-holder concept', Business Ethics Quarterly, 4(4), 475-497.
- Windsor, D.: 2001, 'The Future of Corporate Social Responsibility', International Journal of Organizational Analysis 9(3), 225–256.
- Wijnberg, N. M.: 2000, 'normative stakeholder theory and Aristotle: the link between ethics and politics', Journal of Business Ethics 25(4), 329–342.
- Williams, R. M. Jr.: 1968, "The Concept of values", in D. L. Sills (ed.), International Encyclopaedia of Social Sciences, 16, 283–287.
- --- 1979, 'Change and stability in values and value systems: a sociological perspective', in M. Rokeach (ed.), Understanding Human Values, The Free Press, New York, NY.
- Wimalasiri, J. S., F. Pavri, and A. A. K. Jalil: 1996, 'An empirical study of moral reasoning among managers in Singapore', Journal of Business Ethics 15(12), 1331–1341.

- Wolfe, R. A. and D. S. Putler: 2002, 'How Tight are the Ties that Bind Stakeholder Groups?' Organizational Science 13(1), 64–82.
- Wong, Y. Y., T. E. Maher, N. A. Evans and J. D. Nicholson: 1998, 'Neo-Confucianism: the bane of foreign firms in China', Management Research News 21(1), 13–22.
- Wong, A., F. Long, S. Elankumaran: 2009, 'Business students' perception of Corporate Social Responsibility: The United States, China, and India', Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management, first published online 23 November 2009.
- Woodbine, G. F.: 2008, 'Moral choice and the concept of motivational typologies: an extended stakeholder perspective in a western context', Journal of Business Ethics 79(1), 29-42.
- --- 2004, 'Moral choice and the declining influence of traditional value orientations within the financial sector of a rapidly developing region of the People's Republic of China', Journal of Business Ethics 55(1), 43–60.
- Wood, D. J.: 1991, 'Corporate social performance revisited', Academy of Management Review 16(4), 691–718.
- World Commission on Environment and Development: 1987, 'Our Common Future', Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Wright, D.: 1971, 'The psychology of moral behaviour', Penguin, Harmondsworth, U.K.
- Zhou, W. D.: 2006, 'Will CSR work in China?' Leading Perspectives, CSR in the People's Republic of China, Summer 2006, BSR.
- Yamagishi, T, N. Hayashi, and N. Jin: 1994, 'Prisoner's dilemma networks: selection strategy versus action strategy' In Social Dilemmas and Cooperation, ed. U. Schulz, W. Albers, U. Mueller, New York: Springer-Verlag. 233-50.